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 Appeal from the United States District Court for 
the District of Oregon, John V. Acosta, Magistrate 
Judge, Presiding, D.C. No. 3:07-cv-00413-AC 

 Before: Richard A. Paez and Jacqueline H. Ngu-
yen, Circuit Judges, and John R. Tunheim,* District 
Judge. 

 *The Honorable John R. Tunheim, United States 
District Judge for the District of Minnesota, sitting by 
designation. 

OPINION 

NGUYEN, Circuit Judge: 

More than thirty years ago, Oregon Department of 
Corrections Director Michael Francke was murdered 
in front of his office building. Investigators followed a 
tangled web of leads for over a year before a tip led 
them to Frank Gable, who was charged and convicted 
of the murder, and sentenced to life imprisonment 
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without the possibility of parole. Because no physical 
evidence was found, the State's case rested exclusive-
ly on witness testimony. Gable has steadfastly main-
tained his innocence. 

The facts on appeal are extraordinary.1 Since trial, 
nearly all the witnesses who directly implicated Ga-
ble have recanted. Many explain they intended to 
frame Gable after hearing he was a police informant. 
They attribute their false testimony to significant in-
vestigative misconduct, which the State—
remarkably—does not dispute. As Gable’s expert ex-
plained, the investigators used widely discredited 
polygraph and interrogation techniques as a “psycho-
logical club” to elicit the statements against Gable. 
The prosecution then built their entire case on that 
tainted foundation. The State’s error was compound-
ed by the trial court's refusal to allow evidence that 
another man, John Crouse, had confessed multiple 
times to the murder. Crouse's confession was particu-
larly compelling because he gave details of the crime 
that were not publicly known. 

After exhausting his state court appeals, Gable 
filed a federal habeas petition asserting various 
claims, including constitutional violations based on 
the trial court's exclusion of Crouse's confession. Ga-
ble's constitutional claims are procedurally defaulted 

 
1 The case has generated wide public interest, particularly in 
Oregon, and was the subject of at least one “unsolved murder”-
style podcast. For decades, alternate theories about the case 
have proliferated, fueled by the underlying belief by many who 
closely follow the case, including the victim's own brothers, that 
someone else killed Francke. There is less agreement on who or 
why. 
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because he failed to raise them in state court as re-
quired. Thus, we cannot consider the merits of these 
claims unless the Schlup v. Delo “actual innocence” 
exception to procedural default applies. 513 U.S. 298, 
115 S.Ct. 851, 130 L.Ed.2d 808 (1995). Under Schlup, 
Gable need not prove that he is “actually innocent.” 
Instead, we examine Gable's new evidence against 
the entire record and determine whether it is more 
likely than not that no reasonable juror would find 
him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. If the answer 
is yes, then Schlup opens a procedural gateway 
through which Gable passes to have his constitutional 
claims heard on the merits. 

Below, the district court excused Gable's proce-
dural default under Schlup and, on the merits, found 
that the state trial court violated Gable's due process 
rights by excluding evidence of third-party guilt un-
der Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 
1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973). The district court grant-
ed Gable's petition and vacated his conviction. We 
agree with the district court's evaluation of the rec-
ord, which is dramatically different than the one pre-
sented to the jury. What we now know, and the jury 
did not, is that the testimony of the State's main wit-
nesses was irreversibly tainted by coercive investiga-
tive techniques, and that another man gave compel-
ling confessions on multiple occasions. On the merits, 
we hold that Gable's due process rights were violated 
by the exclusion of Crouse's confession. We affirm. 
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I.  Factual Background 

A.  The Murder of Michael Francke 

On January 17, 1989, Oregon Department of Cor-
rections Director Michael Francke was stabbed to 
death on the Oregon State Hospital (“OSH”) grounds 
in Salem, Oregon. Francke was last seen alive around 
6:45 p.m. near his office inside the Dome Building. 
Between 7:05 and 7:20 p.m., several people saw 
Francke's car door standing ajar in the front parking 
circle. A security guard found his body at 12:40 a.m. 
outside the north portico of the building, where 
Francke died from a stab wound to the heart. 

The murder weapon was never found, and the police 
had no other physical evidence tied to any suspect. In 
the fall of 1989, investigators received a tip that a lo-
cal man named Frank Gable was involved, and Gable 
was charged with Francke's murder in April 1990. 

B. The State's Trial Evidence 

Gable's four-month jury trial began in March 
1991. The State of Oregon's theory was that around 
7:00 p.m. on the night of the murder, Francke was 
leaving work when he caught Gable trying to steal 
“snitch papers” out of his car. Gable stabbed Francke 
three times and fled on foot before driving away. 
Meanwhile, Francke stumbled back to the north por-
tico where he bled out. The State suggested Francke 
died fifteen or twenty minutes after the stabbing—by 
7:15 or 7:20 p.m.—when co-workers saw his car door 
open but could not find him. 

The prosecution relied solely on witness testimo-
ny. Wayne Hunsaker, a custodian at OSH, told the 
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police that, around 7:00 p.m., he saw two men in 
what appeared to be an altercation, but he could not 
identify either one. Hunsaker heard a grunt, “like 
somebody had their breath knocked out,” and saw two 
men facing each other in the parking circle in front of 
the Dome Building. One man matching Francke's de-
scription headed briskly towards the building, while 
the other man—six feet tall, 175 pounds, aged 20–40, 
short brown or black hair, wearing a tan trench 
coat—ran west down the driveway, across 23rd Street, 
and behind a generator at the hospital. Hunsaker 
saw no other people or cars. In January 1989, a local 
newspaper published a map of Hunsaker's account 
and the crime scene: 

 

All the witnesses who incriminated Gable knew 
him through Salem's underground drug scene—Gable 
was a methamphetamine user and dealer with a 
criminal record, as were most of the State's witnesses. 
The only direct eyewitness against Gable was Cappie 
“Shorty” Harden, who testified that he saw Gable 
stab Francke when Harden was at the Dome Building 
picking up his girlfriend, Jodie Swearingen. Five oth-
er witnesses claimed Gable incriminated himself. 
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Earl Childers testified he saw Gable driving near the 
murder scene, and that Gable admitted to stabbing 
Francke while they were doing methamphetamine. 
Mark Gesner testified that Gable asked him to dis-
pose of a bag of clothes the night of the murder. John 
Kevin Walker claimed Gable confessed the next day 
during a drug sale, and Daniel Walsh said Gable con-
fessed while high a few months later. Linda Perkins 
told the jury that the morning after Francke's death, 
Gable admitted that he “fucked up big time” and they 
would “read[] about it in the papers.” Gable’s then-
wife, Janyne Vierra Gable (“Janyne”), testified that 
she was home alone with her daughter the night of 
Francke's murder while Gable stayed out with the 
car. 

Law enforcement officers testified as to what Ga-
ble said during numerous police interviews. Gable 
consistently denied killing Francke or knowing who 
did. But Gable admitted he may have speculated 
about the high-profile case to his friends, and that he 
frequently wore a tan trench coat, which matched the 
coat worn by the man Hunsaker saw running. 

In one interview, Gable said: “[m]y mind keeps 
saying you did it, you did it, you did it, and all of the 
time I know I didn't.” In another confusing exchange, 
Gable said there were “only two people who know who 
killed Francke, Francke and God.” The detective not-
ed that Francke could not know because he was dead, 
and Gable looked puzzled and responded: “Well, there 
are only two people who know Francke—yeah, me 
and God.” He then added: “I'm going to go to the end 
of the trial saying I didn't do this.... I'll go to heaven 
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saying it and all those mother fuckers will go to hell 
for lying.” 

Gable had no alibi. Gable’s police interviews did 
not begin in earnest until September 1989—eight 
months after Francke's death—by which time he 
claimed that his memory of dates was fuzzy from 
heavy drug use. Gable was never certain of his 
whereabouts that night, but he believed he was home 
with his wife hosting a party. When pressed for an-
other alibi, Gable said he could have been out with a 
friend doing or selling drugs. 

At trial, Gable tried to present evidence that John 
Crouse confessed to murdering Francke, but the court 
excluded it under state evidence rules.2 Gable pre-
sented testimony from Jodie Swearingen, Harden's 
teenaged girlfriend. Swearingen refuted Harden's tes-
timony that they saw Gable stab Francke. When the 
State impeached Swearingen with her grand jury tes-
timony, which had corroborated Harden's story, she 
claimed the police pressured her to lie to the grand 
jury. Gable also called his landlady at the time, who 
testified that the Gables hosted a loud party on the 
night of Francke's death, and she had served them an 
eviction notice the day after because of it. Inexplica-
bly, Gable's counsel did not use this evidence to chal-
lenge Janyne's claim that she was home alone all 
night with her daughter. 

Finally, Gable tried to undermine the State’s case 
by suggesting the crime scene was compromised and 

 
2 The defense also planned to present evidence of another sus-
pect, Tim Natividad, who died before trial. Only Crouse is at is-
sue in this appeal. 
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evidence was lost. Gable’s counsel questioned officers 
about coercion, attacked the State's timeline, and 
tried to impeach the State's witnesses as criminals, 
drug dealers, and addicts. 

On June 27, 1991, the jury found Gable guilty on 
six counts of aggravated murder and one count of 
murder. The court sentenced Gable to life imprison-
ment without the possibility of parole. 

C. Post-Conviction Proceedings 

The Oregon Court of Appeals affirmed his convic-
tions on direct appeal. State v. Gable, 127 Or.App. 
320, 873 P.2d 351 (Or. Ct. App. 1994). Gable's appeals 
moved up and down the state appellate courts until 
they were exhausted in 2013. Gable v. State, 353 Or. 
750, 305 P.3d 85 (Or. 2013), cert. denied, 571 U.S. 
1030, 134 S.Ct. 651, 187 L.Ed.2d 430 (2013).3 Gable 
did not raise the federal constitutional claims that we 
address here. 

In March 2014, Gable filed an amended federal 
habeas petition in the District of Oregon asserting 
twenty claims for relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2254. Nine-
teen of Gable's claims are procedurally defaulted be-
cause he failed to raise them in state proceedings. 
Gable argued, among other things, that default is ex-
cused for “actual innocence” under Schlup v. Delo. 

Gable offered new evidence of witness recanta-
tions, expert testimony, and third-party guilt. At ar-

 
3 See State v. Gable, 877 P.2d 1202 (Or. 1994); Gable v. State, 
203 Or.App. 710, 126 P.3d 739 (Or. Ct. App. 2006); Gables v. 
State, 140 P.3d 1133 (Or. 2006); Gable v. State, 256 P.3d 1099 
(Or. Ct. App. 2011). 
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guments in November 2016, the parties agreed the 
district court could assess Gable's Schlup evidence on 
the written record without an evidentiary hearing. In 
April 2019, after reviewing thousands of pages of evi-
dence, the district court excused Gable's procedural 
default under Schlup. On the merits, the district 
court granted the petition on two claims, including a 
violation of Gable's due process rights by excluding 
evidence of another man's guilt. Gable's petition was 
denied on all other grounds. 

The district court ordered Gable released from 
custody unless the State retried him within 90 days, 
but in June 2019, the court stayed the deadline pend-
ing appeal. The State appeals the district court's or-
der, and Gable cross-appeals the denial of relief on a 
separate claim of ineffective assistance of trial coun-
sel.4  

II. Standard of Review 

We have jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291. We 
review a district court's grant of a habeas petition de 
novo, and its factual findings and credibility determi-
nations for clear error. Jones v. Taylor, 763 F.3d 
1242, 1245 (9th Cir. 2014). We assess whether a peti-
tioner satisfies Schlup based on a de novo review of 
the whole record, see Stewart v. Cate, 757 F.3d 929, 
938–39 (9th Cir. 2014), making “a holistic judgment 
about all the evidence and its likely effect on reason-
able jurors applying the reasonable-doubt standard,” 
House v. Bell, 547 U.S. 518, 539–40, 126 S.Ct. 2064, 
165 L.Ed.2d 1 (2006) (cleaned up). 

 
4 Because we affirm on Gable's due process claim, we do not 
reach the remaining issues raised on appeal or the cross-appeal. 
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III.  Discussion 

A. The Schlup v. Delo Exception to Proce-
dural Default 

Gable concedes that his federal constitutional 
claims are procedurally defaulted because he failed to 
exhaust his state court remedies by presenting those 
claims to the state court. See Peterson v. Lampert, 319 
F.3d 1153, 1155–56 (9th Cir. 2003) (en banc). There-
fore, we may consider the merits of his claims only if 
he can show that his procedural default is excused by 
an exception—in this case, a showing of “actual inno-
cence” under Schlup v. Delo. 

A compelling claim of innocence opens the Schlup 
procedural “gateway through which a habeas peti-
tioner must pass to have his otherwise barred consti-
tutional claim considered on the merits.” 513 U.S. at 
315, 115 S.Ct. 851 (citing Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 
390, 404, 113 S.Ct. 853, 122 L.Ed.2d 203 (1993)). A 
petitioner must show that it is “more likely than not 
that no reasonable juror would have convicted him in 
the light of the new evidence.” Lee v. Lampert, 653 
F.3d 929, 938 (9th Cir. 2011) (en banc) (quoting 
Schlup, 513 U.S. at 327, 115 S.Ct. 851). To do so, he 
must offer “new reliable evidence—whether it be ex-
culpatory scientific evidence, trustworthy eyewitness 
accounts, or critical physical evidence—that was not 
presented at trial.” Id. (quoting Schlup, 513 U.S. at 
324, 115 S.Ct. 851). “New” evidence under Schlup 
does not actually have to be newly discovered. See 
Larsen v. Soto, 742 F.3d 1083, 1093–94 (9th Cir. 
2013). Rather, we assess any evidence that is “newly 
presented,” as in “not presented at trial.” See Sis-
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trunk v. Armenakis, 292 F.3d 669, 672 n.4 (9th Cir. 
2002) (en banc). We then consider “all the evidence, 
old and new, incriminating and exculpatory, admissi-
ble at trial or not.” Lee, 653 F.3d at 938 (citing House, 
547 U.S. at 538, 126 S.Ct. 2064) (internal quotations 
omitted). This includes evidence “alleged to have been 
illegally admitted (but with due regard to any unreli-
ability of it) and evidence tenably claimed to have 
been wrongly excluded or to have become available 
only after the trial.” Schlup, 513 U.S. at 328, 115 
S.Ct. 851 (internal citation and quotations omitted). 

Schlup is demanding, and cases satisfying it have 
“typically involved dramatic new evidence of inno-
cence.” Larsen, 742 F.3d at 1095–96. But while the 
evidence must “convincingly undermine the State's 
case” and our “confidence in [the] conviction,” a 
Schlup claim is “procedural, not substantive.” Id. at 
1096 (cleaned up). It “does not require absolute cer-
tainty about the petitioner's guilt or innocence.” Lee, 
653 F.3d at 938 (quoting House, 547 U.S. at 538, 126 
S.Ct. 2064) (internal citations omitted). 

The record in successful Schlup claims is rarely 
cut and dry. Witness recantations are generally 
viewed with suspicion, as they are “easy to find but 
difficult to confirm or refute[.]” Jones, 763 F.3d at 
1248 (internal citations omitted). To measure a re-
cantation's likely effect on a juror, we consider its 
context, the circumstances and timing of the recanta-
tion, the original testimony and evidence, and the 
credibility and testimony of other witnesses. See id.; 
Schlup, 513 U.S. at 332, 115 S. Ct. 851. 
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Evidence of third-party guilt can also satisfy 
Schlup if it is sufficiently reliable, supported by other 
evidence, and casts serious doubt on the petitioner's 
guilt. See, e.g., House, 547 U.S. at 540–41, 548–52, 
126 S. Ct. 2064. For example, we excused procedural 
default in Carriger v. Stewart, based on the petition-
er's evidence of a recanted third-party confession. 132 
F.3d 463, 465–66 (9th Cir. 1997) (en banc). The peti-
tioner's new evidence showed that the state's lead 
witness, Dunbar, framed him for crimes that Dunbar 
committed himself. Id. at 466–67. Then in a post-trial 
proceeding, Dunbar confessed to lying about the peti-
tioner after he was confronted with his documented 
history of framing others in his own crimes. Id. at 
465, 467, 470–72. Shortly thereafter, in yet another 
hearing, Dunbar recanted, and the state court denied 
the petitioner relief after finding Dunbar's trial tes-
timony more reliable. Id. at 472–73. 

On habeas review, we reversed. We concluded that 
although not unassailable, Dunbar's detailed confes-
sion was more consistent with the record than his tri-
al testimony or recantation. Id. Some direct evidence 
still pointed to the petitioner, id. at 466, 470, but 
Dunbar's confession raised enough doubt as to the pe-
titioner's guilt to meet Schlup’s demanding standard, 
id. at 478–79; see also Larsen, 742 F.3d at 1087–91, 
1096, 1098–99 (finding Schlup satisfied when post-
trial witnesses convincingly claimed they saw another 
man commit the crime, even though police officers 
testified at trial they believed they saw the petitioner 
do it). But see Smith v. Baldwin, 510 F.3d 1127, 
1145–46 (9th Cir. 2007) (en banc) (finding Schlup not 
met when the co-defendant confessed to being the sole 
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shooter in a home-invasion murder because there was 
still direct evidence that the petitioner was an accom-
plice). 

Ultimately, Schlup demands a holistic review of 
all the new evidence against the full record. See Lee, 
653 F.3d at 938. Our task is to make “a ‘probabilistic 
determination about what reasonable, properly in-
structed jurors would do.’” Id. (citing House, 547 U.S. 
at 538, 126 S. Ct. 2064). 

B. Gable's Evidence of “Actual Innocence” 
under Schlup 

Gable argues that his evidence—witness recanta-
tions and third-party guilt—is sufficient to pass 
through the Schlup gateway. We discuss each in turn. 

1. 

In the thirty years since trial, nearly all the wit-
nesses who incriminated Gable have recanted. These 
recantations must be viewed in the context of signifi-
cant—and uncontested—allegations of misconduct by 
the investigators who coerced the witnesses into mak-
ing false statements against Gable. 

Gable presented the opinion of David C. Raskin, 
Ph.D, an expert in experimental psychology and hu-
man psychophysiology who researches and trains law 
enforcement on polygraph techniques. Dr. Raskin ex-
plained how the “[t]he techniques used in this case 
suggest that the police were using polygraphs as a 
psychological club in order to elicit statements from 
witnesses.” All the recanting witnesses were pol-
ygraphed multiple times. During these sessions, the 
investigators confronted the witnesses with their 
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purported results in real-time, accused them of “lying 
when they were actually truthful by not giving the 
desired responses,” fed them information, and pol-
ygraphed them again until their stories were deemed 
“truthful.” The coercive effects of these procedures 
were exacerbated by “abusive and frightening” inter-
rogation techniques—threats of prosecution and pris-
on, threats concerning the witnesses' children and 
families, or promises of rewards. It bears repeating 
that the State does not dispute or attempt to defend 
the tactics used by the investigators in this case. 

Informant: Michael Keerins 

The focus on Gable began when Michael Keerins, 
who was being interviewed as a suspect in September 
1989, said that Gable had admitted to killing Francke 
during a botched car burglary. Shortly after the in-
terview, the media reported Keerins' story, identified 
Gable as the lead suspect, and revealed that Gable 
had worked as a local police informant. 

Keerins recanted on the eve of trial and did not 
testify. In a 2012 affidavit, Keerins explained that he 
had falsely accused Gable because he and his brother 
were suspects, and he had heard Gable was a snitch. 
Keerins claims he, Jodie Swearingen, and Cappie 
Harden set Gable up. 

Alleged Eyewitnesses: Harden and Swearingen 

Cappie Harden, the only eyewitness who testified 
that he saw Gable stab Francke, recanted in 2005 
and again in 2009. At trial, Harden testified he was 
outside the Dome Building picking up Swearingen 
when he saw Gable climb into Francke's car. When a 
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man matching Francke's description approached the 
car and yelled, Gable stabbed him once in the chest. 

In his recantations, Harden swore that his trial 
testimony was fabricated. Initially, in late 1989, 
Harden had truthfully told the police he was not a 
witness. But after he was repeatedly questioned, pol-
ygraphed, threatened, and told that Gable had in-
formed against him, Harden decided to frame Gable. 

Swearingen, as discussed above, recanted before 
trial and testified for Gable, but she was impeached 
with her grand jury testimony. In two 2010 affidavits, 
Swearingen reaffirmed that neither she nor Harden 
saw the crime, and she lied to the grand jury only af-
ter tremendous pressure by investigators. 
Swearingen was particularly vulnerable because she 
was at that time a teenage drug addict with a juve-
nile record. Yet the investigators polygraphed her 23 
times—the most polygraph tests that Dr. Raskin had 
ever seen given to one person—and interviewed her 
12 times. During these sessions, the investigators re-
peatedly threatened her with criminal repercussions 
until she accused Gable. Swearingen also justified in-
criminating Gable because she, like some of the other 
witnesses, believed Gable was a “rat.” In exchange for 
her grand jury testimony, Swearingen was given im-
munity. 

Alibi Witnesses: Janyne and Walker 

Two other recanting witnesses now give Gable a 
loose alibi. In 2010, after seeing a copy of their Janu-
ary 1989 eviction notice, Gable's former wife Janyne 
recalled that she and Gable hosted a group of friends 
the night of Francke’s murder, which included trial 
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witnesses John Kevin Walker and Mark Gesner. This 
directly contradicts her trial testimony that Gable 
was out all night. In 1993 and again in 2015, Walker 
admitted that he and Gesner were at the party with 
Gable at his home that night as well, recanting his 
trial testimony that he did not see Gable until the 
next day. 

Circumstantial Witnesses: Walker and Walsh 

Walker and Daniel Walsh, who both testified that 
Gable had confessed to them, have also since recant-
ed. Walker admitted in 1993 and 2015 that Gable did 
not confess, and that Keerins and Gesner had admit-
ted to him that they lied about Gable too. Similarly, 
Walsh recanted his testimony in 2011. Walsh testified 
at trial that Gable, while “strung” out on drugs, ad-
mitted he had stabbed Francke after he caught him 
“jockey-boxing” the car. Walsh now claims Gable nev-
er confessed. Walsh's recantation is supported by 
Sheryl Lowery, Walsh's partner at the time. She stat-
ed in a 2011 affidavit that after the trial, Walsh told 
her his trial testimony was false. 

Walker and Walsh describe similar experiences 
with the investigation. When they were first inter-
viewed by the police in September 1989, they both 
truthfully said they knew nothing about Francke's 
killing. But like Swearingen and Harden, both were 
pressured into accusing Gable after they were repeat-
edly polygraphed and challenged with their results. 
Walker was also threatened with criminal prosecu-
tion for Francke's murder and an unrelated weapon 
charge. He believed Gable snitched and got him and 
Gesner arrested in a drug raid, so they retaliated. 
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In urging us to dismiss these recantations as unre-
liable, the State ignores the significant impact the in-
vestigative misconduct likely had on its witnesses. As 
Dr. Raskin explains, the polygraph testing and inter-
rogation methods in this case “provided the means to 
shape” each witness' statement into false testimony 
about Gable. The State is of course correct that police 
misconduct and Gable’s guilt are not mutually exclu-
sive. But in Gable's case, nearly every witness now 
claims their testimony was false because of the police 
misconduct. We evaluate the recantations through 
this lens. Additionally, the witnesses’ recantations 
bear strong indicia of reliability such that their trial 
testimony is fatally undermined. 

Each witness had compelling motivations to re-
spond to police pressure. Nearly every recanting wit-
ness negotiated benefits in their own criminal cases 
in exchange for their statements against Gable, and 
several were warned that they were suspects. Given 
Swearingen's age, vulnerability, and juvenile record, 
it is more than plausible that she was coerced by the 
dozens of polygraph tests and threats. In contrast, 
none of the witnesses has an obvious reason to per-
jure themselves on Gable’s behalf now. See Larsen, 
742 F.3d at 1098 (noting that the state did not ex-
plain why a witness would risk criminal consequences 
by perjuring himself for the petitioner's benefit in a 
Schlup inquiry). 

Next is the timing. As of September 1989, no key 
witnesses had implicated Gable. But after Keerins' 
false story and the revelation that Gable was an in-
formant went public in October 1989, the witnesses 
were pressed into incriminating Gable as the lead 
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suspect. In contrast, the recantations occurred years 
apart: three were before trial, and the others came in 
1993, 2005, 2010, 2011, 2012, and 2015. 

The recantations also overlap in consistent ways. 
Swearingen and Harden were together that night, 
and each independently swears that they did not see 
Gable commit the crime. Walker has claimed since 
1993 that he, Keerins, and Gesner lied to frame Ga-
ble; Keerins now admits it, adding that he, 
Swearingen, and Harden “set up Gable.” Janyne and 
Walker verified that the Gables hosted a party the 
night of the murder that Gesner and Gable also at-
tended. 

Critically, Harden and Swearingen’s recantations 
align with the evidence much more than their prior 
statements. Hunsaker, the custodian who saw two 
men fighting and was the only neutral eyewitness, 
did not see anyone else at the scene. But according to 
Swearingen's grand jury testimony, she was standing 
in front of the building when Francke and Gable's al-
tercation began, and she ran past them, through the 
parking circle, to Harden's car in the driveway. Hard-
en then allegedly drove west down the same driveway 
Hunsaker saw the suspect run down on foot. Had 
Swearingen and Harden really been at the scene in 
front of the Dome Building, Hunsaker would have 
seen them. 

The State argues that even if we credit every re-
cantation, there is enough evidence remaining to con-
vict Gable. But without its key witnesses, the State's 
case against Gable is threadbare, at best. Nothing di-
rectly pinpoints Gable in the murder. Only three wit-
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nesses have not fully recanted their trial testimony, 
but they have been thoroughly impeached. Earl Chil-
ders, who testified that he saw Gable driving near the 
crime scene and that Gable confessed to him once 
while they were doing methamphetamine, is now un-
sure of either fact. Mark Gesner, who testified that 
Gable drove to his house on the night of Francke's 
murder and asked him to dispose of a bag of his 
clothes, has been impeached by Walker, who says 
Gesner told him he lied about Gable, and by Walker 
and Janyne, who both swear that Gesner was at Ga-
ble's house that night. 

That leaves only Linda Perkins, who testified that 
Gable admitted he did something bad the morning 
after the murder, but the other two people present 
during Gable's alleged admission deny her story. 
Randy Studer is one of them. Notably, Studer claims 
that like the others, he told the police the truth in the 
fall of 1989—that the conversation with Gable and 
Perkins did not happen. But after repeat polygraphs 
and threatening interrogations, he was pressured to 
falsely accuse Gable in his grand jury testimony. Stu-
der recanted before trial and did not testify, and to 
this day maintains that Perkins made up her story. 

The State relies on Jones v. Taylor, which is fac-
tually inapposite. To start, in Jones we assessed a 
freestanding claim of actual innocence, which re-
quires a petitioner to “affirmatively prove that he is 
probably innocent”—a much higher showing than 
Schlup. 763 F.3d at 1246–47 (internal citation omit-
ted). Further, the recantations in Jones were uncor-
roborated and suspiciously timed, id. at 1249, where-
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as the recantations here are corroborated and spaced 
apart. 

Gable's evidence is also markedly different from 
another case relied on by the State, Lee v. Lampert. 
In Lee, we found expert testimony questioning the re-
liability of a child assault victim's police interview in-
sufficient to satisfy Schlup because it did not negate 
the victim's unrepudiated trial testimony or state-
ments against the petitioner. 653 F.3d at 943–44. In 
contrast, here, each witness has recanted, and Dr. 
Raskin's unchallenged testimony explains how they 
were led astray. This is likewise a far cry from Sis-
trunk v. Armenakis, where new evidence was insuffi-
cient because it merely cast doubt on prosecution 
witnesses but did not undercut other separate evi-
dence against the petitioner. 292 F.3d at 676–77. Ga-
ble does much more here—he casts serious doubt on 
the entire foundation of the State's case. 

In short, no reasonable juror could ignore the 
heavy blow to the State’s evidence given the signifi-
cance of the recantations. The affidavits show how 
undisputed investigative misconduct paved the way 
for a string of criminal associates to turn on Gable to 
help themselves. The recantation evidence alone pre-
sents a compelling claim of “actual innocence” under 
Schlup, but Gable does not rely on that alone. 

2. 

The jury never learned that before Gable was a 
suspect, John Crouse had confessed to the crime sev-
eral times, over many months, revealing details that 
had not been made public. 
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A few weeks after the murder, in February 1989, 
Crouse told his parole officer—unprompted—that he 
had information about Francke's death. Initially, 
Crouse said he saw a group of men beating up anoth-
er man outside the Dome Building. Crouse then 
claimed a man named Juan paid him $300,000 to 
murder Francke. 

But his most detailed and compelling confession 
came in April 1989. According to Crouse, he was 
walking by the Dome Building on the night of Janu-
ary 17, 1989, when he decided to break into a car. 
Francke caught him in the act and tried to detain 
him. Resisting, Crouse hit Francke in the face and 
stabbed him before fleeing on foot. 

Critically, Crouse included key details that were 
consistent with the evidence but not yet public, like 
the number and type of wounds Francke suffered. He 
claimed he stabbed Francke three times: in the heart, 
arm, and torso. Although Francke was stabbed 
through the left bicep, and not the right forearm like 
Crouse said, Crouse accurately identified his other 
injuries: he said he slashed Francke's arms and 
hands, and hit Francke on the left side of his face and 
eyeglasses.5 Crouse also admitted he wore a tan jack-
et, which matches Hunsaker's description of the flee-
ing assailant's coat. Finally, Crouse said Francke 
cried out when Crouse stabbed him, so Crouse pulled 
back and ran away, which aligns with Hunsaker 
hearing a noise, seeing two men face each other, and 
then watching them separate. 

 
5 Francke had tears on his hand and forearm and bruising and 
an abrasion on his left eye and forehead. 
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Crouse repeated his confession three more times 
to family members in the police's presence. After his 
confession, Crouse asked to call his brother and 
agreed to have their conversation recorded. Crouse 
confessed again to his brother, stating that he might 
face the death penalty. Crouse then called his mother 
and confessed again. Finally, officers brought in 
Crouse's girlfriend, and he tearfully confessed to her 
too. 

Crouse recanted at least twice, first in April 1989 
before he retracted his recantation days later. In June 
1989, Crouse claimed he was involved in a high-level 
Oregon Department of Corrections conspiracy where 
state officials tried unsuccessfully to hire Crouse to 
kill Francke and prevent him from exposing their 
prison drug operation. Then in late November 1989, 
the State offered Crouse immunity from prosecution 
for “false statements” made to the police.6 Unsurpris-
ingly, Crouse took the out, claiming no knowledge of 
Francke's death and disavowing his prior confessions. 

The fact that Crouse “confessed without immunity 
and overwhelmingly against his own penal interest” 
is “a strong indicator of reliability.” Carriger, 132 
F.3d at 475. Crouse's “botched burglary” confession is 
far more consistent with the evidence than his recan-
tations.7 The State offers no explanation of how 
Crouse was able to reveal accurate details about 

 
6 By October 1989, the focus had shifted to Gable. 
7 Notably, the lead Department of Justice detective interviewing 
Crouse found his “car burglary” confession credible. The detec-
tive was later reassigned and was no longer on the case as the 
investigation focused on Gable. 
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Francke’s wounds known only to the police or a par-
ticipant in the crime. In contrast, Crouse's alternative 
story about a group of men jumping someone outside 
the Dome Building cannot be squared with the State's 
theory of one killer. Nothing in the record corrobo-
rates Crouse's murder-for-hire or government con-
spiracy confessions either. 

Again, even assuming some doubt about Crouse's 
involvement in the murder, Gable need not prove 
Crouse's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Rather, the 
question under Schlup is whether Crouse's confes-
sions undermine Gable's guilt. See Carriger, 132 F.3d 
at 478–79. Under the State's theory of a single killer, 
their guilt is mutually exclusive—either Gable killed 
Francke, or someone else did. Crouse would have pre-
sented a more compelling choice to the jury. 

While Crouse confessed on the record with details 
known only to the killer or the police, Gable consist-
ently maintained his innocence to the police. All the 
witnesses who claim Gable incriminated himself to 
them have either recanted or are thoroughly im-
peachable, as discussed above.8 In contrast, Crouse 
voluntarily confessed on the record, and to witness-
es—his own family members, in front of the police—
who were unimpeachable. 

Crouse also could not offer a clear alibi. He either 
attended back-to-back alcohol treatment meetings 
with someone named Laurie, worked all night, was 

 
8 Gable's statements also did not align with the evidence. For 
example, Childers testified that Gable said he broke into 
Francke's car to steal a gun and stabbed him repeatedly in the 
chest. Francke did not have multiple chest stab wounds. 
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all over town, or stayed home. The State highlighted 
Gable's lack of alibi at trial, but compared to Crouse, 
Janyne and Walker now give Gable a stronger alibi. 
Cf. House, 547 U.S. at 550–54, 126 S.Ct. 2064 (finding 
Schlup met even though the petitioner had no alibi). 

Crouse’s detailed and compelling confessions, 
when considered with the recantations of nearly all 
the State’s key witnesses, are more than sufficient to 
satisfy Schlup's demanding standard. We therefore 
hold that Gable's procedural default is excused under 
Schlup because it is “more likely than not that no 
reasonable juror would have convicted him in the 
light of the new evidence.” Lee, 653 F.3d at 938 (quot-
ing Schlup, 513 U.S. at 327, 115 S.Ct. 851). 

C. Gable’s Chambers Due Process Claim 

1. 

We now evaluate the merits of Gable’s claim that 
the trial court violated his Sixth and Fourteenth 
Amendment rights by excluding evidence of Crouse's 
guilt. 

The Sixth Amendment guarantees a criminal de-
fendant's right “to have a public trial, to confront the 
witnesses against him and to obtain witnesses in his 
favor.” Lunbery v. Hornbeak, 605 F.3d 754, 760 (9th 
Cir. 2010). These rights are incorporated into the due 
process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, which 
includes the right “to a meaningful opportunity to 
present a complete defense.” Id. (quoting Crane v. 
Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690, 106 S.Ct. 2142, 90 
L.Ed.2d 636 (1986)). 
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In Chambers v. Mississippi, the defendant was 
convicted of killing a police officer. 410 U.S. 284, 285, 
93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973). Another man, 
McDonald, confessed to the killing but recanted. Id. 
at 287–88, 93 S.Ct. 1038. The trial court allowed the 
defendant to call McDonald to the stand and to read 
his prior confession to the jury, and the state was al-
lowed on cross-examination to elicit McDonald's re-
cantation. Id. at 289, 93 S.Ct. 1038. But the court ap-
plied a state “voucher” rule to bar the defendant from 
challenging McDonald's recantation, and the hearsay 
rule to prevent the defendant from presenting 
McDonald's prior confessions through other witness-
es. Id. at 291–92, 294–96, 93 S.Ct. 1038. McDonald's 
confessions were excluded despite strong indicia of 
reliability: they were made spontaneously to close ac-
quaintances shortly after the murder; they were cor-
roborated by other evidence; and they were against 
his penal interest. Id. at 300–01, 93 S.Ct. 1038. 

The Supreme Court held that the exclusion of 
McDonald's confessions and the state's refusal to al-
low his cross-examination deprived the defendant a 
fair trial. The state's technical application of its evi-
dentiary rules “plainly interfered with Chambers' 
right to defend against the State's charges.” Id. at 
298, 93 S.Ct. 1038. “[W]here constitutional rights di-
rectly affecting the ascertainment of guilt are impli-
cated,” rules like hearsay “may not be applied mech-
anistically to defeat the ends of justice.” Id. at 302, 93 
S.Ct. 1038; see also Green v. Georgia, 442 U.S. 95, 96–
97, 99 S.Ct. 2150, 60 L.Ed.2d 738 (1979) (finding a 
due process violation when a co-conspirator's reliable 
and corroborated confession was excluded). 
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2. 

Gable sought to admit Crouse's confessions as 
statements against interest, a hearsay exception for 
“unavailable” declarants under Oregon Evidence 
Code Rule 804(3)(c), because Crouse had intended to 
assert his Fifth Amendment right against self-
incrimination.9 O.R.S. § 40.465(3)(c). 

The State moved to exclude Crouse’s confessions. 
At a hearing outside the jury's presence, Crouse an-
swered “no” when asked if he killed Francke. Crouse’s 
attorney claimed he misunderstood; he meant to in-
voke his privilege against self-incrimination and 
would do so if asked again. Indeed, Crouse invoked 
his Fifth Amendment rights on all subsequent ques-
tions, including whether he was at OSH that night or 
what he told the police. Gable’s counsel moved to de-
clare Crouse “unavailable.” Defense counsel later re-
called Crouse to the stand and asked whether he 
killed Francke, which Crouse refused to answer on 
Fifth Amendment grounds. 

 
9 Oregon Evidence Code Rule 804(3)(c) creates an exception to 
the hearsay rule where the declarant is unavailable as a wit-
ness: “A statement which was at the time of its making so far 
contrary to the declarant's pecuniary or proprietary interest, or 
so far tended to subject the declarant to civil or criminal liabil-
ity, or to render invalid a claim by the declarant against anoth-
er, that a reasonable person in the declarant's position would not 
have made the statement unless the person believed it to be 
true. A statement tending to expose the declarant to criminal 
liability and offered to exculpate the accused is not admissible 
unless corroborating circumstances clearly indicate the trust-
worthiness of the statement.” 
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The State insisted, and the state court agreed, 
that Crouse was in fact available because he waived 
his privilege as to whether he killed Francke, and 
therefore the “statements against interest” exception 
did not apply. See O.R.S. § 40.465. Gable's counsel 
countered with two arguments. First, if Crouse de-
nied killing Francke under oath, his prior incon-
sistent statements could be introduced as impeach-
ment under Oregon Evidence Code Rule 607. Id. 
§ 40.345. Second, Crouse was at least unavailable as 
to all questions for which he did plead the Fifth 
Amendment, and the “statements against interest” 
exception should apply to those questions. 

The trial court did not grapple with either point. 
Instead, it ruled that Crouse's testimony denying that 
he killed Francke was irrelevant and thus inadmissi-
ble, because “[y]ou can't put people on the stand and 
say they did not kill Michael Francke.” See id. 
§ 40.155 (providing that only relevant evidence is 
admissible). “[T]here wo[uldn]’t be any need to im-
peach” testimony he did not give, so the Crouse evi-
dence was excluded entirely. 

The state court’s application of the Oregon evi-
dence rules was incomplete and almost certainly 
wrong. The court did not acknowledge that Crouse 
invoked his privilege on every other question, includ-
ing whether he was at OSH or told the police he 
killed Francke, and thus was unavailable as to those 
issues. His hearsay statements against interest 
should have been admitted under Rule 804(3)(c). See 
id. § 40.465(3)(c). We likewise question the trial 
court's finding that Crouse's testimony was irrelevant 
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in this context. See id. § 40.150 (defining “relevant 
evidence”). 

But even assuming the state court’s application of 
its evidentiary rules was correct, the exclusion of 
Crouse's confessions nevertheless violated Gable's 
due process rights. Rather than address the sub-
stance or reliability of Crouse's confessions, the trial 
court's ruling was purely mechanistic and technical. 
See Chia v. Cambra, 360 F.3d 997, 1003 (9th Cir. 
2004) (“[W]hen a hearsay statement bears persuasive 
assurances of trustworthiness and is critical to the 
defense, the exclusion of that statement may rise to 
the level of a due process violation.” (citing Chambers, 
410 U.S. at 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038)). 

As discussed, Crouse’s confessions have strong in-
dicia of reliability. He confessed within months of the 
murder, multiple times, in several forms, to nearly 
unimpeachable witnesses and his family, with no ap-
parent ulterior motive, and clearly against his penal 
interest. “Self-inculpatory statements have long been 
recognized as bearing strong indicia of reliability.” Id. 
at 1004. “[R]easonable people, even reasonable people 
who are not especially honest, tend not to make self-
inculpatory statements unless they believe them to be 
true.” Id. at 1005 (quoting Williamson v. United 
States, 512 U.S. 594, 599, 114 S.Ct. 2431, 129 L.Ed.2d 
476 (1994)); see also Fed. R. Evid. 804(b)(3). 

Importantly, Crouse’s confessions were corrobo-
rated by other evidence, including non-public facts 
about the murder that only a participant to the crime 
would know. See Chia, 360 F.3d at 1006 (“When a de-
fendant seeks to introduce an out-of-court statement, 
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the corroboration of the contents of that statement 
with other evidence is a factor weighing in favor of its 
reliability.” (citing Chambers, 410 U.S. at 300, 93 
S.Ct. 1038)); cf. Christian v. Frank, 595 F.3d 1076, 
1085–86 (9th Cir. 2010) (finding no Chambers viola-
tion when a third party's confessions were excluded 
as incredible because they were made to unreliable 
witnesses and contradicted by the evidence). 

Finally, Crouse's confessions were undoubtedly 
critical to Gable’s defense. Our decision in Lunbery v. 
Hornbeak is particularly instructive, in which we held 
that the state violated the petitioner's due process 
rights by excluding evidence that a third party admit-
ted his drug partners had accidentally killed the vic-
tim. 605 F.3d at 761. The admission was against the 
third party's penal interest, made shortly after the 
murder, and corroborated by other evidence. Id. Alt-
hough the petitioner had also confessed (and recant-
ed), that fact did not negate “the prejudice flowing 
from her inability to present the defense of third par-
ty culpability.” Id. at 762. “The murder called out for 
a murderer,” and excluding third-party guilt evidence 
left only the petitioner “in view.” Id.; see also Cudjo v. 
Ayers, 698 F.3d 752, 765–66 (9th Cir. 2012) (finding a 
Chambers violation when the petitioner's brother's 
confession was excluded as hearsay under state law 
when the murder pointed to a single culprit and only 
the killer's identity was at issue). When there is little 
direct evidence of the crime, but the defendant is the 
only one implicated, the jurors will wonder: “If the de-
fendant didn't [do it], who did?” United States v. 
Crosby, 75 F.3d 1343, 1347 (9th Cir. 1996). 
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Gable’s defense was innocence, but excluding 
Crouse left only Gable in view. As the only suspect, 
Gable's cryptic statements to the police and his meth-
fueled boasts to his friends appeared to confirm the 
police's focus on him at trial. But that evidence pales 
in comparison to Crouse’s detailed and accurate con-
fessions, made under circumstances that strongly 
support their reliability. We therefore hold that the 
exclusion of the Crouse confessions violated Gable's 
due process rights under Chambers. We must grant 
habeas relief if the constitutional error “had substan-
tial and injurious effect or influence in determining 
the jury's verdict.” Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 
619, 623, 113 S.Ct. 1710, 123 L.Ed.2d 353 (1993) 
(quoting Kotteakos v. United States, 328 U.S. 750, 
776, 66 S.Ct. 1239, 90 L.Ed. 1557 (1946)); see also 
Cudjo, 698 F.3d at 768. Here, Gable's defense was 
eviscerated by the trial court's ruling. We therefore 
affirm the district court's grant of habeas relief vacat-
ing Gable's conviction.10  

AFFIRMED. 

 

 
10 Costs are assessed against the State. Fed. R. App. P. 39(a)(2). 
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United States District Court, D. Oregon. 

Frank E. GABLE, Petitioner, 

v. 

Max WILLIAMS, Respondent. 

Civil No. 3:07-cv-00413-AC 

Signed 04/18/2019 

Attorneys and Law Firms 

 NELL BROWN, Assistant Federal Public Defend-
er, MARK AHLEMEYER, Assistant Federal Public 
Defender, 101 SW Main Street, Suite 1700, Portland, 
OR 97204. 

 ELLEN M. ROSENBLUM, Attorney General, 
NICHOLAS A. KALLSTROM, Assistant Attorney 
General, SAMUEL A. KUBERNICK, Assistant At-
torney General, Department of Justice, 1162 Court 
Street NE, Salem, OR 97301, Attorneys for Respond-
ent. 

OPINION AND ORDER 

John V. Acosta, United States Magistrate Judge 

 In June 1991, a jury convicted Frank Gable (“Ga-
ble”) of six counts of Aggravated Murder and one 
count of Murder. The next month, at the conclusion of 
the penalty phase, the trial court sentenced Gable to 
life in prison without the possibility of parole. Gable 
has been serving his life sentence since that time. 

 Gable filed this habeas corpus petition under 28 
U.S.C. § 254 in March 2007 and amended his petition 
in March 2014 to add a claim of actual innocence. 
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Although he exhausted his direct appeals and his 
post-conviction relief (“PCR”) process, nineteen of Ga-
ble's twenty grounds for habeas relief are procedural-
ly defaulted, but Gable urges this court to excuse his 
defaulted claims under the “actual innocence” stand-
ard that the Supreme Court established in Schlup v. 
Delo, 513 U.S. 298, 115 S.Ct. 851, 130 L.Ed.2d 808 
(1995). This is a stringent standard satisfied “only in 
the extraordinary case.” House v. Bell, 547 U.S. 518, 
538, 126 S.Ct. 2064, 165 L.Ed.2d 1 (2006) (concluding 
petitioner “has made the stringent showing required 
by this exception”) (internal quotation marks omit-
ted). 

 This is such a case. Gable has presented a colora-
ble claim of actual innocence. Accordingly, the court 
GRANTS IN PART and DENIES IN PART Gable's 
Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (ECF 
No. 61).1  

SUMMARY OF PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

 On January 17, 1989, the director of the Oregon 
Department of Corrections, Michael Francke, was 
stabbed to death. An Oregon State Hospital (“OSH”) 
security guard discovered his body on the covered 
North Porch of the Dome Building, which sits on the 
OSH grounds in Salem, Oregon. Following an exten-
sive investigation, in April 1990, a Marion County 
grand jury indicted Gable on six counts of Aggravated 

 
1 All parties have consented to allow a Magistrate Judge to enter 
final orders and judgment in this case in accordance with Fed. 
R. Civ. P. 73 and 28 U.S.C. § 636(c). 
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Murder and one count of Murder.2 Resp. Exh. 103. 
The trial court appointed Robert Abel and John Stor-
kel to represent Gable. 

 The case proceeded to a jury trial which lasted ap-
proximately four months, beginning in March 1991 
and ending in July 1991. At the conclusion of the tri-
al, the jury found Gable guilty on all counts. Resp. 
Exh. 104. Following a penalty phase proceeding, the 
trial court sentenced Gable to life imprisonment 
without the possibility of parole. Resp. Exh. 104. 

 Gable appealed, and in a written opinion the Ore-
gon Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's judg-
ment and sentence. State v. Gable, 127 Or. App. 320, 
873 P.2d 351 (1994). The Oregon Supreme Court de-
nied review. State v. Gable, 319 Or. 274, 877 P.2d 
1202 (1994). 

 Gable then sought state post-conviction relief 
(“PCR”). Following an evidentiary hearing, the PCR 
trial court denied relief. Resp. Exh. 345. Gable ap-
pealed. The Oregon Court of Appeals granted relief on 
one claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, 
and remanded the case to the PCR trial court to de-
termine whether Gable suffered prejudice. Gable v. 
State, 203 Or. App. 710, 126 P.3d 739 (2006). The Or-

 
2 Count I alleged that the murder was related to the perfor-
mance of Francke's “official duties.” Count II alleged that he was 
killed during an attempted first-degree robbery. Counts III and 
IV alleged that Francke was killed to conceal the commission of, 
and the identity of the perpetrator of, a first degree robbery. 
Counts V and VI alleged that Francke was killed to conceal the 
commission of, and identity of the perpetrator of, an attempted 
theft. Count VII alleged intentional murder. 

https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1994090621&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1994090621&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1994144347&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1994144347&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2008202167&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2008202167&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)


34a 

 

egon Supreme Court denied review of this decision. 
Gable v. State, 341 Or. 216, 140 P.3d 1133 (2006). 

 On remand, following a second evidentiary hear-
ing, the PCR trial court found Gable did not demon-
strate prejudice and denied all relief. Resp. Exh. 371. 
On appeal, the Oregon Court of Appeals affirmed 
without opinion. Gable v. State, 243 Or. App. 389, 256 
P.3d 1099 (2011). The Oregon Supreme Court granted 
Gable's request for review, and in a written opinion 
affirmed the second PCR trial court's decision. Gable 
v. State, 353 Or. 750, 305 P.3d 85, cert. denied, 571 
U.S. 1030, 134 S.Ct. 651, 187 L.Ed.2d 430 (2013). 

 Gable now seeks habeas corpus relief from this 
court. In his Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas 
Corpus, Gable alleges twenty grounds for relief. In his 
Brief in Support of the Amended Petition, Gable does 
not address all of the grounds for relief, but instead 
addresses two claims of trial-court error, several 
claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, and one 
claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. 

 With the exception of the claim of ineffective assis-
tance of trial counsel for failure to object at sentenc-
ing on ex post facto grounds, Gable's claims are proce-
durally defaulted. Gable contends the “actual inno-
cence” standard established in Schlup v. Delo, 513 
U.S. 298, 115 S.Ct. 851, 130 L.Ed.2d 808 (1995), ex-
cuses his procedural default. Gable also argues the 
default of certain ineffective assistance of trial coun-
sel claims should be excused under Martinez v. Ryan, 
566 U.S. 1, 132 S.Ct. 1309, 182 L.Ed.2d 272 (2012). 
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

I. The State Court Proceedings 

A. The State's Case at Trial 

 At trial, the state contended that at approximately 
7:00 p.m. on January 17, 1989, in the parking circle 
in front of the Dome Building, Michael Francke inter-
rupted Gable as Gable burgled Francke's car to get 
“snitch papers.” Under this theory, Gable lunged out 
at Francke from inside the car, stabbed Francke three 
times and inflicted the fatal blow, then ran west 
across 23rd Street into the Old Salem General Hospi-
tal complex. Gable then drove north on Medical Cen-
ter Drive and turned right on D Street. Meanwhile, 
Francke, mortally wounded, made his way back to the 
North Porch of the Dome Building, where he died 
from blood and oxygen loss after unsuccessfully at-
tempting to open the locked porch door by punching 
out a window. 

1. The Murder and the Crime Scene 

 On January 17, 1989, Michael Francke attended a 
meeting at the Dome Building, which then housed the 
administrative offices of the Oregon Department of 
Corrections (“ODOC”).3 Tr. 7075. After the meeting 
ended, Francke met with several of his co-workers in 

 
3 Due to the voluminous transcript and materials associated 
with this case, points not in dispute are presented in a summary 
fashion. “Tr.” refers to the trial transcript, which is sequentially 
numbered in the upper right-hand corner, so no volume numbers 
or dates are included in the citations. See ECF, Docket Nos. 46 
through 60. “PCR Trial Tr.” refers to the transcript of the state 
post-conviction relief proceedings. 
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his office until approximately 6:30 p.m. Tr. 8878. 
Francke was last seen alive by one of his co-workers 
just before that co-worker left for home at approxi-
mately 6:50 p.m. Tr. 7080. Francke had stated he in-
tended to call his wife before heading home. Tr. 8878. 
When the co-worker left, he walked by Francke's car 
and did not notice anything unusual. Tr. 7080, 8882-
84. 

 At approximately 7:07 p.m., five people going to a 
group counseling meeting passed by the front of the 
Dome Building and noticed a white car parked in 
front with its door standing open. Tr. 6922-23, 6927. 
At approximately 7:15 or 7:20 p.m., two more of 
Francke's co-workers left for home, and noticed as 
they left that the dome light was on in Francke's car. 
Tr. 6940-41. On further inspection, they realized that 
the car door was standing open, and they went back 
in the building to look for Francke. Tr. 6942-46. They 
were not able to locate Francke, and he did not return 
their calls to his pager number. Tr. 6945-46. The two 
co-workers then called security. Tr. 6946. 

 At approximately 12:42 a.m. the next morning, a 
security guard found Francke's body on the north por-
tico of the Dome Building. Tr. 5956. The body could 
not be seen until the security guard actually climbed 
the steps to the north-portico entrance. Tr. 5956. The 
blood spatter and other physical evidence showed 
that Francke had climbed the steps of the north por-
tico, unsuccessfully attempted to open the locked door 
by breaking a pane of glass in the door, and then died 
on the porch. Tr. 6516-45. At the time he died, 
Francke wore dark clothes, including a black over-
coat. Tr. 6401-02. 
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 The subsequent investigation and autopsy re-
vealed that Francke died from a stab wound to his 
heart. The evidence showed the assailant had thrust 
a knife at Francke three times: one knife thrust 
missed Francke, but slashed his overcoat; a second 
knife thrust passed through Francke's left bicep as he 
held his arm tightly to his chest, and then slightly 
penetrated Francke's chest after passing through 
business cards in his front shirt pocket; the third 
knife thrust, which proved the fatal blow, entered the 
left side of Francke's chest and passed through his 
heart. Tr. 6411-6415. The fatal wound passed through 
Francke's chest from left to right at a downward an-
gle (i.e., “from above to below”). Tr. 6417. 

 Francke also had irregular jagged tears to the skin 
on his right hand, consistent with punching through 
the glass pane on the door of the Dome Building. Tr. 
6411, 6416. Present around the area of Francke's left 
eye were a series of three abrasions or scrapes and a 
contusion on the orbital rim. Tr. 6406. Also present 
were two small abrasions or scrapes on his left fore-
head. Tr. 6406-07. 

 The crime scene itself provided no clues to the 
identity of the murderer. Thus, the state's evidence at 
trial centered on eyewitness testimony, circumstan-
tial evidence, Gable's statements to police, and Ga-
ble's statements to several acquaintances, all of 
whom were part of a loose network of people who 
used or sold methamphetamine in the Salem area. 
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2. The State's Eyewitness Testimony 

a. Wayne Hunsaker 

 Wayne Hunsaker, a state custodian working at 
OSH on the day of Francke's murder, testified that he 
left work at approximately 7:00 p.m. that evening. Tr. 
6869. As he walked from the north end of the Dome 
Building toward his car in the North Parking Lot, he 
“heard some sound of somebody being hurt.” Tr. 6881. 
He described it as a “surprised, hurt sound like some-
body had been hurt,” and “Just – kind of like some-
body had their breath knocked out. Kind of surprised. 
Kind of ugh, kind of a grunt sound.”4 Tr. 6881. After 
hearing the sound, Hunsaker turned around and saw 
two men who were about forty feet away from him. 
The men were facing each other, a couple of feet apart 
at most. Tr. 6881-82, 9176. Hunsaker watched the 
two men separate, the one facing west turned and 
moved east toward the Dome Building, and the one 
facing east turned and ran the opposite direction. Tr. 
6882. 

 Hunsaker described the individual who moved to-
ward the Dome Building as “[a]bout six feet tall, 
trench coat on, and that's about it.” Tr. 6883. He re-
called that individual was “walking like he was in a 
hurry. Like he was late for an appointment.” Tr. 
6883. Hunsaker did not see him stumble or stagger or 
fall, though he could see only part of the person at 
one point when the person crossed in front of some 
bushes. Hunsaker also lost sight of the person at 
times because he was watching both individuals, “I 

 
4 In the state's rebuttal examination, Hunsaker described the 
noise as a “yell.” Tr. 9168, 9177. 
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would be watching one, and go back and look at the 
other, and back and forth. When I turned to watch 
the one individual, the other one was out of my sight.” 
Tr. 6885. 

 Hunsaker testified the other individual was about 
six feet tall, about 175 pounds, with short hair, either 
black or dark brown, between 20 and 40 years old. Tr. 
6886. He did not notice if the person had facial hair, 
but recalled he wore a beige trench coat, about knee 
length. Tr. 6886. Hunsaker said that when the two 
men separated, this individual “took off running at 
full speed” until he got to the street. Tr. 6887. The in-
dividual “hesitated for just a moment or so, and then 
he kind of trotted across the street and went behind a 
dumpster which they were doing construction over 
here.”5 Tr. 6887. 

 Hunsaker testified that when he saw the two men 
right before they separated, he did not recall whether 
they were standing near a car. Tr. 6898. He also testi-
fied that he did not see any other person, a man or a 
woman or anything, in the Dome Building parking 
circle area, or any cars coming or going. Tr. 6898, 
9173-75. 

b. Cappie Harden 

 Cappie Harden testified that he also witnessed the 
confrontation. At that time, Harden testified that he 
made his living by buying and selling cars, and by 

 
5 During his testimony, Hunsaker used two diagrams of the area 
to indicate that this individual turned and ran west out of the 
parking lot, via a driveway leading to 23rd street, and behind a 
generator at the old Salem Hospital. 
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selling methamphetamine. Tr. 8056. Harden knew 
Gable, having met him at Johnny Bender's house on 
 Hyacinth Street (also referred to in testimony as 
“the Hyacinth house”). Tr. 8058-60. Harden stated 
that he had seen Gable at the Hyacinth house a cou-
ple of times, and that Gable had given him a ride 
from that house in the past. Tr. 8058. 

 Harden stated that, on the day of Francke's mur-
der, Jodie Swearingen had called and asked him to 
pick her up at her parents' house in Dundee, Oregon. 
He stated that he did so, and eventually dropped-off 
Swearingen at the Hyacinth house, where he saw 
Gable's car parked across the street. Tr. 8059-61. 

 Harden testified that later that same day, 
Swearingen called him twice, asking him to pick her 
up at the OSH grounds, which surround the Dome 
Building. Tr. 8064. Harden left to do so at approxi-
mately 6:30 or 7:00 p.m. Tr. 8064. Harden drove into 
the Dome Building parking circle area from 23rd 
Street NE, and parked.6 Tr. 8065. He had been there 
only a couple minutes before Swearingen came up 
from behind the car; she “kind of startled” him, and 
got in. Tr. 8065. After Swearingen got in the car, 
Harden “kind of bitched her out for bugging him to 
come and pick her up at that time of night when [he] 
was busy doing things.” Tr. 8066. 

 After Swearingen got in the car, Harden noticed 
an interior light come on in a car parked across from 
him in parking circle front of the Dome Building. Tr. 
8066. Harden testified that he saw the light in that 

 
6 As with Hunsaker, Harden demonstrated his route of travel to 
the jury on a diagram. Tr. 8065. 
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car come on so he didn't leave right away, and “I seen 
[Gable] get into the car.” Tr. 8068. He decided to 
“stick around and see what [Gable] was up to.” Tr. 
8069. Harden said he knew it was Gable because he 
recognized his face. Tr. 8069. He did not see anyone 
else with Gable. Tr. 8069. Harden testified that once 
Gable was in the car, he could not see him because 
Gable closed the car door and the dome light went off. 
Tr. 6089. 

 Harden testified that he then saw another gen-
tleman, who looked “like a businessman,” approach 
the car. Tr. 8069. Harden testified: “He walked up to 
the car then and that's when I heard him yell, you 
know, ‘Get out.’ ‘Hey, what are you doing in my car.’ 
And he started running towards the car.” Tr. 8070. 
Harden testified, “That's when I seen [Gable] come 
out of the car and stab the man one time in the chest. 
And that's all I seen.” Tr. 8070. Harden explained 
that he didn't see anything else because he was busy 
hot-wiring his car to start it and get out of there. Tr. 
8070. He did not see Gable or the other individual af-
ter that point. 

 Harden then took Swearingen to his house, and 
told her “to shut up and forget what she ever seen.” 
Tr. 8071. When asked why he did not immediately 
report the incident to the police, Harden said “I don't 
call the police,” because “I'm not a rat.” Tr. 8071. 

c. Jodie Swearingen 

 Jodie Swearingen testified at trial as Gable’s wit-
ness. On direct examination, Swearingen testified 
that she was not at the OSH grounds on January 17, 
1989, that she did not call Harden to come give her a 
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ride from the Dome Building, that she had not seen 
Gable break into anyone's car, and that she had not 
seen Gable stab Francke. Tr. 9329. On cross-
examination, however, Swearingen made a series of 
admissions that conflicted with this testimony. 

 On cross-examination, Swearingen confirmed 
Harden's testimony that she had called Harden on 
January 17, 1989, to pick her up from her parents' 
home in Dundee, and that she eventually ended up at 
the Hyacinth house later that night. Tr. 9340-41. 
Swearingen agreed that she had previously testified 
before the grand jury, under oath, that “Shorty 
[Harden] brought [her] over to the Benders [the Hya-
cinth house] that night and dropped [her] off and 
[she] hooked up with Frank Gable at the Benders and 
ultimately wound up at the Dome Building that 
night[.]” Tr. 9367. Swearingen agreed that she told 
the grand jury that “she drove in Frank Gable's car 
over to the Dome Building,” and that “he was there to 
get snitch papers[.]” Tr. 9367. Swearingen agreed 
that she testified to the grand jury that her job was 
“to keep a lookout” from where Gable left her “basi-
cally standing in front of a tree that was immediately 
in front of the north portico porch area.” Tr. 9368-69. 

 Swearingen agreed she told the grand jury that 
while standing there, she heard the door of the porch 
open up, and “wound up seeing a big tall man walk 
down the steps and across the grass and approach [a] 
white car that was in the parking circle that night.” 
Tr. 9369. She admitted telling the grand jury that she 
“saw Frank Gable get into a struggle with this big tall 
man near that white car that night[.]” Tr. 9369. 
Swearingen agreed when asked, “[i]sn't it true that 
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you indicated that Shorty [Harden] at some point in 
time shows up and that you run over, get in his car, 
and then the two of you take off.” Tr. 9369. Finally, 
Swearingen agreed she told the grand jury that “the 
last time [she] saw Frank Gable basically that night 
[he] was running away from the Dome Building while 
[she] and Shorty [Harden] were driving away[.]” Tr. 
9369. Throughout her cross-examination, Swearingen 
repeatedly testified that although she made these 
statements to the grand jury, they were all lies. 

d. Earl Childers 

 Earl Childers testified that he knew Gable be-
cause Gable would help him procure methampheta-
mine. Tr. 7746. Childers stated that as a condition of 
his parole, he attended an Alcoholics Anonymous 
meeting that ended at 6:30 p.m. Tr. 7751. He stated 
that he would generally walk home from the meeting, 
typically passing the OSH grounds on his route home 
at approximately 7:00 p.m. Tr. 7749-51. 

 Childers testified that on January 17, 1989, as he 
was walking home, he saw Gable driving away from 
the state hospital grounds between 6:30 and 7:00 p.m. 
Tr. 7754-55. He stated he remembered the date be-
cause the day after that his wife, who worked on the 
OSH grounds, was upset because she had to walk to 
her car at night near the location where Francke had 
been killed. Tr. 7749, 7756. Childers said he recog-
nized Gable's car, identifying it as “a gold Supra with 
black louvers on the back window.” Tr. 7798. He saw 
that Gable was alone in the car, and saw that Gable 
was wearing sunglasses, noting that it was not unu-
sual for Gable to wear sunglasses at night, as he 
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“wore them all of the time.” Tr. 7755, 7798-99. Chil-
ders testified he tried to get Gable's attention because 
he had some drugs he wanted to trade, but that when 
he “waved and yelled and whistled at him,” Gable 
“just continued on going.” Tr. 7756. 

 Childers stated that when he saw Gable a day or 
two later, he asked Gable why he had not stopped 
and given Childers a ride. Gable did not respond to 
the question and, according to Childers, Gable “just 
said forget I ever saw him there. Just forget it. So I 
forgot it.” Tr. 7757. 

3. Circumstantial Evidence Linking Gable 
to the Murder 

a. Mark Gesner 

 Mark Gesner was an associate of Gable; Gesner 
had introduced Gable to Childers, and the two shared 
the same network of friends. Tr. 7974-77. Gesner sold 
weapons and methamphetamine to Gable, and the 
two had disposed of equipment used to manufacture 
methamphetamine in the past. Tr. 7976-77, 7982-83. 

 On January 18, 1989, Gesner learned from a news 
flash on television that Francke had been killed out-
side the Dome Building. Tr. 7984. Gesner recalled 
that on the previous night Gable had arrived at his 
house as he worked in his garage. Gesner testified: 
“[Gable] drove up to the house, the garage door was 
open ... and [Gable] got out of the vehicle, came up 
and asked if I could get rid of something for him. And 
he said where no one else could find it. And I said, 
yeah, sure. No biggie, you know.” Tr. 7986. Gesner 
explained that Gable then retrieved a bag from his 
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car: “He want back out to the car and brought in a 
bag, a plastic bag. And I said just set it in the corner 
and I'll take care of it in the morning. And I said what 
is it? And he said don't worry about it, I'll tell you lat-
er.” Tr. 7987 Gesner recalled that Gable appeared to 
be “[a] little nervous” and “sweaty,” and that he took 
off “very fast which was unusual: he left right away. 
Usually, he sticks around for awhile, but he was in a 
hurry, apparently, and left right away.” Tr. 7988. 

 When Gable dropped off the bag, Gesner assumed 
it contained “meth stuff again, stuff we're destroying 
from the laboratory.” Tr. 7988. However, after learn-
ing that Francke's body had been discovered near the 
Dome Building, a location in close proximity to where 
Gesner knew Gable frequently picked up his wife 
from work, Gable's “nervous attitude made [Gesner] 
think, well, what is it in the bag.” Tr. 7990. Gesner 
was concerned enough that he put on gloves to avoid 
leaving fingerprints on the bag and went to check it 
out. Tr. 7990. He testified he could tell from lifting 
the bag that it was not glassware; rather, it felt like 
“cloth through [the bag], you know, something cloth.” 
Tr. 7990. Gesner ultimately decided to throw the bag 
in a river at a nearby park. Tr. 7991. 

 Gesner testified that when he got to the park, he 
opened the bag and put some rocks in it to weigh the 
bag down. Tr. 7991. He did not inspect the contents of 
the bag, and could not recall what he saw when he 
opened the bag other than “some type of a shirt may-
be[.]” When he tried to squeeze the air out of the bag, 
however, he said he said it felt like the cloth was 
wrapped around some cylindrical object that would 
not bend, ... basically, like something rolled around 
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something hard[.]” Tr. 7991. Gesner testified that he 
threw the bag into the river, and left after he saw the 
bag go under the water. Tr. 7993. He said Gable 
asked him the following day whether he had gotten 
rid of the bag, and Gesner told him that he had. Tr. 
7995. Gesner testified that he did not ask Gable any-
thing more at that time. Tr. 7995. 

b. Janyne Vierra Gable 

 The state also presented testimony from Gable's 
wife, Janyne Vierra Gable (referred to hereafter as 
“Janyne” to avoid confusion).7 Janyne testified she 
worked as a nurse at OSH, and that Gable would 
drive her to and from work each day. Tr. 7684, 7702. 
She testified that on January 17, 1989, she was not 
feeling well, and left work at noon. Tr. 7727-28. Gable 
gave her a ride home. Tr. 7727. She stated that she 
slept that afternoon, and awoke just before dark and 
made dinner. Tr. 7728-29. Janyne testified that Gable 
was not home that night, and that she did not see 
him until the following morning about 6:25 a.m. Tr. 
7729. Gable had the car, and Janyne remembered be-
ing mad because she thought she would be late for 
work. Tr. 7729-30. She had not seen Gable since 
“probably around one o'clock in the afternoon” the day 
before. Tr. 7730. 

 
7 Gable filed a pretrial motion to exclude his statements to 
Janyne, asserting marital privilege under Or. Rev. Stat. 
§ 40.255. Resp. Exh. 220. Shortly before Janyne testified, Ga-
ble's trial counsel asked to be “heard on the issues of marital 
privilege outside the presence of the jury.” Tr. 7640. At Gable's 
trial, Janyne did not testify regarding any admissions Gable 
made to her concerning the Francke homicide. 
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 Gable gave Janyne a ride to work the morning of 
January 18, 1989. Tr. 7730. When they saw several 
police officers around the Dome Building, Janyne re-
membered Gable's reaction: “Yeah. He was nervous. I 
assumed because of the density, high concentration of 
police in the area.” Tr. 7731. 

 Janyne testified that approximately a month be-
fore Francke's murder, she recalled Gable giving her 
a list of names and asking her to access the computer 
system at OSH to determine “whether any of the peo-
ple on this list of names were informants or classified 
in any particular way.” Tr. 7723. Janyne testified 
that she ultimately declined to do so because of the 
security measures needed to gain access to the infor-
mation. Tr. 7724. 

 Janyne testified that Gable would frequently carry 
knives, “[a]nything from kitchen knives down to old 
timer pocket knives.” Tr. 7709. She stated he would 
carry them either “[u]p his coat sleeve or down the 
back of his pants.” Tr. 7712. Janyne said she would 
often find her kitchen knives missing, and “tried to 
talk [Gable] into taking my cheap kitchen knives in-
stead of my good kitchen knives.” Tr. 7711. She gave 
Gable a six-inch knife manufactured by Chicago Cut-
lery in December 1988, but testified that she had not 
seen that knife since she gave it to him. Tr. 7717-18. 
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4. Gable's Statements to Other Associates 
and Acquaintances 

a. Linda Perkins 

 Linda Perkins was the mother of one of Gable's 
friends, Theresa Ross. Tr. 7946. Ross was the live-in 
girlfriend of Randy Studer, who was Janyne's brother 
and Gable's brother-in-law. Tr. 7946-47. 

 Perkins testified that she drove Ross from Ross's 
apartment to work each morning. Tr. 7949. She testi-
fied that on January 18, 1989, she arrived at Ross's 
apartment, and that about fifteen minutes after she 
got there, Gable arrived. Tr. 7950-51. Perkins said 
Gable appeared “extremely nervous.” Tr. 7951. Alt-
hough he was typically “nice and neat” Perkins testi-
fied that he looked “out of the ordinary” that morning, 
dirty, unshaven, and with his hair uncombed. Tr. 
7951. Perkins explained: “[h]e was shaky, just jerk-
ing, and nervous acting. And kept looking out the 
window like every sound he heard or even in between 
sounds that he heard, he kept looking out the window 
as if – I got the impression he was afraid someone 
was chasing him or following him.” Tr. 7951. 

 Perkins said she asked Gable what was wrong, 
and Gable responded, “Nothing.” Tr. 7952. When Ross 
persisted, Gable responded, “I fucked up ... I fucked 
up big time this time.” Tr. 7952. Perkins testified that 
when she asked what Gable meant, “he said, ‘Well, 
I'll put it to you like this, you will be reading about it 
in the papers.’ ” Tr. 7952. 

 Later that morning, as she drove Ross to work, 
Perkins heard on the radio that Francke's body had 
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been discovered. Tr. 7953. Perkins said that when she 
asked Ross whether Gable had been talking about 
Francke, Ross discounted that possibility, telling 
Perkins that Gable was “full of bullshit.” Tr. 7967-68. 

 Perkins testified that approximately a week-to-ten 
days after that she spoke with Gable on the tele-
phone, and that Gable “told me that if I opened my 
mouth I was a dead mother fucker.” Tr. 7953. Perkins 
also recalled a prior “rather heated discussion” with 
Gable because she was aware he had been providing 
Ross and Studer with illegal drugs. Tr. 7967. 

b. John Kevin Walker 

 John Kevin Walker was a methamphetamine 
dealer who frequently sold methamphetamine to Ga-
ble. Walker testified that, on the night Francke was 
murdered, he recalled listening to his police scanner 
at a friend's house and hearing about “some stuff 
go[ing] down over by the State Hospital grounds[.] Tr. 
8167-69. He recalled “[a]nd that was the only night 
than I can recall ever hearing that much radio traffic 
at once.” Tr. 8169. 

 Walker testified that on January 18, 1989, Gable 
called Walker, sounding agitated. Tr. 8171. Walker 
said he went to Gable's apartment later that night to 
sell Gable methamphetamine. Tr. 8172. When Walker 
arrived, they went into Gable's bedroom to conduct 
the drug deal. Walker testified that, once in the bed-
room, the following exchange occurred: 

[Gable] asked me if I had heard the news, and I 
said what news? And he said, “About that guy 
over there at the State Hospital grounds.” And 
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I said, “Yeah, he got shot or something.” And 
[Gable] said, “Well, that's not exactly what 
happened, but it's close enough. I stuck him.” 

Tr. 8173. After that exchange, Walker said that Gable 
threatened him: “And then he was like, you know, 
tweaked or something and he just goes, you know, 
kind of in a sad way, I'm sorry, you, if you tell on me, 
I'm going to have to kill you and kill your family.” Tr. 
8175-76. 

 Walker testified that he initially took Gable's 
threat with a “grain of salt” because it “wasn't charac-
teristic of [Gable] to do something like that to me.” 
Tr. 8176. However, Walker testified that he noticed a 
change in Gable's behavior, that he became “[r]eal 
edgy. Like I say, on edge. Like a tweaker's edge.” Tr. 
8177. Walker said that he became more concerned, 
explaining, “As time goes on more and more things 
get found out. And the more I found out, the – the less 
I wanted to be around him.” Tr. 8176. 

 Walker admitted that when he was first ques-
tioned by police, he did not tell police about Gable's 
admissions. Tr. 8179. He cited his fear of some of the 
people with whom Gable associated, and “the fact of 
the rat jacket that gets attached any time you talk to 
the police about anything.” Tr. 8179. 

c. Daniel Patrick Walsh 

 Daniel Patrick Walsh lived in the same apartment 
complex as Studer and Ross, and made his living sell-
ing methamphetamine. Tr. 7931-32. Walsh testified 
that in February or March of 1989, Walsh was “stick-
ing a knife into a tree.” Tr. 7933. He said Gable 



51a 

 

walked up and asked where Walsh got the knife, and 
Walsh told Gable he bought it from Jerry Paul Baker. 
Tr. 7934. Walsh testified that Gable said he “had giv-
en that knife to Jerry Paul Baker, and that that was 
the knife that he used to kill Michael Francke.” Tr. 
7934. Walsh said he did not take Gable seriously at 
the time: “I just kind of laughed because he was pret-
ty strung [sic] on drugs then and stuff, and so was I, 
and I didn't pay any attention about it really all that 
much.” Tr. 7934. 

 Walsh testified that sometime in the summer of 
1989 he allowed Gable and his wife, Janyne, to move 
into Walsh's apartment. Walsh described an encoun-
ter with Gable during that time: 

[I]n the process of while he was staying at my 
house him and Doug Stritchfield were arguing 
and fighting back and forth. I guess Doug had 
shot at Frank, called Frank a snitch and a rat, 
and Frank had made a comment about killing 
Doug. I just kind of snickered about it at the 
moment and stuff and he went into, “Well, you 
remember Michael Francke,” were his exact 
words, and I just kind of tried not even paying 
attention to him, you know I just pretty well 
much was on drugs and stuff, went into about 
how he went about killing him and stuff. 

* * * 
He said that that is what would happen to 
Doug Stritchfield. He had said that he had 
been jock-boxing and the car had the car door 
open, and that he was laying across the seat 
and that Mr. Francke come up along to – up on 
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him, and he had lunged out into Mr. Francke. 
Didn't say whether he was out of the car or in 
the car, lunged into his body and stuff stabbing 
him repeatedly and that he had fled across the 
parking lot. 

Tr. 7936-37. Walsh testified that after Gable de-
scribed the stabbing, he threatened Walsh: “[H]e 
grabbed my chin and said if you ever say a word of 
this to anybody, I'll kill you and your family.” Tr. 
7937. 

 Walsh also admitted that he did not initially tell 
police about Gable's statements. Tr. 7938. He said 
that he feared for his family and “didn't want to have 
a snitch jacket on me.” Tr. 7938. 

d. Earl Childers 

 As noted above, Childers testified that he saw Ga-
ble driving away from the State Hospital grounds on 
January 17, 1989. Childers also testified that, a cou-
ple of months later, he and Gable were talking about 
a woman, Shelli Thomas, with whom Gable had a 
“close association.” Tr. 7759. Thomas's “boyfriend was 
coming back from California and he had a habit of 
beating her up.” Tr. 7759. Childers testified that Ga-
ble then stated “that if he had any problems with [the 
boyfriend] he would just stick him.” Tr. 7759. Accord-
ing to Childers, “And I asked him why would you do 
that and [Gable] said, well, it won't be the first time. 
And we let it go at that.” Tr. 7759. 

 Childers testified that he was arrested in May 
1989, and that after serving some time in prison he 
transitioned to a minimum-security release center. 
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Tr. 7760. Childers testified that he walked way from 
the release center in July 1989 and went to stay at 
Mark Gesner's house until he was arrested again two 
weeks later. Tr. 7761-62. Childers said that sometime 
during that two weeks Gable visited Gesner's house. 
Tr. 7763. Gesner was not home at the time, and Chil-
ders and Gable “started hashing over old times” and 
doing methamphetamine together. Tr. 7764. Gable 
told Childers that police “questioned him on the 
Francke investigation and then subsequently re-
leased him because they had nothing on him.” Tr. 
7764. Childers then testified: 

We just kind of bantered it back and forth 
while we were waiting for [Gesner]. And at one 
point when I came out of the bathroom after 
doing the crank I asked him if he had done it, 
and he just kind of gave me a smile he gets on 
his face and didn't say yes or no, kind of insin-
uated more yes than more not – no. 

Tr. 7765. 

 Childers testified that once Gesner arrived home, 
Gable, Childers, Gesner, and Gesner's girlfriend 
walked over to look at a house that they believed 
“was ripe for a burglary.” Tr. 7765. They ultimately 
decided not to burglarize the home, and walked back 
to Gesner's house. Tr. 7765. Once back there, Chil-
ders asked Gable if he could borrow some clothes, ex-
plaining that he did not have any because he was “on 
escape status” and Gesner's clothes did not fit him. 
Tr. 7766. Childers said Gable agreed to loan Childers 
some clothes, and that as they walked to Gable's 
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apartment to get the clothes, they began to discuss 
the Francke homicide: 

We just kind of talked about things and the 
subject came up again about the – the Francke 
killing, and we bantered it back and forth and I 
asked him again if he did it and he told me he 
had done it. He said that he killed him. And I 
asked him, well, why? And he said that he was 
burglarizing the car, going through some cars 
and he was in Francke's and he got caught and 
he ended up sticking the guy. And I told him, I 
said, you're shitting me, you stuck him over a 
car burglary? He said he [Francke] was going 
to take me in and I [Gable] didn't want to go 
back to prison. 

Tr. 7767. Childers testified that Gable said he “stuck 
him three or four times” in the chest and that 
Francke “was a cock sucker and now he would always 
be a cock sucker.” Tr. 7768. 

e. Mark Gesner 

 As noted above, Gesner testified that on the night 
of the murder Gable asked Gesner to dispose of a bag. 
Gesner also testified that on the walk back from the 
house he, Childers, and Gable were considering bur-
glarizing, Gesner asked Gable about the bag: 

We were basically talking about this house go-
ing there, but in the course of the conversation 
I think I brought up, well, what was in the 
bag? You said you would tell me later. And he 
said it was the stuff that I was wearing the 
night of the murder. And I said what murder? 
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And he said the Michael Francke murder. And 
I dropped it right there because then [Gesner’s 
girlfriend] and [Childers] were starting to get 
close enough they could hear us talking again, 
so I stopped talking about it. 

Tr. 7999. 

 Gesner testified that he and Gable talked about 
Francke's murder a second time, when Gable visited 
Gesner's house again. Gable “was bragging about, you 
know, saying I killed Michael Francke, and I said 
don’t even talk about that kind of stuff.” Tr. 8000. 
Gesner testified that Gable made that statement in 
front of Gesner's girlfriend, and Gesner told Gable, 
“Don’t tell anybody that even if you didn’t do it or did 
do it, don’t tell anybody that. Don’t talk about some-
thing like that. That’s how you get busted.” Tr. 8000. 

5. Gable's Statements to Law Enforce-
ment Investigators 

 Police first spoke with Gable in May 1989, after 
receiving a tip that Gable knew something about the 
Francke homicide. Tr. 7165-67. When asked whether 
he remembered anything about the Francke homi-
cide, Gable replied that he first learned about the 
murder on January 18, 1989, when he drove his wife 
to work at OSH. Tr. 7170. He said that he did not 
know who had killed Francke. Tr. 7171. Gable report-
ed that, on the day of the murder, “he was sleeping 
the whole day.” Tr. 7171. 

 Approximately one month later, in June 1989, Ga-
ble spoke with police again after he had agreed to 
work as an informant for the Keizer police. Tr. 7229-
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31. Gable had been arraigned on unrelated charges in 
Coos County, and a Keizer police officer drove him 
from Coos County back to Keizer. Tr. 7232. As they 
drove back, they discussed, among other things, the 
Francke homicide. Tr. 7234-35. The Keizer police of-
ficer commented that Gable looked like the composite 
drawing of the suspect that had been printed in the 
newspaper, and Gable responded that the police had 
already questioned him a “couple days” after the 
murder because “he was on the grounds the day it 
happened.” Tr. 7235. Gable told the officer that the 
police had ruled him out as a suspect. Tr. 7235. 

 Following up on the previous tip, police later con-
tacted Gable for an additional interview about the 
Francke homicide. Gable agreed to meet with police 
on September 13, 1989, in Coos County. Tr. 7255-56. 
Police picked him up from his step-father’s residence 
in Coos County and drove him to the police station. 
Tr. 7256, 7258-59. There, Gable spoke with Detective 
Fox of the Oregon State Police (“OSP”). When Fox 
first told Gable that he wanted to discuss the Francke 
investigation, Fox said Gable's “initial reaction were 
words to the fact of [sic] I wondered when you sons of 
bitches were going to try to hang this on me.” Tr. 
7269. Fox explained to Gable that it was his choice 
whether to speak with him, and that he would not be 
punished if he declined to do so. Tr. 7269. Fox asked 
Gable if he had ever told anyone that he was involved 
in the homicide, and Gable stated that he had not. Tr. 
7270. Fox testified that Gable did tell Fox, however, 
that “he was running with a couple by the name of 
John and Kelly,” and had “pointed out the Dome 
Building and said that's where Michael Francke was 
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killed.” Tr. 7270-71. Gable stated that he did not 
know where he was the night of the murder. Tr. 7271. 
Gable requested another interview. Tr. 7271. 

 On September 15, 1989, OSP Detectives Bain and 
Berning drove to Gable's step-father's house to speak 
with Gable. When the detectives drove up, Gable said 
“Well, I knew you guys were coming.” Tr. 7281. He 
asked if there were more officers and jokingly said 
that he thought the officers “were going to take me 
down at gunpoint.” Tr. 7281. The officers explained 
that they were not going to take him down and just 
wanted to speak with him; Gable agreed and they 
drove to the Coos Bay Police Department to talk with 
him. Tr. 7282, 7284. 

 Gable was advised of his Miranda rights and 
spoke with OSP Detective Fred Ackom. Gable told 
Ackom that he did not stab Francke and did not have 
any information about the Francke homicide. Tr. 
7293. Ackom asked Gable what he was thinking when 
Ackom asked him certain questions. When asked 
what he was thinking when asked whether he 
stabbed Francke, Ackom said Gable replied, “‘I was 
thinking I was joking around with my wife and I told 
her I killed Michael Francke.’” Tr. 7293. When asked 
what he was thinking when asked whether he was 
involved, Ackom testified that Gable replied, “I was 
thinking that people in the joint would think I was a 
big guy. I wasn’t even around at the time. I was home 
with my wife and friends at the time. I swear to God 
on a stack of bibles that I didn’t do it.” Tr. 7293. 

 Gable stated that he needed to use the restroom. 
Tr. 7294. When he left for the restroom, Gable told 
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Detective Bain that “he liked Detective Ackom better 
than he liked Detective Fox” and Bain thought that 
Gable “appeared to be in a good mood.” Tr. 7284. 
However, when Gable returned from the bathroom, 
he leaned against a wall “and began to weep openly, 
sobbing, making sounds.” Tr. 7294. Ackom put his 
hand on Gable’s back and told Gable: “‘Frank, it’s all 
right. Get it out. Whatever it is.’ He just kept saying 
over and over, ‘I just know they’re going to roast me 
or fry me for this.’” Tr. 7294. 

 Later that evening, at approximately 9:00 p.m., 
Bain spoke further with Gable. At that point, Gable 
appeared upset, “like he had been crying.” Tr. 7303. 
Bain asked Gable whether he was still willing to talk, 
and Gable stated that he was. Tr. 7303. Bain again 
advised Gable of his Miranda rights. Tr. 7304-05. 
Bain initially tried to calm down Gable, and spoke 
with him about his background. Tr. 7307-08. Bain 
asked Gable whether he remembered where he had 
been on the night of the murder. Gable stated that he 
had picked up his wife from work at 3:30 p.m. on 
January 17 and then “stayed with his wife that night 
all evening.” Tr. 7309. Gable told Bain that “in fact, 
they had a party at the apartment, and there were 
approximately between twenty and thirty people at 
this party.” Tr. 7309. Bain told Gable that was good 
and that he was “going to go back and check with 
your wife, make sure that she can verify your story[.]” 
Tr. 7309. He also asked Gable for the names of any of 
the persons at the party. Tr. 7309. Gable was unable 
to give a single first name, telling Bain “[w]e don’t use 
names like you do.” Tr. 7309. 



59a 

 

 Gable’s wife Janyne was being interviewed simul-
taneously in another room at the police station. Tr. 
7312. At around 10:00 p.m., Bain left to speak with 
the detective interviewing Janyne, and noted there 
were “conflicts” between what she was telling police 
and what Gable was saying to them. Tr. 7311-12. Af-
ter speaking with the detective interviewing Janyne, 
Bain went back into the interview with Gable and 
asked: “Well, Frank, did you ever tell anybody that 
you killed Michael Francke?” Tr. 7313. Gable re-
sponded, “I don’t think I ever told anybody I killed 
Francke.” Tr. 7313. Based on his conversation with 
the detective interviewing Janyne, Bain placed Gable 
under arrest for assaulting Janyne. Tr. 7317. 

 Gable was transported to the Coos County Jail, 
and during the transport he talked about killing him-
self. Tr. 7338. After learning this, Ackom decided to 
re-contact Gable and went to the jail at approximate-
ly 12:30 a.m. on September 16, 1989. Ackom again 
advised Gable of his Miranda rights, and he again 
agreed to speak with police. Tr. 7343-44. When 
Ackom told Gable he was there because he heard Ga-
ble was contemplating suicide, Gable “gave out a light 
chuckle and said that he wasn’t really contemplating 
suicide.” Tr. 7346. Ackom told Gable he was just as 
interested in finding out that Gable did not commit 
the murder as he was in finding out that he did. Tr. 
7348. Ackom again asked Gable about possible alibis 
for that night, and Gable stated that he was with his 
friend, Kris Warilla, or that he was at home with his 
wife and friends. Tr. 7349-50. 

 At one point during the conversation, while they 
were discussing possible locations of the knife that 
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killed Francke, Gable said, “‘Hey man, whenever you 
ask me a question about this,’ he says, ‘My mind 
keeps saying you did it, you did it, you did it, and all 
of the time I know I didn’t.’” Tr. 7351-52. Ackom said 
he didn't understand, and asked, “You mean that part 
of you is saying you did it? You killed Michael 
Francke, and the other part is saying you did it – 
didn’t.” Gable replied, “‘Yeah, it's like the back part of 
my brain’ – gestures with his right palm to the back 
of his head – ‘says I did it, and front part of my brain 
says I didn't.” Tr. 7352. When Ackom told Gable that 
if he did it, he would remember it, Gable stated, “It 
doesn’t matter if I said yes I did it or no I didn’t. 
They’re going to fry me for this.” Tr. 7352. Ackom 
asked Gable whether he thought the State had 
enough evidence to charge him, and Gable responded, 
“‘yeah, they probably do. I don't know, man. It doesn’t 
matter. I will stick to this story until the end. I know 
you want me to make a great big hero out of you’ – 
there was a large smile on his face, ‘but I just can’t. I 
can’t man. I don’t think they have anything.’” Tr. 
7352. 

 Ackom testified that he and Gable discussed how 
God would view the murder, and Gable said he be-
lieved that God would forgive the murderer. Tr. 7353. 
Then Gable said, “Yeah, but I’m not saying I did it. 
I’ll go to the end of the trial saying that, Fred. There 
are only two people who know who killed Francke, 
Francke and God.” Tr. 7353. Ackom reminded Gable 
that Francke was dead, and “Gable – with a puzzled 
look on his face like he was thinking about what I 
said, he said, ‘Well, there are only two people who 
know Francke – yeah, me and God.’” Tr. 7353. Then, 
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Ackom testified, Gable “puts his arms on the table in 
front of him like this, he leans forward like he real-
ized what he had said, put his face down on his arms 
like this, he turns and talks out – looks out of the 
corner of his eye at me. I was on the left side of him, 
he says, ‘Yeah. Yeah. Me and God.’” Tr. 7353-54. 
When Ackom told Gable he had made a Freudian slip, 
Gable disagreed and stated, “‘I'm going to the end of 
the trial saying I didn't do this. I'll be talking to God 
all the way. I'll go to heaven saying it and all those 
mother fuckers will go to hell for lying.’” Tr. 7354. 

 Another officer entered the room and asked Gable 
to consent to the search of his mother-in-law's house 
where it was believed Gable had stored some of his 
belongings. Tr. 7356. Gable withheld consent, ex-
plaining: “‘My mother-in-law hates me. She will prob-
ably say every fucking knife in the place belongs to 
me so they can pin this on me.’” Tr. 7356. Gable said 
he did not want to talk to police any further, and that 
he wanted a lawyer. Tr. 7356. The interview ended. 

 Later that day, Gable was taken to a local hospital 
to have blood and hair samples taken pursuant to a 
search warrant. Tr. 7364. An officer escorting Gable 
testified that the doctor who was going to take the 
samples remarked to a nurse “that he wanted to fol-
low the procedure closely or some attorney would get 
the guy – and the only guy around being [Gable] – 
off.” Tr. 7365-66. According to the officer, immediately 
after the doctor said that, Gable said, “‘No lawyer in 
the world could get me off.’” Tr. 7366. Shortly after 
that, when the doctor remarked to the nurse that Ga-
ble was up for murder, the officer testified that Gable 
stated “‘I wasn’t fucking arrested for murder.’” Tr. 
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7366. Approximately a minute later, Gable started 
“crying, very much, uncontrollably and turned very 
pale.” Tr. 7366. 

 Although Gable had invoked his Miranda rights at 
the conclusion of the September 16, 1989, interview, 
on November 3, 1989, he asked to speak with Detec-
tive Bain or any of the other detectives because “he 
had information concerning the Francke case.” Tr. 
7454, 7457. Bain, Ackom, and Sergeant Salle went to 
the Coos County Jail and spoke with Gable for ap-
proximately five and one-half hours. Tr. 7505. 

 Detective Bain testified that Gable wanted to dis-
cuss a newspaper article which reported that Mike 
Keerins had stated that Gable admitted to him that 
Gable had killed Francke. Tr. 7460. Gable stated that 
“this isn't what happened, that the opposite was what 
had happened.” Tr. 7460. Gable “ ‘thought that Mike 
Keerins was a smart guy and that he came forward to 
the police and made statements about [Gable] prior to 
[Gable] coming to the police and making statements 
about his suspicions of Mike.” Tr. 7528. 

 Gable stated that he had thought more about the 
night of January 17, 1989, and he first said that he 
was “positive” that he was with Kris Warilla. Tr. 
7464, 7466. He stated that he and Warilla had sold 
methamphetamine at the “AM/PM store,” and then 
went to dig through dumpsters for clothing and an-
tiques. Tr. 7465. He stated that they then stayed at 
Warilla's home, until he picked up his wife to take 
her to work the next morning. Tr. 7465. At one point, 
Bain told Gable that Warilla had “made the state-
ment to police that [Gable] had stabbed the guy. Tr. 
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7513. After that, Gable said he was less certain that 
he was with Warilla on the night of the murder and 
that he could have been with Shelli Thomas, at home, 
or up in Portland. Tr. 7529. 

 During the November 3, 1989 interview, Gable 
confirmed that he had made statements to his friends 
that related to Francke's murder. He denied that he 
had told his friends that he had stabbed Francke, but 
he acknowledged, “‘I might have made some stupid 
statements. I might have been involved in some 
funky statement that may have been perceived 
wrong.’” Tr. 7487. He stated that he hoped to work 
with police to clear those statements up. Tr. 7487. He 
stated that he could not remember whether he told 
his wife that he knew what happened to Francke, and 
said that if he had made such a statement, he had 
merely offered his opinion about what happened. Tr. 
7470. 

 At certain points during the interview, Bain testi-
fied that Gable stated he did not believe that any of 
his associates had told police that he had admitted to 
them he committed the murder. He believed Janyne 
to be the only person who would have made any such 
statements to police. Tr. 7512. 

 Detective Salle testified that during the course of 
the interview Gable stated he owned a tan trench 
coat. Tr. 7536. Gable stated that “if someone men-
tioned [Gable] in a trench coat that that’s the coat 
they would have been talking about because he wore 
it all around.” Tr. 7536. 

 Detective Salle testified that Gable confirmed his 
relationship with several of the witnesses who would 
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later testify against Gable. When asked to name a 
good male friend of his at the time of the murder, Ga-
ble named Gesner, noting that he was Gable’s main 
connection for methamphetamine. Tr. 7533-34. Gable 
explained that Walker introduced him to Gesner dur-
ing the course of a drug deal. Tr. 7470. Gable de-
scribed Childers as a “pretty good guy” and that “he 
wouldn’t talk to the police if he knew some infor-
mation about [Gable].” Tr. 7535. Gable said he did not 
know Swearingen until July 1989. Tr. 7556-57. When 
asked if she could have seen him on January 17, 
1989, Gable “said, ‘well, she probably could have, but 
I don't know where I was.’” Tr. 7556. 

 At the conclusion of the November 3, 1989, inter-
view, Gable agreed that police could come back and 
talk with him again, and asked them to check on his 
wife for him because he had not heard from her. Tr. 
7561. 

 On December 22, 1989, Ackom spoke with Gable 
again. After advising Gable of his Miranda rights, 
Ackom asked Gable whether various people could 
have seen him stab Francke in front of the Dome 
Building. Tr. 7564. Each question was in the form of 
“Did [individual's name] see you stab Michael 
Francke in front of the Dome Building.” Tr. 7565-66. 
Ackom said during the questions that Gable “main-
tained a – perfect eye contact, he looked right at me. 
He had a big toothy grin like he was really anticipat-
ing listening to the questions.” Ackom testified that 
when he asked Gable, “Did Jodie Swearingen see you 
stab Michael Francke in front of the Dome Building?” 
Gable “kind of leaned back in his chair, he crossed his 
arms, he looked down, his pupils looked down to the 
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left.” Tr. 7566. On the other names, Gable “gave no 
response whatsoever.” Tr. 7566. Ackom started to 
name people from a second list, and Gable interrupt-
ed him and said, “‘That Jodie gal, the bitch is saying 
she saw me run from the scene, isn’t she?’” Tr. 7566. 

 Ackom then turned to the subject of Gable's 
whereabouts on January 17, 1989. Gable confirmed 
that he knew a “John and Kelly” who lived on Hya-
cinth Street. Tr. 7567. Ackom asked whether Gable 
could have been at that house on January 17, 1989, 
and “[h]e said he was going there every night, four or 
five nights in a row over the 17th. He very well could 
have been there on the night of the 17th. He was tak-
ing dope deals to the Hyacinth Street house.” Tr. 
7567. Ackom asked if Swearingen had been there on 
the 17th and he said she very well could have been 
there, but he didn't meet her until July 1989. Tr. 
7568. Then Gable said he could have met Swearingen 
earlier than July, as early as March or February. Tr. 
7569. 

 In the course of describing the people who may 
have been at the Hyacinth Street house, Ackom said 
Gable “just out of the clear blue and it didn't mean 
much to me at the time, but he said if anyone would 
have seen me that night I would have been wearing 
dark sunglasses. Hey Fred – he said, ‘Hey, Fred, I’ll 
tell you one thing, if anyone would have seen me that 
night, I would have been wearing dark sunglasses. I 
always wore dark sunglasses, day or not.’” Tr. 7569-
70. 

 Ackom returned the next day, December 23, 1989. 
Ackom testified that “[Gable] wanted to know what 
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[Janyne] was saying about him. She keeps telling us 
things, that he killed Michael Francke, that it’s just 
not true. He didn't kill anyone. Stated he wanted to 
help us.” Tr. 7575. Ackom testified that Gable “want-
ed to know about the eye witnesses he says – that 
says they saw him kill Michael Francke.” Tr. 7575. 
Gable stated, “‘I know it’s that Jodie gal, isn’t it? She 
is saying she saw me running from the scene, isn't 
she?’” Tr. 7575-76. Gable also stated that he used to 
work at a warehouse near the Dome Building, that he 
knew exactly where Michael Francke’s office was. At 
the conclusion of the interview, Gable said, “‘Well, 
nobody saw me because I didn’t kill the guy.’” Tr. 
7576. 

 Ackom interviewed Gable again on January 21, 
1990. Tr. 7576. Ackom told Gable that police had peo-
ple who were saying that Gable was at the scene and 
saw him and what he did. Ackom described Gable as 
becoming “very nervous and popping his neck and 
moving all around.” Tr. 7578. Gable told Ackom he 
“didn't want to hear it and he got up and ran out of 
the room.” Tr. 7579. Out in the hallway, Gable just 
kept saying he didn't want to hear this, and “All we 
had was a bunch of zeros talking.” Tr. 7579. 

 On April 8, 1990, Gable was arrested at the Coos 
County Jail for the murder of Francke. Tr. 7594-95. 
At the time of his arrest, he was advised of his Mi-
randa rights and given a copy of the indictment, 
which included a list of the witnesses who appeared 
before the grand jury. Tr. 7595-96, 7603. While en 
route to the Marion County Jail, the police stopped at 
a patrol office in Florence, and at the Lane County 
Jail. OSP Detective Glover spoke to Gable, “‘Frank, I 
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said, ‘do you realize that we have a witness than can 
place you at the scene? That saw you drive away from 
the scene on to D street and then head up to Park 
Street and turn left?’” Tr. 7604. Gable responded, 
“‘Oh, Earle told you that, didn't he.’” Tr. 7604. When 
asked how he knew it was Earle, Gable said, “‘Well, I 
knew that Earle worked – his wife worked over there 
at the hospital.’” Tr. 7604. When asked, out of all the 
names on the witness list that Detective Glover gave 
him, how he picked Earle's name as the one who saw 
Gable driving away from the Dome Building, Gable 
said, “Well, just lucky, I guess.” Tr. 7613. 

 Gable also confirmed the meeting described by 
Childers and Gesner during which they said Gable 
admitted to killing Francke. Tr. 7604. Gable told 
Glover that Childers had just walked away from the 
Corrections Division Release Center; that Gable met 
with Childers at Gesner's residence; that he and 
Childers took a “hit of dope” before Gesner got home; 
that Gesner eventually arrived at the residence; that 
he, Childers, Gesner, and Gesner's girlfriend then 
walked from Gesner's house to a house that they were 
considering burglarizing; and that they ultimately 
decided not to burglarize the house. Tr. 7604-06. Ga-
ble further confirmed that after they walked back to 
Gesner’s residence, he and Childers walked to Gable's 
residence to get some clothing for Childers because he 
“needed a shirt.” Tr. 7606-07. Gable denied he admit-
ted to Childers that he killed Francke: “‘No. I didn't 
tell him that.’” Tr. 7607. 

 Glover testified that toward the end of the inter-
view another officer, OSP Sergeant McCafferty, told 
Gable he believed Gable killed Francke. Tr. 7612-13. 
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Gable said, “‘maybe so, maybe not.’” Tr. 7613. Detec-
tive Glover said, “you’re going to take this to the 
grave with you, aren't you?” and Gable responded, 
“‘You bet I am.’” Tr. 7613. Gable requested an attor-
ney, and the interview concluded. Tr. 7613. 

 On April 9, 1990, Gable was arraigned at the Mar-
ion County Courthouse. Before his hearing, Gable 
waited in the basement of the courthouse. Tr. 7629. 
Detective Ackom was with Gable for two or three 
minutes, but did not ask him any questions. Tr. 7630. 
Ackom testified that Gable spoke to him: 

He was shaking his head from side to side, he 
said, “You have got the wrong guy, Fred. I don't 
know why these people are saying these things 
about me. I wish I could tell you I could say 
things about them. I wouldn't do that. I’m not a 
rat. The best I can do for you, Fred, is I might 
have been driving by that night and Jodie and 
Shorty saw me.” 

Tr. 7630. That was all Gable said, and they went up-
stairs. Tr. 7630. 

B. The Defense Case at Trial 

 Defense counsels’ intended central defense theory 
focused on third-party guilt; specifically, that John 
Crouse, who in April 1989 had confessed to murder-
ing Francke three months earlier, committed the 
murder. Tr. 8467-68. The state moved in limine to ex-
clude defense evidence that others, including Crouse, 
committed the murder. Tr. 5864-65, 8466. As dis-
cussed in more detail below, Crouse later denied 
committing the murder and invoked his Fifth 
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Amendment rights on all subsequent questions. Tr. 
9487-89. 

 The defense pursued other avenues of attack. 
Through cross-examination of the state's witnesses, 
the defense attempted to discredit the thoroughness 
of the crime scene investigation, suggesting that the 
crime scene was compromised, and that evidence 
might have been lost when, for example, nearby 
dumpsters were emptied before being searched. See, 
e.g., Tr. 5978-80, 6049-54, 6069-70, 6088, 6112, 6142-
43, 6464. The defense also presented the testimony of 
experts who criticized the State's crime scene investi-
gation. Tr. 9595-9653, 9665-68. 

 The defense also sought to undermine the state's 
theory of when and where the attack occurred, in 
part, through testimony that numerous people in the 
Dome Building vicinity at 7:00 p.m. saw nothing sus-
picious, and also through the testimony of other peo-
ple who saw suspicious things later in the evening. 
Tr. 9059-9101, 9282-99, 9306-12, 9461-74. Rather 
than cross-examine the state's witnesses who were 
present in and around the Dome Building on the 
night of the murder, the defense recalled most of 
them, and called several others, in its case. Tr. 8662-
8747, 8877-8941, 9163-9211. 

 The defense also re-called some of the law en-
forcement witnesses who testified for the state to talk 
about the duration and coercive nature of certain of 
their numerous interrogations of Gable. Specifically, 
the defense brought out the carefully planned long 
interrogation that took place in April 1990 as Gable 
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was transported from Coos Bay to Salem for ar-
raignment on the murder charges. Tr. 8662-8747. 

 The defense also sought to undermine the credibil-
ity of the state's key witnesses, doing so primarily 
through collateral evidence. Tr. 8477-8661, 8751-
8867. The defense also presented Jodie Swearingen's 
testimony. As previously discussed, Swearingen re-
canted her grand jury testimony and swore at trial 
that her grand jury testimony was untrue. 

 The defense did not file an alibi notice, but pre-
sented witnesses in an attempt to establish that Ga-
ble was at the home of acquaintance Shelli Thomas 
around the time of the murder. Tr. 8553-60, 9392-
9416. The state refuted this evidence through cross-
examination and in its rebuttal case, using telephone 
records and presenting other evidence to show that 
although Gable likely had been at Thomas's house in 
late January 1989, his visit did not occur on January 
17, 1989. Tr. 9800-9809. 

 Finally, the defense called an expert forensic 
pathologist. The expert testified that the murder 
weapon likely was a pocket knife having either a ser-
rated or unserrated blade that could have been as 
short as 3-4 inches long and less than 5-6 inches long, 
because it did not pierce both lungs. The expert testi-
fied that the Chicago Cutlery knife could not have 
been the murder weapon because of its blade thick-
ness, and because it did not have a hinge that would 
have accounted for a “half moon” shaped notch on the 
fatal wound. Tr. 9656-9775. 

The defense rested without calling Gable to testi-
fy. Tr. 9791. On June 27, 1991, the jury returned a 
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guilty verdict against Gable on six counts of Aggra-
vated Murder and one count of Murder. 

C. The Penalty Phase 

 On July 2, 1990, the penalty phase began for the 
jury to determine whether or not to impose the death 
penalty. The court instructed the jury under an 
amendment to the Oregon death penalty statute that 
became law after the date of Francke's murder. The 
two sentencing options available at the time of the 
crime were life with the possibility of parole or death, 
but the amendment provided a previously-
unavailable third option: life without the possibility of 
parole. Resp. Exh. 363, pp. 9-10. Gable's attorneys did 
not inform him that he had a right to challenge the 
application of the amended statute to his case on ex 
post facto grounds, and they did not object to its ap-
plication; in fact, they affirmatively requested that 
the jury be instructed under the new law. 

 The jury rejected the death penalty by a vote of 
two in favor and ten against, but found insufficient 
mitigating circumstances to warrant a sentence of life 
with the possibility of parole. As a result, the trial 
court sentenced Gable to a term of life in prison with-
out the possibility of parole. Tr. 10526. 

D. Direct appeal 

 Gable appealed, alleging the trial court erred in: 
(1) denying Gable's motion to suppress certain of his 
statements to law enforcement in violation of the 
Constitution's Fifth Amendment; (2) excluding evi-
dence of John Crouse's confession under Oregon evi-
dentiary rules; and (3) applying the amendments to 
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the Oregon death penalty statute in violation of the 
Constitution's Ex Post Facto Clause. Resp. Exh. 106. 
In 1994, the Oregon Court of Appeals affirmed the 
trial court's judgment in a written opinion. State v. 
Gable, 127 Or. App. 320, 873 P.3d 351, 873 P.2d 351 
(1994). In the opinion, the court of appeals found Ga-
ble never invoked his Fifth Amendment rights, de-
clined to discuss the exclusion of the Crouse evidence, 
and declined to address the ex post facto issue be-
cause it was unpreserved. Id. Later that same year 
the Oregon Supreme Court denied Gable's petition for 
review, in which he raised the same issues. State v. 
Gable, 319 Or. 274, 877 P.2d 1202 (1994) (Unis, J., 
would have granted review). 

E. State Post-Conviction Relief Proceedings 

 In July 1995 Gable filed a PCR action in Marion 
County Circuit Court. The PCR court appointed Ken 
Hadley to represent Gable, and Hadley eventually 
filed a Third Amended PCR Petition. The petition 
contained various allegations that both trial and ap-
pellate counsel provided ineffective assistance of 
counsel, in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth 
Amendments. As relevant here, the petition included 
a claim of trial counsels' ineffectiveness in failing to 
object on ex post facto grounds to the trial court's 
penalty phase jury instructions that included the life 
without possibility of parole option. Resp. Exh. 155, p. 
4. 

  In May 2000 the PCR trial court held a three-day 
trial and the parties submitted their respective post-
trial closing memoranda. On January 2, 2001, in a 
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104-page judgment, the PCR trial court denied all re-
lief. Resp. Exh. 345. 

 Gable raised six issues on appeal, including a 
claim that the PCR trial court erred by finding that 
trial counsel was not ineffective and that Gable had 
waived his ex post facto rights by a totality of the cir-
cumstances. Resp. Exh. 357, p. I. In 2006, the Oregon 
Court of Appeals issued a written opinion denying re-
lief on all issues except this one. Gable v. State, 203 
Or. App. 710, 126 P.3d 739 (2006). 

 On that issue, the court of appeals concluded that 
the PCR trial court erred “in finding that Gable had 
waived any objection, based on ex post facto protec-
tions, to the submission of the ‘true life’ sentencing 
option to the jury.” Id. at 726, 126 P.3d 739. The court 
of appeals further concluded that trial counsel had 
“failed to exercise reasonable professional skill and 
judgment” by “failing to confer with Gable regarding 
any waiver of the ex post facto objection” to the true 
life sentence option. Id. at 726, 126 P.3d 739. The 
court of appeals explained, however, that this conclu-
sion did not compel granting post-conviction relief. 
Instead, the court of appeals vacated the PCR judg-
ment and remanded the case to the PCR trial court 
because that court had “never determined whether 
Gable was prejudiced by his attorneys' default,” and 
the PCR trial court was to make a finding on that is-
sue in the first instance. Id. at 727, 735, 126 P.3d 739. 
Later that same year, the Oregon Supreme Court de-
nied Gable's petition for review on the remaining is-
sues. Gable v. State, 341 Or. 216, 140 P.3d 1133 
(2006). 
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 On remand, the PCR trial court conducted a hear-
ing limited to deciding whether Gable suffered preju-
dice because of trial counsels' failure to advise him of 
his ex post facto rights, and failure to raise an ex post 
facto objection to submission of the true-life sentenc-
ing option to the jury. Resp. Exh. 371. In December 
2006, the PCR trial court issued a judgment denying 
PCR relief. Resp. Exh. 371. 

 Gable appealed the second PCR court's ruling. In 
June 2011, the Oregon Court of Appeals affirmed the 
second PCR court decision without opinion. Gable v. 
State, 243 Or. App. 389, 256 P.3d 1099 (2011). In 
2013, the Oregon Supreme Court granted Gable's re-
quest for review and denied relief in a written deci-
sion. Gable v. State, 353 Or. 750, 305 P.3d 85, cert. 
denied, 571 U.S. 1030, 134 S.Ct. 651, 187 L.Ed.2d 430 
(2013). 

II. Other Evidence Not Presented at Trial, In-
cluding Evidence of Third-Party Guilt 

 As noted previously, the defense made an offer of 
proof at trial seeking to admit evidence of a third-
party's, John Crouse's, guilt. Tr. 9514-58. The trial 
court did not permit the defense to introduce this evi-
dence. Tr. 9511. 

 On February 15, 1989, two detectives first inter-
viewed Crouse after he informed his parole officer 
that he had information about the Francke homicide. 
Resp. Exh. 179, p. 13. Crouse told the detectives that 
on January 17, 2019, he visited his parole officer and 
left for home a little after 6:00 p.m. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 
21. Crouse said that as he was walking home he ob-
served a commotion by the Dome Building, and that 
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he saw four or five guys together. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 
27, 31. He said he saw them “drop some guy,” and 
then four of them ran toward a car and the other one 
took off running. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 27. He said the 
man that took off running was a Mexican, that the 
man threw something in a parking lot as he ran, and 
that Crouse chased the man for about three and a 
half miles, but was unable to catch him. Resp. Exh. 
179, p. 31. Crouse denied any involvement in 
Francke's death, though he knew from newspaper ac-
counts that Francke had been killed by a knife, and 
knew Francke had been the head of the corrections 
department in New Mexico before moving to Oregon. 
Resp. Exh. 179, pp. 38-39. 

 On April 4, 1989, DOJ Investigator Randy Mar-
tinak and OSP Detective Pecyna interviewed Crouse, 
who had just been arrested on an unrelated assault 
charge. Tr. 9537.8 For the first hour of the interview, 
Crouse again talked about the five assailants. Tr. 
9537. When Martinak told Crouse he did not believe 
his account, Crouse changed his story; this time, he 
said a man named “Juan” had approached him to 
“take care of Francke for $300,000.” Resp. Exh. 179, 
p. 51. 

 Crouse described receiving a $1,500.00 down pay-
ment from Juan, standing across the street from the 
Dome Building smoking and waiting Francke to 
emerge, and that when Francke came out of the 
Dome Building and was getting in his car, Crouse 
stabbed him once or twice. Tr. 9540-41. Crouse gave 

 
8 Martinak's testimony was in the form of an offer of proof out-
side the presence of the jury at trial. 
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additional details about the stabbing and the after-
math. Resp. Exh. 179, pp. 51, 64, 67, 70; Tr. 9541-42. 
In particular, when asked where Francke was 
stabbed, Crouse said, “In the heart.” Resp. Exh. 179, 
p. 299. Crouse said he stabbed Francke at least twice 
and thought he had cut Francke's arm once. Resp. 
Exh. 179, p. 299. 

 Later that day, Crouse changed his story again. 
Resp. Exh. 179, p. 300-01. Crouse stated that he 
made contact with Francke, started a verbal confron-
tation in order to get up enough nerve to stab 
Francke, that Francke grabbed him and they wres-
tled around for awhile before Crouse stabbed 
Francke. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 301. Crouse stated he 
struck Francke at least once with his fist, and that he 
stabbed Francke when it appeared he was going to 
lose the fist-fight. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 301. Crouse said 
he would be more comfortable with writing out what 
happened, and the interview ended. Resp. Exh. 179, 
p. 301. 

 The next day, April 5, Martinak again interrogat-
ed Crouse. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 75. Crouse asked every-
one else to leave room, and then described to Mar-
tinak how Crouse had stabbed Francke about five 
times and didn't know all of the areas, but knew it 
was “at least one in the heart, on a downward motion, 
and that he thinks maybe that he stabbed him in the 
right arm, and it was not just a slice as described in 
the day previous.” Resp. Exh. 179, p. 75. 

  After this brief conversation, Crouse was allowed 
to call his brother Larry Crouse, and agreed to have 
the conversation tape-recorded. During the course of 
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the conversation, as reported by Martinak, Crouse 
asked his brother if he remembers a prior telephone 
conversation when Crouse admitted to killing 
Francke. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 76. Crouse further admit-
ted that first when the incident started out “it was 
just a freak accident,” and “that it had turned out to 
be more than he had intended it to be.” Resp. Exh. 
179, p. 76. 

 Later that day, Crouse agreed to accompany de-
tectives to the Dome Building to view the scene. Resp. 
Exh. 179, p. 77. At one point, when Crouse turned 
and began to walk away, Martinak grabbed Crouse 
by the shoulder. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 77. Crouse imme-
diately became very hostile and squared off against 
Martinak in a fighting stance and made threats to-
ward Martinak. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 77. On the way 
back to the patrol office from the Dome Building, 
Crouse told the officer who was driving that Crouse 
“didn't like to have someone touch him like that,” and 
then said something like, “he [Crouse] didn't have a 
knife, but he would do with what he had.” Resp. Exh. 
179, p. 77. 

 Upon returning from the crime scene, detectives 
again interrogated Crouse. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 78. 
Crouse modified his story, this time saying that on 
the night of January 17 he had walked by a car and 
saw some stuff in it, and took a piece of wire and got 
into the car. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 94. Crouse did not 
know whose car it was. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 94. He was 
only in the car for a few minutes when “a lone man 
grabbed him and said come with me.” Resp. Exh. 179, 
p. 94. Crouse said he came up out of the car and was 
scared and then furious. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 94. When 
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he tried to jerk away, the man hit Crouse. Resp. Exh. 
179, p. 94. Crouse described the man as between 6' 
and 6'3” tall, and between 170 and 200 pounds, and 
“cock strong.” Resp. Exh. 179. p. 99. Crouse described 
swinging at the man and trying to stab him in an ef-
fort to get free, but when this did not stop the man, 
Crouse decided to aim for the chest. Resp. Exh. 179, 
p. 95. 

 A detective summarized the results of this inter-
rogation as follows: 

While at the patrol office, Crouse indicated he 
did not wish to talk with Det. Martinak any 
further, as he did not like the way Det. Mar-
tinak had grabbed his shoulder. The writer ex-
plained to John Crouse that it appeared to 
writer that this had set him off and made him 
very angry, as it possibly had on the same 
night of January 17,1989, when Michael 
Francke had touched him at Francke's vehicle. 
John Crouse agreed with writer and agreed to 
resume talking with Det. Martinak and the 
writer. At this point, also, Crouse agreed to 
give complete details indicating he wanted to 
get past the point he is having trouble with, re-
ferring to “the black wall”. 

At approximately 8:50 PM, date [sic], a tape 
recorded interview was conducted. John Crouse 
was advised the conversation was being rec-
orded and agreed to the taped interview. John 
Crouse was also asked if he understood the 
constitutional rights he was advised earlier, 
and stated that he did understand and was giv-
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ing this statement of his own free will. At this 
point, Crouse indicated that on January 17, 
1989, he walked up to the car and took a piece 
of wire and used it to unlock the locked door. 
He then advised that he was grabbed by a lone 
man and at that point turned “furious”. At this 
point, he grabbed his knife, after being struck 
by this person. At this point, Crouse advises 
that he cannot remember exactly all the spots 
that he hit him. He did indicate, however, that 
he was going at his chest when he hit Crouse's 
arm, causing him to hit in his heart. Then he 
pulled back, this person stated, “My God”. 
Crouse then indicated he looked at him for a 
moment, then took off running down the 
driveway, indicating westbound, and looked 
back to see if anyone was chasing him. He fur-
ther indicated he kept running until he got 
down to approximately 17th Street. 

John Crouse further describes how he believes 
that he had stabbed Francke in the stomach 
and possibly cut his arms and hands, because 
he had been swinging at him and trying to stab 
him, trying to get him off from fighting him. At 
one point, John Crouse describes how he was 
almost knocked out when he was struck by Mi-
chael Francke. Crouse further indicated that at 
one point he decided that maybe if he had 
struck Francke in the chest, it would slow him 
down. He describes how he stabbed him in the 
heart from a downward position. He was using 
his left hand, keeping his right hand free for 
power in case he had to strike him. John 
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Crouse goes on to describe how he remembers 
getting Francke in his hands and upper fore-
arm area. He further describes how he had cut 
him on his right arm, but could not remember 
if he hit him up any further on his arms. 

* * * 

Crouse indicated that he did not know that it 
was Michael Francke until the next morning. 
Crouse further indicated in the taped interview 
that he remembered Michael Francke possibly 
wearing glasses, but he was not sure if he hit a 
pair of glasses when he struck Michael 
Francke. 

Resp. Exh. 179, pp. 78-79. The report writer described 
Crouse's demeanor as follows: 

It should be noted that writer observed John 
Crouse to give this last statement a lot 
smoother than previous statements he had giv-
en. It appeared that it was spontaneous and 
smoothly spoken. He had no hesitation in an-
swering questions, as he did in earlier state-
ments, which appear to be untruthful, either in 
part or in whole. 

Resp. Exh. 179, p. 79. 

  On April 9, Detective Glover interviewed Crouse. 
Tr. 9547. During that interview, Crouse recanted his 
prior confessions and denied that he had killed 
Francke. Tr. 9547. 

 On April 13, 1989, Crouse asked to speak with 
Martinak and Pecyna to recant his recantation. 
Crouse explained that he told Detective Glover he 
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had not killed Michael Francke because Glover was 
new as far as interviewing Crouse, and “he thought 
he would have a ray of hope to get away with it.” 
Resp. Exh. 179, p. 142. He further indicated to Mar-
tinak and Pecyna that he “could not live with getting 
away with the Francke murder.” Resp. Exh. 179, p. 
142. When asked whether the truth was that he did 
kill Michael Francke, Crouse replied that the he did-
n't know it was Francke until the next day. Resp. 
Exh. 179, p. 146. When asked how he hit Francke 
during the confrontation, Crouse described it as “a 
round house with my right hand, it would be in the 
left side of his face.” Resp. Exh. 179, p. 148. During 
the April 13 interview, Crouse also described the wire 
he used to enter Michael Francke's vehicle. Resp. 
Exh. 179, p. 142. 

 On April 19, 1989, an FBI polygrapher examined 
Crouse. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 10-12. Crouse told the pol-
ygrapher that he had just broken into an automobile 
when the owner, who turned out to be the victim, 
tried to grab Crouse and hold him for the police. Resp. 
Exh. 179, p. 11. Crouse said he fought with Francke, 
and finally when he could not get away, he pulled out 
a knife and stabbed Francke. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 11. 
Crouse said all the other stories he told police were 
lies, except for the last story when he admitted to 
stabbing Michael Francke. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 11. The 
polygrapher described the questions posed to Crouse 
and his responses, along with the polygrapher's con-
clusions, as follows: 

A) Did you lie when you told the police that you 
stabbed MR. FRANCKE? no 
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B) Did you make up the story about you using 
no a knife to defend yourself against MR. 
FRANCKE? no 

It is the examiner's opinion that Mr. Crouse 
was not deceptive to these questions. Because 
of the very serious nature of the incident, Mr. 
Crouse was given a second exam utilizing an-
other polygraph technique wherein he was 
asked the following relevant questions: 

C) Did you lie to the police when you told them 
that you stabbed MR. FRANCKE? no 

D) Did you make up that story about you at-
tacking MR. FRANCKE? no 

The examiner believes that Mr. Crouse was not 
deceptive to these questions, and he was being 
truthful when describing his role in his final 
statement to the police. 

Resp. Exh. 179, p. 12. 

 On June 15, 1989, Crouse again was interviewed. 
This time, Crouse denied killing Francke, but claimed 
to have played a role in concealing the murder. Resp. 
Exh. 179, pp. 158, 161-62. Crouse described a con-
spiracy among ODOC corrections officials to kill 
Francke, and claimed he knew the person who actual-
ly committed the murder. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 197. 

 On November 29, 1989, the state provided Crouse 
with immunity, agreeing not to prosecute him for 
hindering prosecution based on “[a]ny false state-
ments that Mr. Crouse may have made in the course 
of previous interviews concerning the Michael 
Francke homicide.” Resp. Exh. 179, p. 289. On No-
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vember 30, 1989, Crouse gave a final interview to 
OSP Detective William Pierce. Crouse stated that he 
did not kill Francke, and that his prior statements 
concerning his involvement in Francke's death were 
“false statements.” Resp. Exh. 179, p. 268. Crouse 
said he had “no involvement” in Francke's death, and 
that he learned several of the circumstances of 
Francke's death only during the course of his inter-
views with Martinak and Pecyna. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 
268-69. Crouse also denied any knowledge of who 
killed Francke. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 277. 

 When asked if he would be willing to talk to inves-
tigators further, he replied, “I have immunity from 
this. The only thing I don't have immunity for is di-
rect involvement in the Michael Francke case.” Resp. 
Exh. 179, p. 289. 

III. New Evidence 

A. Recantations 

1. Michael Keerins 

 In late September 1989, the Task Force received 
information that Keerins and his brother (Kris) had 
been involved in the murder. Pet. Exh. E, p. 65-94; see 
also Pet. Appx. A, p. 4 (discussing investigation of Mi-
chael Keerins' brother, Kris, as a person of interest to 
the investigation in January and February 1989); see 
generally Resp. Exhs. 299-300. The Task Force had 
previously interviewed Keerins in May 1989, just af-
ter Gable allegedly confessed to him, but at that time 
Keerins did not mention Gable's confession. Resp. 
Exh. 299, p. 24-25. When interviewed in September, 
Keerins this time told the Task Force that Gable 
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made a jailhouse confession to him when they were 
incarcerated together in May. In exchange for his tes-
timony against Gable, Keerins negotiated a transfer 
back to Oregon from the out-of-state prison where he 
was housed. Pet. Exh. E, pp. 91, 315; Pet Exh. A, p. 
98; Pet Exh. D, p. 135. 

 Keerins testified before the grand jury, and was 
one of the witnesses designated by the state for trial 
as “material,” but he did not testify at trial. Keerins, 
was, however, the first witness to directly implicate 
Gable. 

 Gable now presents an affidavit from Keerins in 
which he admits he lied, making up the jailhouse con-
fession to deflect suspicion from his family and for 
personal gain, and because he had learned Gable was 
a “snitch for Keizer P.D.” Pet. Exh. A, p. 97-99. In the 
affidavit, Keerins states, “I told the Oregon State Po-
lice and the Grand Jury that eventually indicted [Ga-
ble] for Mr. Francke's murder that [Gable] confessed 
to me while we were housed together at the Marion 
County Jail in 1989. This was untrue.” Pet. Exh. A, p. 
97. 

2. Cappie Harden 

 As discussed above, Harden testified at trial that 
he witnessed the murder; he said that he drove into 
the parking lot at the North Dome to pick up Jodie 
Swearingen, and saw Gable lunge out of Francke's 
car and stab him. Gable submits an affidavit from 
Harden recanting his testimony. Pet. Exh. A, p. 19. In 
it, Harden states, “I did not see [Gable] on the night 
that Michael Francke was murdered. I was at home 
that night. I was not at the Dome Building and I did 
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not pick Jodie Swearingen up there. I did not see 
[Gable] stab Michael Francke.” Pet. Exh. A, p. 19. 

 Harden explains the reason he gave false testimo-
ny at trial as follows: 

I was contacted by the Oregon State Police on 
numerous occasions in connection with the Mi-
chael Francke murder investigation starting in 
late 1989. I was incarcerated at the time. I was 
told that [Gable] had informed against me pre-
viously. The police questioned and polygraphed 
me many times[.] I initially told the truth, 
which was that I was not an eyewitness to the 
Francke murder. However, after the police 
threatened me and my family I eventually 
adopted the false story to which I testified at 
Grand Jury and trial. 

Pet. Exh. A, p. 19. 

3. Jodie Swearingen 

 As noted above, Swearingen testified to the grand 
jury that she was an eyewitness, along with Cappy 
Harden, to Francke's murder. At trial, she recanted 
that testimony, and denied that she had witnessed 
the murder. Through cross-examination, however, the 
state was able to elicit the testimony she gave the 
grand jury, thus corroborating Harden's testimony. 

 Gable submits two affidavits from Swearingen. In 
one, Swearingen states that she gave the following 
truthful testimony at Gable's trial: “I was not on the 
Oregon State Hospital grounds on January 17, 1989. 
I did not see [Gable] stab Michael Francke. I did not 
meet [Gable] until after the Francke murder. I met 
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[Gable] during the summer of 1989. [Gable] never 
told me that he killed Michael Francke. If called to 
testify in a re-trial of this case, I would testify as I did 
at the original trial.” Pet. Exh. A, p. 25. 

 In both affidavits, Swearingen explains the chain 
of events that led up to her telling the Task Force and 
testifying to the grand jury that she was an eyewit-
ness. She felt police had already made up their minds 
that she was involved and would not believe anything 
she said that would convince them otherwise, and she 
felt the officers forced, coerced, and intimidated her to 
make statements that were either not true, partially 
true, or told out of context. Pet. Exh. A, p. 22. Police 
told her that her and Harden's stories were a lot 
alike, but that they “needed to be closer. ‘Your story 
has to jive with [Harden's] and the Grand Jury has to 
believe it.’ ” Pet. Exh. A, p. 22. 

 Swearingen describes the interrogation techniques 
used by police during multiple polygraph examina-
tions. She says she would tell them the truth and 
they would say she was lying, and that when she told 
them what they wanted to hear, they said she was 
telling the truth, when in fact it was a lie. Pet. Exh. 
A, p. 23. The Oregon State Police interviewed her for 
several hours at a time, and polygraphed her “one, 
two, and even three times a day[,]” “over all hours of 
the day.” Pet. Exh. A, p. 23. She also states that the 
Oregon State Police took her to the crime scene, and 
that “[m]ost of the facts I remember today, are facts 
that were told to me by the Oregon State Police.” Pet. 
Exh. A., p. 26. 
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4. John Kevin Walker 

 Walker testified that Gable confessed to him in 
private the day after the murder. Roger Harris, an 
investigator hired by Gable's then-wife, interviewed 
Walker about his testimony. Pet. Exh. A, p. 36-38. 
During the course of the interview, Walker stated 
that during the initial police interrogations and the 
first polygraph examination, he told police the truth. 
After the police told him his truthful statements were 
lies and led Walker to believe he was being investi-
gated as a possible accomplice to the murder, Walker 
lied to satisfy the police and to “save [his] own butt.” 
Pet. Exh. A, p. 52. Walker was on parole at the time, 
and explained that he would have done “anything” to 
stay out of prison. Pet. Exh. A, p. 55. Walker said he 
also lied because he believed Gable had “snitched” on 
him by providing information to police which led to 
Walker and Gesner's arrests. Pet. Exh. A, p. 71. 

 Finally, Walker said, the police repeatedly inter-
rogated and polygraphed him, causing him to gradu-
ally change his story in response to the polygraph re-
sults police reported to him. Walker stated that he 
told the truth at the first polygraph, but the polygra-
pher told Walker he did not believe Walker was 
truthful, that the case was serious, and that “if you 
don't start cooperating ... you're going to be standing 
on the curb with [Gable] ... Get on the bus now, or 
stand on the curb with [Gable], and you can go down 
with him.” Pet. Exh. A, p. 46. 

 Walker admitted that he lied under oath during 
Gable's trial. He stated that Gable never confessed to 
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the murder in his presence, and never told Walker 
that he “stuck” anyone. Pet. Exh. A, p. 37-38. 

5. Daniel Walsh 

 Walsh testified at trial that Gable twice confessed 
to the murder, first in February or March 1989 when 
Walsh and Gable were talking about a knife Walsh 
purchased from Jerry Paul Baker, and then again 
several months later after an argument between Ga-
ble and Doug Stritchfield. Gable submits an affidavit 
from Walsh in which Walsh recants this testimony. 
Pet. Exh. A, p. 80. In the affidavit, Walsh avers that 
Gable never confessed to him and never threatened 
Walsh or his family. Pet. Exh. A, p. 81. 

 Walsh explains the investigative procedures which 
led to his testimony at trial: 

When I was first interviewed in September of 
1989, I truthfully told the Oregon State Police 
investigators that [Gable] never mentioned an-
ything about the Michael Francke murder to 
me. However, in March of 1990, I was subject-
ed to several consecutive days of aggressive po-
lice questioning and several polygraphs. At 
first, when I tried to maintain my earlier true 
statements, the police yelled at me and said 
that I was lying and that the polygraph results 
showed I was lying. The police asked me ques-
tions about topics I knew nothing about. I felt 
that the police were trying to brainwash me. I 
felt extreme pressure to incriminate [Gable]. 
Eventually, I told the police what I thought 
they wanted me to say: that [Gable] had con-
fessed to me the details of the murder. 
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Pet. Exh. A, p. 80-81. Walsh also stated that he re-
ceived benefits for his testimony: the state paid for 
him to travel between Oregon and Ohio and covered 
the cost of hotel and food, that he was given immuni-
ty for past and present crimes, and that charges 
against him in Ohio “went away.” Pet. Exh. A, p. 81. 

 Gable also submits an affidavit from Cheryl Low-
ery, who was married to Walsh at the time of the 
murder and Gable's trial.9 Lowery states: 

Years after he testified for the prosecution at 
[Gable's] trial, Dan Walsh admitted to me that 
he lied during his testimony and falsely impli-
cated [Gable] in the murder of Michael 
Francke. I asked Dan why he lied. Dan Walsh 
told me that he lied and implicated [Gable] in 
the Francke murder because he was angry 
with [Gable]. In particular, Dan was angry be-
cause he felt [Gable] took advantage of us when 
he lived with us and had us drive him from Sa-
lem to Coos Bay at our expense. 

Pet. Exh. A, p. 84. 

6. Earl Childers 

 Childers testified at trial that he saw Gable in the 
vicinity of the Dome Building on the night of the 
murder. Childers also testified that Gable confessed 
to him. Gable submits an affidavit from Childers in 

 
9 Lowery testified as a defense witness at Gable's trial. She said 
Gable never confessed to her and was always nice to her family, 
that Walsh never mentioned that Gable threatened their family, 
and that she left Walsh because he was a drug addict. Tr. 8477-
82. 
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which Childers now states, “[Gable] never told me 
that he killed Michael Francke.” Pet. Exh. A, p. 94. 
Childers also states that, while he is certain he saw a 
car he believed was Gable's, it could have been simi-
lar, and that he is not certain Gable was in the car. 
Childers further states, “I was pressed (or pressured) 
by the Oregon State Police. They were angry when I 
wouldn't tell them what they wanted to hear and 
when I refused to take a polygraph. They made me 
call my attorney in front of them and didn't give me 
any privacy.” Pet. Exh. A, p. 95. 

7. Randy Studer 

 After Linda Perkins told the Task Force that Ga-
ble had confessed during a conversation that included 
Perkins, Gable, Studer, and Ross, Studer initially de-
nied to the Task Force that Gable had confessed. Stu-
der eventually corroborated Perkins's story and testi-
fied to it before the grand jury. However, Studer re-
canted on the eve of trial and the state did not call 
him as a witness. Gable submits an affidavit from 
Studer stating that Studer gave an untrue statement 
to the Oregon State Police that Gable confessed to 
murdering someone on the morning of January 18, 
1989. Studer states that, if called to testify in a re-
trial, he would testify that Gable never confessed to 
him that he murdered Michael Francke, that he is not 
aware of any involvement by Gable in the murder, 
and that Studer previously lied to the Oregon State 
Police. Pet. Exh. A, p. 31. 

 Studer states that he was first interviewed by po-
lice in September 1989, and at that time he told the 
truth, specifically, “that [Gable] never told me he was 
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involved in the murder of Michael Francke.” Pet. Exh. 
A, p. 29. Studer states he maintained his truthful sto-
ry through numerous police interviews throughout 
1989. Pet. Exh. A, p. 30. Studer explains why he 
changed his story: 

8. During this time, the Oregon State Police 
administered numerous polygraph exami-
nations. It did not seem to matter what an-
swers I gave. When I told the truth during 
the examinations (i.e., that [Gable] had 
never confessed to me), the examiner con-
cluded that I was lying. It was not until I 
later changed my story to a lie implicating 
[Gable] in the murder, as described below, 
that the polygraph examiner concluded I 
was truthful. 

9. Over time and under the pressure of police 
interrogation and polygraphs, I made the 
following statements that were untrue. 
First, I conceded that it was possible that, 
because I was using drugs, I was unable to 
recall [Gable's] confession although I knew 
[Gable] had never confessed to me. Second, 
I falsely told the Oregon State Police that 
Doug Stritchfield had not only confessed to 
the murder but had also implicated [Gable]. 

10. The Oregon State Police continued to insist 
that I confirm Ms. Perkins's story that [Ga-
ble] had confessed to me. I felt that they 
were shoving this theory down my throat. 

11. In January 1990, I was charged with a se-
rious offense. The District Attorney and Or-
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egon State Police threatened me with a ten-
year prison sentence. However, they offered 
me a suspended sentence with one year at 
the Marion County work release center if I 
testified against [Gable]. 

12. Facing this significant prison sentence, I 
did not feel that I had any choice but to 
agree to testify. I accepted the plea offer. I 
told the police what they wanted to hear. 
Specifically, I told the Oregon State Police 
that on the morning of January 18, 1989, 
[Gable] had confessed to murdering some-
one the previous evening. This statement 
was untrue. Nevertheless, the Oregon State 
Police conducted a polygraph examination 
and concluded the statement was truthful. 

Pet. Exh. A, pp. 30-31. 

8. Theresa Ross 

 Like Studer, Ross was not called to testify at trial. 
Also like Studer, Ross initially told the Task Force 
that she never heard Gable confess and that Studer 
never told her that Gable confessed, a statement 
which was deemed “truthful” during a polygraph ex-
amination. Pet. Exh. E, pp. 331-32. In February 1990, 
however, in an interview just after police confirmed 
Ross's involvement in a serious sexual abuse case in-
volving a minor, Ross told police that she not only 
now remembered that Gable came to her house 
around the time of the Francke murder, but also that 
he said, “I fucked up, I've done all the time I'm going 
to do. I'm not going back in.” Pet. Exh. E, p. 142. 
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 Gable now submits an affidavit from Ross, in 
which she states: “[Gable] never confessed to me or in 
my presence that he was involved with the murder of 
Michael Francke.” Pet. Exh. A, p. 33. Ross also states 
that “Linda Perkins, my mother, never heard [Gable] 
confess to the murder of Michael Francke. She got in-
volved because she likes to have her name in the 
limelight.” Pet. Exh. A, p. 33. 

B. Scientific Evidence 

 In addition to the recantations described above, 
Gable submits scientific evidence in the form of the 
affidavit of David C. Raskin, Ph.D., who has conduct-
ed and published extensive scientific research in hu-
man psychophysiology. Pet. Exh. B. Dr. Raskin has 
conducted laboratory and field research on polygraph 
techniques for the detection of deception, has taught 
university and applied courses about polygraph tech-
niques, has trained government and law enforcement 
polygraph examiners, has published extensively on 
polygraph techniques, and has served as an expert 
witness in approximately 250 criminal and civil cases 
in federal and state courts in the United States and 
elsewhere. Pet. Exh. B, p. 1. 

 Dr. Raskin reviewed the multitudinous polygraph 
examinations which took place in the investigation of 
this case and concluded: “[i]t is abundantly clear that 
polygraph testing procedures conducted in this inves-
tigation were fundamentally and seriously flawed.” 
Pet Exh. B, p. 16. Dr. Raskin noted that problems in 
administering the tests, such as examiners confront-
ing witnesses and repetition of tests, were pervasive. 
Pet. Exh. B, p. 5, 11. Further, he noted that the poly-
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graph test formats employed have been shown in sci-
entific studies to be invalid, and that the American 
Polygraph Association views them as unreliable. Pet. 
Exh. B, p. 4-5. According to Dr. Raskin, the Task 
Force improperly used polygraphs as a “psychological 
club ... to elicit statements from witnesses.” Pet. Exh. 
B, p. 16-17. 

 Dr. Raskin opines that the investigator's actions 
were highly likely to produce false polygraph results 
and, ultimately, false witness statements. According 
to Dr. Raskin, the problems with the polygraphs 
“were greatly exacerbated by investigators coercing 
examinees to create false statements,” which hap-
pened through the provision of “information to exam-
inees what [investigators] wanted them to state, tell-
ing [subjects] that they were lying when they were 
actually truthful by not giving desired responses, 
abusive and frightening interrogations, serious 
threats of prosecution and prison, threats concerning 
their children and families, promises of rewards, and 
actual rewards.” Pet Exh. B, p. 16. Dr. Raskin con-
cludes that, “[a]s a result, the unethical and flawed 
polygraph testing procedures combined with improper 
and coercive interrogations appear to have provided 
the means to shape their statements in order to ob-
tain false testimony from the examinees.” Pet. Exh. 
B, p. 16. 

IV. Hearing on Gable's Petition 

 On November 22, 2016, the court conducted a 
hearing on Gable habeas corpus petition (“Hearing”). 
At the outset of the Hearing, the court stated the is-
sues the parties were to address, to include: 
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[T]he necessity and propriety of an evidentiary 
hearing on the issue of excusing procedural de-
fault, whether based upon Schlup v. Delo, 513 
U.S. 298, 1995, 115 S.Ct. 851, 130 L.Ed.2d 808, 
or Martinez v. Ryan, 566 U.S. 1, 132 S.Ct. 
1309, 2012, 182 L.Ed.2d 272. In particular, the 
parties should address the need for the Court 
to make witness credibility determinations; the 
logistics of conducting an evidentiary hearing, 
if necessary, including the need to secure the 
appearances of witnesses at such a hearing, 
and petitioner's presence; and, finally, whether 
the DNA test results would need to be dis-
cussed as part of any evidentiary hearing. 

(Transcript of November 22, 2016 Oral Argument 
(ECF No. 165)(hereafter “Hrg. Tr.”) 4. Gable's attor-
neys made these responses to this question: 

MS. BROWN: ... [O]ur position is that there 
does not need to be an evidentiary hearing be-
cause the evidence in the record before the 
Court now gives the best information about the 
credibility of the recantations versus the credi-
bility of the trial testimony, and it's looking 
through the lens of the investigation that pro-
duced the recanted trial testimony which we 
claim was false..... 

THE COURT: So let me interrupt, please, and 
just make this observation: With respect to the 
question in the minute order, the necessity and 
propriety of an evidentiary hearing, your first 
response is we don't need a hearing at all. 

https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1995033062&pubNum=0000708&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1995033062&pubNum=0000708&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2027337690&pubNum=0000708&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2027337690&pubNum=0000708&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
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MS. BROWN: We don't need a hearing at all if 
Your Honor agrees with us that the record be-
fore the Court establishes innocence under 
Schlup because that would then excuse the de-
fault on each and every claim that is defaulted. 

(Hrg. Tr. 8-9.) 

 In its response to this question, the state pointed 
out that under controlling precedent, the court first 
had to determine whether the new evidence Gable 
presented was reliable; because, based on the record, 
if it was not, the inquiry ended there and no hearing 
should be conducted. (Hrg. Tr. 16-19.) The court and 
the state's attorney then engaged in this exchange: 

MR. KALLSTROM: [W]e believe, on the exist-
ing record, the Court can find that these recan-
tations are not credible and that petitioner has 
failed to meet his burden under Schlup [v. De-
lo, 513 U.S. 298, 327, 115 S.Ct. 851, 130 
L.Ed.2d 808 (1995)]. 

THE COURT: If I find that petitioner has met 
his burden under Schlup, then do you agree or 
disagree that I can make my review on the ex-
isting record without a hearing? 

MR. KALLSTROM: Your review of the actual 
innocence? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

* * * * 

THE COURT: ... My point is I – I would like to 
get your response to the question I asked Ms. 
Brown of whether we need a hearing, an in-

https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1995033062&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_327&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)#co_pp_sp_780_327
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1995033062&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_327&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)#co_pp_sp_780_327
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1995033062&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_327&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)#co_pp_sp_780_327
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1995033062&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=I5cafb9b0630411e9a6438b9dc1ba0379&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
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court hearing, at all, or whether everything can 
be done on paper. 

MR. KALLSTROM: Our position is that – that 
you can find these recantations to be not credi-
ble on the existing record. 

(Hrg. Tr. 19, 21.) 

 Accordingly, the court then heard counsels' argu-
ments regarding the reliability of Gable's new evi-
dence and its effect, if any, that evidence would have 
on a reasonable jury.10  

DISCUSSION 

I. Colorable Claim of Actual Innocence to Ex-
cuse Procedural Default 

A. Legal Standards 

 A procedurally defaulted claim may be heard on 
the merits if the petitioner demonstrates that failure 
to consider the claim will result in a fundamental 
miscarriage of justice, meaning that “ ‘a constitution-
al violation has probably resulted in the conviction of 
someone who is actually innocent.’ ” Schlup, 513 U.S. 
at 327, 115 S.Ct. 851 (quoting Murray v. Carrier, 477 
U.S. 478, 496, 106 S.Ct. 2639, 91 L.Ed.2d 397 (1986) 
). In asserting actual innocence, a petitioner must 
“support his allegations of constitutional error with 
new reliable evidence – whether it be exculpatory sci-
entific evidence, trustworthy eyewitness accounts, or 

 
10 During the Hearing, Gable's attorneys illustrated portions of 
their analysis of the evidence with a Power Point presentation. 
(ECF No. 163 and attachments 1 and 2.) 
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critical physical evidence – that was not presented at 
trial.” Schlup, 513 U.S. at 324, 115 S.Ct. 851. 

 A court considering whether a petitioner has es-
tablished actual innocence in light of that “new relia-
ble evidence” must consider “all the evidence, old and 
new, incriminating and exculpatory, admissible at 
trial or not.” Lee v. Lampert, 653 F.3d 929, 938 (9th 
Cir. 2011) (en banc) (internal quotation marks omit-
ted). An actual innocence analysis “requires a holistic 
judgment about all the evidence and its likely effect 
on reasonable jurors applying the reasonable-doubt 
standard;” in other words, the federal court must 
“make a probabilistic determination about what rea-
sonable, properly instructed jurors would do.” House, 
547 U.S. at 538-39, 126 S.Ct. 2064 (internal quotation 
marks omitted). A court must assess the “likely im-
pact” of the new reliable evidence on “reasonable ju-
rors in light of the complete record.” Lee, 653 F.3d at 
945. 

 When evaluating a claim under Schlup, the court 
is not limited to considering only admissible evidence. 
Rather, “a habeas court must consider all the evi-
dence, old and new, incriminating and exculpatory, 
without regard to whether it would necessarily be 
admitted under rules of admissibility that would gov-
ern at trial.” House, 547 U.S. at 538, 126 S.Ct. 2064 
(quoting Schlup, 513 U.S. at 327, 115 S.Ct. 851). As 
Judge Kozinski explained in his dissenting opinion in 
Carriger v. Stewart, 132 F.3d 463, 485-86 (9th 
Cir.1997) (en banc), in evaluating a claim of actual 
innocence, a habeas court is required to posit a hypo-
thetical jury that is entitled to consider both admissi-
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ble and inadmissible evidence, so long as the inad-
missible evidence is reliable. 

 To apply the actual innocence exception, a court 
must conclude that, “in light of all of the evidence, ‘it 
is more likely than not that no reasonable juror would 
have found [the petitioner] guilty beyond a reasonable 
doubt.’ ” United States v. Avery, 719 F.3d 1080, 1083 
(9th Cir. 2013) (quoting Schlup, 513 U.S. at 327, 115 
S.Ct. 851). This is a particularly exacting standard, 
one that will be satisfied “only in the extraordinary 
case.” House, 547 U.S. at 538, 126 S.Ct. 2064 (inter-
nal quotation marks omitted). Indeed, cases where 
the Schlup standard has been satisfied have “typical-
ly involved dramatic new evidence of innocence.” 
Larsen v. Soto, 742 F.3d 1083, 1096 (9th Cir. 2013). 
However, because a Schlup claim is, by definition, ac-
companied by “an assertion of constitutional error at 
trial,” the petitioner's conviction “may not be entitled 
to the same degree of respect as one ... that is the 
product of an error-free trial.” Schlup, 513 U.S. at 
316, 115 S.Ct. 851. 

B. Analysis 

 Upon careful review of the voluminous record in 
this case and considering all of the evidence, both old 
and new and with due regard for its reliability, the 
court concludes that Gable has made a colorable 
showing of actual innocence sufficient to overcome his 
procedural default. Although the evidence presented 
at trial in 1991 resulted in a guilty verdict, the court 
concludes that it is more likely than not that no rea-
sonable juror would find Gable guilty in light of the 
totality of all of the evidence uncovered since that 
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time, particularly the newly presented evidence of 
witness recantations. 

 At the outset, the court recognizes that “[a]s a 
general matter, ‘recantation testimony is properly 
viewed with great suspicion.’ ” Jones v. Taylor, 763 
F.3d 1242, 1248 (9th Cir. 2014) (quoting Dobbert v. 
Wainwright, 468 U.S. 1231, 1233, 105 S.Ct. 34, 82 
L.Ed.2d 925 (1984) (Brennan, J., dissenting from de-
nial of certiorari) ); see also Herrera v. Collins, 506 
U.S. 390, 417, 113 S.Ct. 853, 122 L.Ed.2d 203 (1993) 
(explaining that “motions based solely upon affidavits 
are disfavored because the affiants' statements are 
obtained without the benefit of cross-examination and 
an opportunity to make credibility determinations). 

  In Jones, the Ninth Circuit found the petitioner 
did not meet Schlup's actual innocence standard be-
cause there was no evidence to corroborate the truth 
of the witness recantations. Moreover, the circum-
stances of the recantations persuaded the court that 
they were insufficient to prove the petitioner's inno-
cence. Specifically the recantations all came from the 
petitioner's family members, which reduced their 
weight and reliability, and all three witnesses came 
forward with changed stories at approximately the 
same time, and years after trial. Jones, 763 F.3d at 
1249. 

 The circumstances of the recantations here differ 
materially from the circumstances of the Jones recan-
tations. Here, none of the recanting witnesses are re-
lated to Gable, but instead were merely acquaintanc-
es of Gable in the drug and criminal world of Salem 
over two decades ago; they have no personal relation-
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ship with Gable today. To the contrary, many of the 
recanting witnesses had an antagonistic relationship 
with Gable at the time of their testimony, including 
Walker and Gesner, who both believed Gable's coop-
eration with police had led to their own arrests, and 
Childers, who claimed Gable owed him money. 

 Moreover, the recantations in this case did not all 
occur at the same time, long after trial, without ex-
planation, but occurred at different times following 
Francke's murder, and were accompanied by explana-
tions. Indeed, both Studer and Swearingen recanted 
their stories about Gable's involvement prior to trial. 
Witnesses said that Harden, Walker, and Keerins 
had also admitted prior to trial that their testimony 
against Gable would be false. Tr. 8543-50, 8563-66, 
8582-84, 8594-96, 8613-18, 8520-27. Although she did 
not testify at trial, Gesner's girlfriend told police be-
fore trial that Gesner admitted that he lied to police 
by implicating Gable. Pet. Exh. E, pp. 446-49. Walker 
provided a detailed recantation in the 1993 interview. 
Pet. Exh. A, p. 86. 

 Most of the various recantations also share a 
common theme: the use of similar coercive interroga-
tion tactics and polygraph examinations to secure 
their incriminating statements. Cappie Harden says, 
“The police questioned and polygraphed me many 
times[.] I initially told the truth, which was that I 
was not an eyewitness to the Francke murder. How-
ever, after the police threatened me and my family I 
eventually adopted the false story to which I testified 
at Grand Jury trial.” Pet. Exh. A, p. 9. 
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 In an affidavit prepared at the time of Gable's 
PCR proceedings (which she recently re-affirmed), 
Jody Swearingen describes being interviewed several 
hours at a time and being subjected to polygraph ex-
aminations one, two, and even three times a day. Pet. 
Exh. A, p. 23. She relates that during the polygraph 
tests, the police were “telling me which tests they felt 
were right and which were wrong.... I would tell them 
the truth and they would say I was lying. I told them 
what they wanted to hear, and they said that I was 
telling the truth when in fact it was lie.” Pet. Exh. A, 
p. 23. 

 Studer relates a similar experience. Despite his 
initial statement in September 1989 that Gable never 
told Studer he was involved in the murder, Oregon 
State Police continued to question Studer throughout 
October, November, and December of 1989, and again 
in Spring 1990. Pet. Exh. A, p. 30. As Studer de-
scribes it: 

During this time, the Oregon State Police ad-
ministered numerous polygraph examinations. 
It did not seem to matter what answers I gave. 
When I told the truth during the examinations 
(i.e., that [Gable] had never confessed to me), 
the examiner concluded that I was lying. It was 
not until I later changed my story to a lie im-
plicating [Gable] in the murder ... that the pol-
ygraph examiner concluded I was truthful. 

Pet. Exh. A, p. 30. 

 Daniel Walsh's affidavit reveals a similar experi-
ence. When first interviewed in September 1989, he 
states he truthfully told the investigators that Gable 
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never mentioned anything about the Francke murder 
to him. Pet. Exh. A, p. 80. However, in March 1990 
investigators subjected him to “several consecutive 
days of aggressive police questioning and several pol-
ygraphs.” Pet. Exh. A, pp. 80-81. Walsh's description 
of these examinations mirrors the other witnesses' 
descriptions: 

At first, when I tried to maintain my earlier 
true statements, the police yelled at me and 
said that I was lying and that the polygraph 
results showed I was lying. The police asked 
me questions about topics I knew nothing 
about. I felt that the police were trying to 
brainwash me. I felt extreme pressure to in-
criminate [Gable]. Eventually, I told the police 
what I thought they wanted me to say: that 
[Gable] had confessed to the details of the 
murder. 

Pet. Exh. A, p. 81. 

 Finally, Earl Childers says he “was pressed (or 
pressured) by Oregon State Police. They were angry 
when I wouldn't tell them what they wanted to hear 
and when I refused to take a polygraph.” Pet. Exh. A, 
p. 95. 

 These witnesses' descriptions of the tactics used 
during their respective interrogations and polygraphs 
not only parallel and support one another, they also 
raise a material question, according to Dr. Raskin, 
about the reliability of the results obtained through 
those tactics. Dr. Raskin analyzed the records of the 
police interrogations and concluded that the Task 
Force's concerted use of “guilt-presumptive” interro-
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gation practices, along with its improper use of poly-
graphs, was highly likely to, and did, produce false 
testimony. Pet. Exh. B, pp. 5-6. Dr. Raskin's opinion 
provides additional evidence to corroborate the truth 
of the witnesses' respective recantations. 

 Dr. Raskin identified the interrogation technique 
the Task Force employed as the “Reid Method,” which 
is designed to use psychological coercion to influence 
the witness's cost-benefit analysis. Pet. Exh. B, pp. 5-
6. The technique applies stress and pressure to the 
witness “to weaken the [person's] resistance [to con-
fession] by increasing the anxiety associated with de-
nial and reducing the anxiety associated with confes-
sion.” Pet. Exh. B, p. 5. Such “[c]oercive interrogation 
techniques increase the likelihood of eliciting false 
information from a subject.” Pet. Exh. B, p. 5. The 
same processes also can be expected to produce false 
testimony by incentivizing witnesses. Pet. Ex. B, p. 8. 

 Dr. Raskin also reviewed the polygraph examina-
tions administered in the case. First, Dr. Raskin not-
ed that most of the polygraph examinations described 
in the reports he reviewed employed test protocols 
that have been shown to be invalid or are not ap-
proved by the American Polygraph Association and 
the Federal Government. Pet. Exh. B, p. 4. These in-
cluded the “Yes-No” protocols where the examinee 
answers the same question twice, one time ‘Yes’ and 
the other time ‘No[,]’ ” the Statement Verification pro-
tocol “where the examinee made a statement and was 
tested on the truthfulness of the statement[,]” the 
Reid General Series protocol or Relevant-Irrelevant 
Test, which includes only relevant and irrelevant 
questions but no comparison questions, and the Peak-
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of-Tension test where the examinee “is asked a ques-
tion and presented with a series of alternative an-
swers ... [t]he examiner tries to determine the correct 
alternative by looking for the item with the strongest 
polygraph reaction.” Pet. Exh. B, p. 4. 

 In addition to the use of invalid test protocols gen-
erally, Dr. Raskin's review also identified four serious 
problems with the administration of the individual 
examinations which increased the risk of error. First, 
“[a] polygraph should not be conducted if the subject 
has been interrogated that day, including if the sub-
ject is interrogated during the pre-test.” Pet. Exh. B, 
p. 5. Second, “[i]f an examiner confronts the examinee 
and accuses the examinee of lying, the examiner is no 
longer acting as an objective professional, but rather 
as an adversary. This tends to make examinees be-
lieve they are not being treated fairly ... [and] [a] dif-
ferent examiner should conduct any additional test-
ing.” Pet. Exh. B, p. 5. Third, “[t]he more a person is 
tested, the less reliable are the results of the repeated 
testing.” Pet. Exh. B, p. 5. Fourth, “[r]epeated testing 
of the same individual combined with confrontations 
and interrogations increases the risk that the person 
will provide a statement that the person feels the ex-
aminer wants to hear, even if it is not accurate.” Pet. 
Exh. B, p. 5. 

 Applying these principles here, Dr. Raskin noted 
that each of the material witnesses was polygraphed 
multiple times in a single day or multiple times over 
the course of several days. Pet. Exh. B, p. 11 n.19. In-
vestigators polygraphed Swearingen twice in one day 
on six different occasions, and three times in a single 
day on a separate occasion; and during one period of 



106a 

 

time ten times in five days, and on two other occa-
sions three times over course of two days. Pet. Exh. B, 
pp. 11-12 n.19. Investigators polygraphed Gesner and 
Studer three times each in a single day, and Walsh, 
Childers, Keerins, and Harden twice in a single day. 
Pet. Exh. B, p. 12 n.19. At one point, Harden took 
four polygraphs over the course of five days. 

 Specifically as to Swearingen, Dr. Raskin noted 
that investigators gave her 23 polygraphs in 12 sepa-
rate sessions, and that she was “administered multi-
ple polygraphs on at least 7 different days.” Pet. Exh. 
B, p. 12. On numerous occasions, investigators “con-
fronted” her with supposed defective responses. Pet. 
Exh. B, p. 12. For example, Swearingen was pol-
ygraphed nine times by Detective Ackom between 
January 16 and 19, 1990. Pet. Exh. B, p. 12. Ackom 
confronted her, telling her that she was lying and 
that he “knew” the truth about certain facts, such as 
when and how she arrived in Salem on the day of the 
murder, and that she was at the Dome Building. Dr. 
Raskin explains the difficulty with this technique: 

These “known” facts appear to have resulted 
from Ackom's reliance on flawed polygraphs. 
First, Ackom stated that an earlier “confirma-
tory [polygraph] test showed that the subject 
[Swearingen] was, in fact, an eye witness to the 
murder.” Even putting aside that the test was 
invalid, it is unethical for an examiner to state 
that a confirmatory polygraph test establishes 
a fact. Second, Ackom's belief in how and when 
Swearingen arrived in Salem were based on 
two Peak of Tension tests that were used as if 
they were so-called “silver bullets” that could 
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establish the truth of collateral details. No 
competent examiner would rely on the accura-
cy of such tests. Despite her earlier statements 
to the contrary, Swearingen eventually adopted 
Ackom's version of these events. Further poly-
graphs and interviews with Swearingen ap-
peared to have been directed at conforming the 
details of her statements to match those being 
elicited from Cappie Harden. 

Pet. Exh. B, p. 12. 

 With regard to the number of times Swearingen 
was polygraphed, Dr. Raskin states, “I have never 
seen this many tests administered to one person in 
the 43 years I have been working in this field.” Pet. 
Exh. B, p. 15. Dr. Raskin opined that the pattern of 
interrogation and confrontation combined with the 
sheer number of tests would have produced flawed 
polygraph results for Swearingen. Pet. Exh. B, p. 15. 
“The more a person is [polygraph] tested, the less re-
liable are the results of the repeated testing.” Pet. 
Exh. B, p. 15. 

 Dr. Raskin described similar flaws in the poly-
graph examinations of the other witnesses. During 
his first two polygraphs, Gesner denied any 
knowledge about the Francke murder or that Gable 
had confessed to him. Pet. Exh. B, p. 12. Dr. Raskin 
explains that once Ackom “confronted” Gesner with 
polygraph results suggesting Gesner was at the scene 
of the crime and participated directly in killing 
Francke, Gesner changed his story and claimed Gable 
confessed to him. Pet. Exh. B, p. 12. Gesner changed 
his story and claimed Gable had confessed, but con-
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tinued to deny any other involvement. Pet. Exh. B, p. 
12. Ackom polygraphed Gesner again and confronted 
him about being deceptive about helping Gable dis-
pose of evidence, to which Gesner responded that he 
had verbally told Gable how to dispose of clothing and 
a gun, but didn't participate personally. Pet. Exh. B, 
p. 12-13. Finally, after another polygraph followed by 
Ackom confronting again, Gesner said that Gable had 
given him a bag of evidence which Gesner threw off a 
bridge into the Willamette River. Pet. Exh. B, p. 13.11  

Dr. Raskin concluded that the polygraph testing 
procedures the investigators used were “fundamental-
ly and seriously flawed.” Pet. Exh. B, p. 16. Coercive 
interrogation tactics exacerbated these problems and, 
as a result, “the unethical and flawed polygraph test-
ing procedures combined with improper and coercive 
interrogations appear to have provided the means to 
shape their statements in order to obtain false testi-
mony from the examinees.” Pet. Exh. B, p. 16. 

 The witnesses' recantations are further supported 
by other evidence in the record. As Gable's lawyers 
pointed out at the Hearing, Harden and Swearingen 
both claimed to have been at the scene together and 
witnessed Francke's murder, but their respective ac-
counts of the altercation significantly conflicted. For 
example, they could not agree whether they were to-
gether in Harden's car or separate at the time of the 
altercation (compare Tr. 8065-68 with Tr. 9329, 9367-

 
11 Dr. Raskin also discusses how other witnesses – Harden, Stu-
der, Walker, and Walsh – all changed their statements after 
they each experienced similar polygraphing techniques and con-
frontations. Pet. Exh. B, pp. 12-14. 
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69), and could not agree on where they went after 
witnessing the altercation (compare Tr. 8071 (the two 
went to Harden's house) with Tr. 9340-41, 9367 (the 
two went to the Hyacinth house)). 

 Both Harden's and Swearingen's accounts con-
flicted with Wayne Hunsaker's testimony, the only 
witness the investigators interviewed who appeared 
to be objective and unbiased, because he did not know 
Gable or any of the other witnesses. For example, 
Harden said that from his car, he saw the assault oc-
cur directly next to Francke's car and described see-
ing Gable lunge out of the car at Francke; Hunsaker 
did not see Harden's car or any other car near the al-
tercation. Tr. 6989, 8070. Hunsaker testified that 
other than the two men he described (Francke and 
his assailant), Hunsaker did not see anyone else in 
the area. Tr. 6898, 9169-70, 9173-94. 

 If Harden's trial testimony is credited, Gable 
would have run from the scene directly past Harden's 
blue Mustang as Harden attempted to hot-wire the 
car to start it, yet Hunsaker makes no mention of see-
ing or hearing the Mustang driving out of the parking 
lot as he watched the assailant flee. Tr. 8070. Simi-
larly, from her location as a “look-out” on the OSH 
grounds, Swearingen's testimony would have her 
running past the altercation to get to Harden's car, 
yet she makes no mention of having done this and, 
again, Hunsaker testified he did not see anyone 
else.12  

 
12 At the Hearing, Gable's lawyers used a Power Point presenta-
tion that included diagrams of the OSH grounds, and which vis-
ually illustrated and compared Hunsaker's, Harden's, Crouse's, 
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 Finally, there is the matter of the evidence of 
third-party guilt. Specifically, the investigators' in-
terview of John Lee Crouse on April 5, 2019, less than 
three months after the murder. As described above, 
Crouse's detailed account of his altercation with 
Francke is notable for its specificity and because, 
where the record exists to corroborate it, his account 
is consistent with the physical evidence, Hunsaker 
and other witnesses' testimony, and Francke's physi-
cal characteristics. 

 For example, Crouse explained he decided to bur-
gle a car, which turned out to be Francke's, when he 
walked by and “saw stuff in it.” Francke's car in fact 
contained many items at that time. State workers 
who walked by Francke's car after the altercation had 
occurred testified they saw the car door standing 
open, and inside were clothes, books, and other things 
“strewn” in the back, as well as a car phone mounted 
on the dash in the vehicle. 

 Crouse also described the altercation in detail, in-
cluding how he used the knife, where on Francke's 
body he stabbed Francke, how he did it, and the angle 
at which he stabbed Francke. Crouse recalled striking 
Francke with the knife in the arm and chest, a de-
scription consistent with the knife wounds Francke 
suffered. Crouse also said he hit Francke a “round 
house” punch with his right hand to the left side of 
Francke's face, an act that corresponds to the abra-

 
 
and Swearingen's positions at the time of the murder, according 
to their respective accounts. See ECF Nos. 163-1, pp. 6-20, 23-35; 
163-2, pp. 1-34. 
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sions on Francke's left occipital region and forehead, 
abrasions that remained unexplained at trial. 

 Crouse also gave a reasonably accurate physical 
description of Francke. He described the individual 
he encountered as 6' to 6'3” tall and about 170 
pounds, which is consistent with Francke's actual 
height and weight of 6'3”, 200 to 210 pounds. Crouse 
also described Francke's apparent – and surprising to 
Crouse – strength, which Crouse cites as the reason 
he ultimately decided to pull out his knife. Crouse de-
scribes Francke punching him with enough force that 
he almost knocked out Crouse, an amount of strength 
consistent with other witnesses' descriptions of 
Francke's physical characteristics. Finally, the route 
Crouse said he took to leave the scene after the alter-
cation matches the precise route Hunsaker saw one of 
the individuals take, including down to the detail of 
running down the driveway to a point near a large 
generator. 

 There is no evidence in the record that Crouse had 
any connection whatsoever with Gable, Swearingen, 
Harden, or any other member of the group of Gable's 
acquaintances. Yet, less than three months after 
Francke's murder, before any witness accounts 
emerged which described the altercation, Crouse 
knew a plethora of physical details about events im-
mediately before, during, and immediately following 
the altercation that he could not have known unless 
he killed Francke. 

 The court recognizes that, like many other wit-
nesses in this case, Crouse gave conflicting stories 
and ultimately recanted his confession to investiga-
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tors, but at least four facts support the reliability of 
Crouse's confession. First, the investigator's contem-
poraneous notes taken of Crouse's interview indicate 
that, unlike with the other stories he related about 
the incident, when Crouse confessed about the at-
tempted car break-in and ensuing altercation he ap-
peared “spontaneous and smoothly spoken[,]” and 
“had no hesitation in answering questions, as he did 
in earlier statements,” which had appeared to be un-
truthful. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 79. Second, the only neu-
tral polygrapher to examine Crouse found him not de-
ceptive in answering “no” when asked whether he lied 
to police about stabbing Francke. Resp. Exh. 179, p. 
10-12. Third, in an April 5, 1989, telephone call to his 
brother, Crouse confessed to having killed Francke 
and described how the altercation unfolded, con-
sistent with his April 5, 1989 confession to Martinak. 
Resp. Exh. 179, p. 76. Fourth, Crouse admitted to the 
murder on five separate occasions to four different 
people in April 1989: once to Martinak on April 4, 
once to Martinak on April 5, once to his brother on 
April 5, once to Martinak and Pecyna on April 13, and 
once to the FBI polygraph examiner on April 19. 
Resp. Exh. 179, p. 10-12. 

 In sum, upon consideration of all of the evidence, 
both old and new, and with due regard to its reliabil-
ity, the court concludes that Gable has made a color-
able showing of actual innocence sufficient to excuse 
procedural default. In light of the totality of the evi-
dence, including the newly presented evidence, the 
court concludes it is more likely than not that no rea-
sonable juror would find Gable guilty beyond a rea-
sonable doubt of the crimes charged. Having reached 
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this conclusion, the court considers Gable's underly-
ing constitutional claims. 

II. Exclusion of Evidence of Third-Party Guilt 

Gable alleges the trial court violated his rights 
under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments 
to the United States Constitution by excluding evi-
dence of third-party guilt. Gable further alleges he 
was denied the effective assistance of trial counsel 
under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments when 
his trial attorneys failed to present legal support, in-
cluding citation to federal law, in support of admit-
ting evidence of third-party guilt. 

 Because the two issues are inextricably inter-
twined, and because of the procedural posture of the 
claims, the court considers them together. Moreover, 
because neither claim has been adjudicated on the 
merits in state court, review in this court is de novo. 
Dickens v. Ryan, 740 F.3d 1302, 1321 (9th Cir. 2014) 
(en banc). 

A. The State Court Proceedings 

 At trial, Gable sought to admit the hearsay state-
ments of Crouse admitting to the murder as state-
ments against Crouse's penal interest. To do so under 
Oregon evidence rules, Gable had the burden of 
demonstrating, inter alia, that Crouse was “unavaila-
ble” to testify and that “corroborating circumstances 
clearly indicate[d] the trustworthiness of [Crouse's] 
statements.” Or. Ev. C. 804(3)(c). 

 During trial, in response to the state's motion in 
limine, the court held a Rule 104 hearing outside the 
presence of the jury to determine the relevancy and 
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admissibility of the Crouse evidence. The defense 
called Crouse to the stand and asked, first, whether 
Crouse was represented by an attorney and whether 
the attorney was present at the hearing. Tr. 9487. 
Crouse answered affirmatively to both questions. Tr. 
9487. Defendant Counsel then asked, “In [sic] Janu-
ary 17, 1989, did you kill Michael Francke?” Tr. 9487. 
Crouse answered, “No.” Tr. 9847. Defense counsel 
then asked a series of questions, including whether 
Crouse had been on the OSH grounds near the Dome 
Building on January 17, 1989; whether on April 4, 
1989, Crouse admitted to Pecyna and Martinak that 
he murdered Francke; and about the details of his 
confessions. Tr. 9487-89. In response to each of these 
questions, Crouse invoked his Fifth Amendment priv-
ilege against self-incrimination. Tr. 9487-89. 

 In light of Crouse’s invocation of his Fifth 
Amendment privilege, defense counsel requested that 
Crouse be declared “unavailable” as a witness. The 
state apparently had been prepared to stipulate to 
Crouse's unavailability, but Crouse's answer to de-
fense counsel's first question changed the state's posi-
tion. Tr. 9489-90. The state argued that Crouse, in 
fact, was “available” to testify because he responded 
“no” when asked whether he had killed Francke. 

 Both Crouse’s attorney and Gable's defense coun-
sel argued that Crouse did not understand defense 
counsel's first question and intended to invoke the 
Fifth Amendment from the outset. Tr. 9490-91. In 
fact, Crouse's attorney stated that Crouse had “in-
tended to invoke his Fifth Amendment rights to that 
[initial] question and would invoke his Fifth Amend-
ment rights in front of the jury.” Tr. 9492. The trial 
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court rejected the argument, stating they could not 
“go back to un-ringing the bell” and that “if [Crouse] 
were to be called as a witness sometime before this 
trial ends and he were to attempt to invoke his Fifth 
Amendment to the same question that he has an-
swered here this morning, I would tell him that he 
cannot do that. I would tell him to answer the ques-
tion. He has previously answered it under oath.” Tr. 
9497, 9505. The trial court concluded by observing: 
“[Crouse] knew what the question was, and he an-
swered it. He didn't invoke his Fifth Amendment 
privilege.” Tr. 9500. Thus, as to the subject matter of 
the hearsay statements that defense counsel sought 
to admit (i.e., whether Crouse had murdered 
Francke), the trial court found Crouse was “available” 
to testify. Tr. 9511. 

 The state, apparently in an attempt to prevent 
Gable's or Crouse's respective lawyers from introduc-
ing Crouse's confession for any purpose, first argued 
that because Crouse not only was “available” to testi-
fy and denied killing Francke, any evidence the de-
fense offered to challenge that denial could be admit-
ted only for impeachment purposes, and could not be 
considered by the jury substantively. Tr. 9493. The 
state then argued that, in light of Crouse's denial that 
he killed Francke, impeachment evidence would be 
irrelevant in any event: 

The bottom line is [Crouse] said in this court-
room this morning under oath he did not kill 
Mr. Francke, and if [defense counsel] wants to 
go down the road in some way trying to elicit 
these other statements that he is taking the 
Fifth on, I suppose he can persue [sic] that 
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route. But the state's position at that point is 
basically that they're impeachment. Because 
they are impeachment, they are not substan-
tive. Because they're not substantive, the jury 
cannot rely on them as substantive evidence 
and, therefore, this man has basically told this 
Court today under oath what he told the Grand 
Jury under oath which is he – I did not kill Mi-
chael Francke, therefore, his testimony in this 
proceeding is irrelevant.13  

Tr. 9495. 

 The defense responded that for two reasons the 
Crouse confession should be admitted as impeach-
ment evidence. First, as to Crouse's denial that he 
killed Francke, the defense should be “entitled to im-
peach with inconsistent statements.” Tr. 9498. Sec-
ond, as to any of the other questions Crouse refused 
to answer based on privilege, he should be considered 
“unavailable” as to those issues. 

 The trial court initially agreed with defense coun-
sel that Gable was “entitled to present” through po-
lice officer witnesses evidence of Crouse's confessions, 
to allow the jury to determine whether Crouse told 
the truth or lied when he denied killing Francke: 

I think you're entitled to do that through other 
witnesses. But if [Crouse] wants to invoke his 
privilege, I think given the spectrum of perjury 

 
13 Defense counsel objected to the prosecutor's characterization 
of Crouse's testimony before the grand jury because the grand 
jury proceedings were secret and not part of the record before 
the court. 
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in unsworn statements, hindering prosecution, 
all of those kind of things, I have to allow him 
to invoke his Fifth Amendment privilege if he 
cares to do that.... Certainly you can put that 
on by way of impeachment and the jury is go-
ing to hear it, but not as substantive evidence. 

If I understand this Rule correctly, they're go-
ing to hear it and they can use all of that in de-
termining if he is telling the truth or not if he 
answers that question in front of them. 

Tr. 9502-03. 

 The state then renewed its argument that because 
Crouse now denied he murdered Francke, that denial 
rendered irrelevant any evidence of third-party guilt: 

THE PROSECUTOR: Basically, if [Crouse] is 
testifying as he did today under oath and as he 
has in the past under oath, that he did not kill 
Michael Francke, it's not relevant evidence to 
go to the jury because if you allow the Court or 
allow [defense counsel] to impeach, the jury 
cannot rely on that impeachment as substan-
tive evidence. The trier of fact cannot rely on 
that as substantive evidence to render a verdict 
in this case, therefore, you have somebody tes-
tifying I did not kill Michael Francke, it's not 
relevant to the – these proceedings and, there-
fore, not admissible. 

THE COURT: I want to get back to that as a 
threshold issue. you're suggesting that even 
calling him as a witness and putting him on 
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the stand, if he answers that question the same 
that the answer is today, it's not relevant? 

THE PROSECUTOR: That's my position. 

THE COURT: So we never get to all of the rest 
of the issues because you can't impeach what 
he doesn't testify? 

THE PROSECUTOR: Exactly. 

Tr. 9508-09. 

 The trial court adopted the state's reasoning and 
excluded all evidence related to Crouse, stating: 

I think the first thing that I have to rule on is 
whether or not Mr. Crouse is available or not 
based on Rule – the 104 Rule hearing we had 
yesterday morning. And given his answer to 
the first question that he was asked, I find that 
he is available as a witness. 

Thereafter, having found that based again on 
the evidence at the hearing the answer to the 
question that he was asked would be irrelevant 
to this jury. Given that I find that the answer 
is irrelevant, there won't be any testimony to 
be presented to the jury so there won't be any 
need to impeach his testimony, he didn't give 
any testimony to the jury, the trier of the fact. 

Tr. 9511. As noted previously, Gable asserted on di-
rect appeal a claim that the trial court erred in ex-
cluding the Crouse evidence. This argument, howev-
er, relied only on state law. 
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B. Analysis 

 The Sixth Amendment to the United States Con-
stitution guarantees the right of a criminal defendant 
to have a public trial, to confront witnesses against 
him, and to obtain witnesses in his favor. Lunberry v. 
Hornbeak, 605 F.3d 754, 760 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 
562 U.S. 1102, 131 S.Ct. 798, 178 L.Ed.2d 545 (2010). 
These guarantees are incorporated by the Due Pro-
cess Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, binding 
the states. Id. The process due under the Fourteenth 
Amendment includes a right to “ ‘a meaningful oppor-
tunity to present a complete defense.’ ” Crane v. Ken-
tucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690, 106 S.Ct. 2142, 90 L.Ed.2d 
636 (1986) (quoting California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 
479, 485, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984) ). 
That constitutional right may be violated by the ex-
clusion of probative admissible evidence that another 
person may have committed the crime. Chambers v. 
Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302-03, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 
L.Ed.2d 297 (1973). 

 In Chambers, the defendant sought to introduce 
the testimony of three different third-parties who 
would testify that another man had confessed to 
committing the murder of which the defendant had 
been accused. Id. at 298, 93 S.Ct. 1038. The trial 
court ruled the evidence inadmissible. Id. at 289-93, 
93 S.Ct. 1038. The Mississippi Supreme Court upheld 
the exclusion of the evidence because it was hearsay 
and not subject to exception under state evidentiary 
rules which, at that time, recognized only declara-
tions against pecuniary interest, not penal interest. 
Id. 
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 The Supreme Court determined that “under the 
facts and circumstances” of that case, exclusion of the 
evidence violated Chambers's constitutional rights. 
Id. at 303, 93 S.Ct. 1038. Stating that “[f]ew rights 
are more fundamental than that of an accused to pre-
sent witnesses in his own defense,” the Supreme 
Court noted that the rejected testimony “bore persua-
sive assurances of trustworthiness” and that the “tes-
timony also was critical to Chambers' defense.” Id. at 
302, 93 S.Ct. 1038. The Court concluded that “[i]n 
these circumstances, where constitutional rights di-
rectly affecting the ascertainment of guilt are impli-
cated, the hearsay rule may not be applied mechanis-
tically to defeat the ends of justice.” Id. 

 In Green v. Georgia, 442 U.S. 95, 96, 99 S.Ct. 
2150, 60 L.Ed.2d 738 (1979), during the penalty 
phase of a capital casethe trial court excluded as 
hearsay a third-party account of a confession from a 
co-defendant. The Supreme Court held that, 
“[r]egardless of whether the proffered testimony 
comes within Georgia's hearsay rule, under the facts 
of this case its exclusion constituted a violation of the 
Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.” 
Id. at 97, 99 S.Ct. 2150. The Court explained that 
“[t]he excluded testimony was highly relevant to a 
critical issue in the punishment phase of the trial, 
and substantial reasons existed to assume its reliabil-
ity.” Id. (citation omitted). Accordingly, the Supreme 
Court held the exclusion of the evidence denied the 
defendant a fair trial. Id. 

 The Ninth Circuit has applied the reasoning of the 
Chambers and Green decisions to grant habeas relief 
in similar situations. In Lunbery, a woman was pros-
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ecuted for her husband's murder and sought to intro-
duce evidence that the murder in fact had been com-
mitted by the partners of a drug dealer who previous-
ly lived in the couple's home. Lunbery, 605 F.3d at 
758. The trial court excluded testimony supporting 
the woman's claim, finding that evidence inadmissa-
ble hearsay without “sufficient indicia of reliability,” 
and “prejudicial to the prosecution with only slight 
probative value.” Lunbery v. Hornbeak, No. CIV S-07-
1279, 2008 WL 4851858, at *17-18 (E.D. Cal. Nov. 10, 
2008). 

  On appeal, the Ninth Circuit reversed. It held that 
“by the exclusion of probative admissible evidence 
that another person may have committed the crime,” 
the trial court violated the defendant's right to pre-
sent a defense. Lunberry, 605 F.3d at 760. The court 
noted that, “[a]s in Chambers, the excluded testimony 
here ‘bore persuasive assurances of trustworthiness’ 
and ‘was critical to [the defendant's] defense.” Id. at 
761. 

 Likewise, in Cudjo v. Ayers, 698 F.3d 752 (9th Cir. 
2012), cert. denied, 569 U.S. 1013, 133 S.Ct. 2735, 186 
L.Ed.2d 208 (2013), the Ninth Circuit found the trial 
court violated the defendant's right to present an ad-
equate defense when it excluded evidence that anoth-
er person committed the murder for which the de-
fendant was charged. In Cudjo, the petitioner sought 
to present evidence that his brother was the true cul-
prit, having confessed to a fellow inmate while incar-
cerated. Id. at 755-56. Because the brother invoked 
his privilege against self-incrimination, Cudjo at-
tempted to call the inmate to testify about the broth-
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er's purported confession, but the state court excluded 
the testimony. Id. 

 The Ninth Court noted in Cudjo that, as in Cham-
bers, Green, and Lunbery, the evidence at trial point-
ed to a single person committing murder, and the is-
sue of the case was the identity of the murderer. Id. 
at 765. The petitioner in Cudjo “ ‘endeavored to de-
velop two grounds of defense’: that he did not kill the 
victim, but that an identifiable other person did.” Id. 
(quoting Chambers, 410 U.S. at 288-89, 93 S.Ct. 
1038). The Ninth Circuit concluded that the exclusion 
of the confession, which the California Supreme 
Court had determined was probably true and had oc-
curred under circumstances providing substantial as-
surances that the confession was trustworthy, violat-
ed the petitioner's right to present an adequate de-
fense.14 Id. 

 As did the evidence in Chambers, Green, Lunbery, 
and Cudjo, in this case the evidence at trial pointed to 
a single person, Gable. As did the petitioners in 
Chambers, Green, Lunbery, and Cudjo, in this case 
Gable endeavored to develop the same two grounds of 
defense: that he did not kill Francke but that an iden-
tifiable other person did. As did the identifiable other 
persons in Chambers, Green, Lunbery, and Cudjo, in 
this case the identifiable other person, Crouse, had 
previously confessed to the crime – and not merely 
once, but four separate times on four different days 
during a two-week period. As did the trial courts in 

 
14 The California Supreme Court held that the trial court erred 
in excluding the evidence, but that the error was harmless be-
cause no prejudice occurred. Cudjo, 698 F.3d at 759. 
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Chambers, Green, Lunbery, and Cudjo, in this case 
the trial court's application of state hearsay rules 
prevented Gable from presenting evidence of Crouse's 
confession. 

 Further, as in both Chambers and Lunbery, and 
viewed within the actual innocence framework set 
forth above, Crouse's statements “bore persuasive as-
surances of trustworthiness”: he made them multiple 
times shortly after the murder, he made them to dif-
ferent people and in different contexts and circum-
stances, and other evidence in the case corroborated 
his self-incriminating statements.15 The excluded evi-
dence was critical to Gable's defense because Gable 
sought to undermine the state's single-person ap-
proach by offering reliable evidence of an identifiable 
other person who murdered Francke. Here, much as 
the court in Lunbery concluded, “[t]he murder called 
out for a murderer. The trial as conducted ... left only 
[the defendant] in view as the murderer.” Lunbery, 
605 F.3d at 762. In Lunbery, the court noted that 
“[a]n accused does not have an ‘unfettered right’ to 
present any evidence he or she wishes.” Id. at 762 
(quoting Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 410, 108 
S.Ct. 646, 98 L.Ed.2d 798 (1988) ). “However, as 

 
15 The court acknowledges that Crouse's multiple confessions 
were not without contradictions and that, as did the third-party 
in Chambers, Crouse eventually recanted his confessions. More-
over, some of the specific details of Crouse's confession appear to 
contradict some witness testimony, physical evidence, and even 
Crouse's own claims. However, such inaccuracies or inconsisten-
cies do not negate the validity of the trustworthiness analysis 
here. See, e.g., Cudjo, 698 F.3d at 763 (alleged confession includ-
ed details of the killing that were directly at odds with known 
facts that victim had been hogtied before being beaten to death). 
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Chambers teaches, depending on the facts and cir-
cumstances of the case, at times a state's rules of evi-
dence cannot be mechanistically applied and must 
yield in favor of due process and the right to a fair 
trial.” Id. (citing Chambers, 410 U.S. at 302, 93 S.Ct. 
1038). 

 Here, the trial court's mechanistic application of 
the Oregon Rules of Evidence denied Gable his feder-
al constitutional right to present a defense. Having 
determined such, the court must determine whether 
the constitutional error was harmless. Cudjo, 698 
F.3d at 768; but see Chambers, 410 U.S. at 302-303, 
93 S.Ct. 1038 (question whether the evidence at issue 
was “critical” also answered the question whether the 
defendant was prejudiced). 

 In federal habeas corpus proceedings, a harmless 
error analysis “requires federal courts to determine 
‘whether the error had substantial and injurious ef-
fect or influence in determining the jury's verdict.’ ” 
Cudjo, 698 F.3d at 768 (quoting Brecht v. Abraham-
son, 507 U.S. 619, 637, 113 S.Ct. 1710, 123 L.Ed.2d 
353 (1993) ). “Under this analysis, when ‘the record is 
so evenly balanced that a conscientious judge is in 
grave doubt as to the harmlessness of an error ... the 
petitioner must win.” Id. (quoting O'Neal v. 
McAninch, 513 U.S. 432, 437, 115 S.Ct. 992, 130 
L.Ed.2d 947 (1995) ). Here, Gable has demonstrated 
that the exclusion of Crouse's statements had a sub-
stantial and injurious effect or influence in determin-
ing the jury's verdict: evidence of Crouse's confession 
“would have filled a major gap in the defense case, 
and would have greatly increased the likelihood of the 
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jury's entertaining a reasonable doubt of [Gable']s 
guilt.” Cudjo, 698 F.3d at 769 (citation omitted). 

  Accordingly, Gable is entitled to habeas corpus re-
lief on his claim that the trial court erred in excluding 
evidence of third-party guilt, and on his claim that 
trial counsel was ineffective in failing to present ap-
propriate legal support, including citation to federal 
law, in support of the admission of evidence of third 
party guilt. 

III. Excuse of Procedural Default Under Mar-
tinez 

 In the alternative to his argument that actual in-
nocence excuses his procedural default in general, 
Gable also argues in particular that the procedural 
default of his ineffective assistance of trial counsel 
claim for failure to assert Gable's rights under Cham-
bers is excused pursuant to Martinez v. Ryan, 556 
U.S. 1, 129 S.Ct. 1231, 173 L.Ed.2d 173 (2012). 

A. Legal Standards 

 In Martinez, the Supreme Court held that the ab-
sence or ineffective assistance of counsel at an initial-
review collateral proceeding may establish cause to 
excuse a petitioner's procedural default of substantial 
claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Mar-
tinez, 556 U.S. at 14, 129 S.Ct. 1231; Rodney v. Fil-
son, 916 F.3d 1254, 1259 (9th Cir. 2019). To excuse a 
procedural default under Martinez, a petitioner must 
establish: “(1) that his ineffective-assistance-of-trial-
counsel claim is ‘substantial’; (2) that he had no coun-
sel during his state collateral review proceeding or 
that his counsel during that proceeding was ineffec-
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tive under the standards of Strickland v. Washington, 
466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); 
(3) that ‘the state collateral review proceeding was 
the “initial” review proceeding in respect to the “inef-
fective-assistance-of-trial-counsel-claim’ ”; and (4) 
that state law requires ineffective-assistance-of-trial-
counsel claims to be raised in initial-review collateral 
proceedings.’ ” Filson, 916 F.3d at 1259 (quoting Tre-
vino v. Thaler, 569 U.S. 413, 423, 133 S.Ct. 1911, 185 
L.Ed.2d 1044 (2013) ) (additional citations omitted). 

 To show that his claims are “substantial” under 
Martinez, a petitioner must demonstrate that they 
have “some merit.” Martinez, 566 U.S. at 14, 132 
S.Ct. 1309. The Court in Martinez defined “substanti-
ality” by referring to the established standard for is-
suing a certificate of appealability: “a petitioner must 
show that reasonable jurists could debate whether (or 
for that matter, agree that) the petition should have 
been resolved in a different manner or that the issues 
presented were adequate to deserve encouragement 
to proceed further.” Miller-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 
322, 336, 123 S.Ct. 1029, 154 L.Ed.2d 931 (2003). 
“Thus, to determine whether a claim is substantial, 
Martinez requires the district court to review but not 
determine whether trial or appellate counsel's acts or 
omissions resulted in deficient performance and in a 
reasonable probability of prejudice, and to determine 
only whether resolution of the merits of the IAC claim 
would be debatable among jurists of reason and 
whether the issues are deserving enough to encour-
age further pursuit of them.” Northrup v. Blades, 
Case No. 1:14-cv-00371-CWD, 2015 WL 5273261, at 
*7 (D. Idaho Sept. 9, 2015) (emphasis in original). 
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  The Strickland standard requires a showing of 
both deficient performance and prejudice. Strickland, 
466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052. To establish deficient 
performance, a petitioner “must show that counsel's 
representation fell below an objective standard of rea-
sonableness ... under prevailing professional norms.” 
Id. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052. To establish prejudice, a 
petitioner must “show that there is a reasonable 
probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional er-
rors, the result of the proceeding would have been dif-
ferent.” Id. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “A reasonable 
probability is a probability sufficient to undermine 
confidence in the outcome.” Id. 

 “[A] district court may take evidence to the extent 
necessary to determine whether the petitioner's claim 
of ineffective assistance of trial counsel is substantial 
under Martinez.”. Dickens, 740 F.3d at 1321. As de-
scribed by the Ninth Circuit in Filson, “[b]ecause 
Martinez requires a showing that post-conviction 
counsel was ineffective under the standards of Strick-
land, a petitioner who was represented by post-
conviction counsel in his initial-review collateral pro-
ceeding must show not only that his procedurally de-
faulted trial-level IAC claim is substantial but also 
that there is ‘a reasonable probability that the trial-
level IAC claim would have succeeded had it been 
raised’ by post conviction counsel.” Filson, 916 F.3d at 
1260 (citing Runningeagle v. Ryan, 825 F.3d 970, 982 
(9th Cir. 2016), cert. denied, ––– U.S. ––––, 137 S.Ct. 
1439, 197 L.Ed.2d 653 (2017) ). Moreover, “[t]o 
demonstrate that there was a reasonable probability 
that, absent the deficient performance, the result of 
the post-conviction proceedings would have been dif-
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ferent, it will generally be necessary to look through 
to what happened at the trial stage.” Clabourne v. 
Ryan, 745 F.3d 362, 377-78 (9th Cir. 2014), overruled 
on other grds by McKinney v. Ryan, 813 F.3d 798 (9th 
Cir. 2015); see also Detrich v. Ryan, 740 F.3d 1237, 
1246 (9th Cir. 2013) (plurality opinion noted that 
Martinez recognized that “determining whether there 
has been ineffective assistance of counsel often re-
quires factual development in a collateral proceed-
ing”). 

B. Analysis 

 Here, the parties do not dispute that in Oregon, 
post-conviction review is the initial review proceeding 
for any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, that 
in the state PCR proceeding Gable did not assert a 
claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel based 
on the failure to assert his rights under Chambers, or 
that, as a result, such a claim is procedurally default-
ed.16 See Wiese v. Nooth, ––– Fed. Appx. ––––, 2019 
WL 643861, at *1 (9th Cir. 2019) (noting Oregon law 
requiring presentment of ineffective assistance of tri-
al counsel claims in state PCR proceedings). The only 
issues disputed, then, are whether the ineffective as-
sistance of trial counsel claim arising out of the fail-
ure to assert Gable's rights under Chambers was sub-

 
16 The court notes that Gable did assert a claim of ineffective 
assistance of trial counsel in his state PCR proceedings because 
trial counsel “failed to develop, investigate and produce at trial 
evidence that ... John Crouse was the killer of Michael Francke.” 
Resp. Exh. 155, p. 3. Gable did not, however, allege or argue a 
claim that trial counsel failed to appropriately object to the trial 
court's exclusion of evidence of Crouse's confessions. 
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stantial, and whether Gable's state PCR trial counsel 
was ineffective for failing to raise the claim. 

 Under the circumstances described above, the 
failure to assert Gable's rights under Chambers was 
certainly substantial. Resolution of the merits of Ga-
ble's ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim based 
on trial counsel's failure to advance Gable's rights 
under Chambers would be, at the least, debatable 
among jurists of reason. The issue is deserving 
enough to encourage further pursuit thereof. Miller-
El, 537 U.S. at 336, 123 S.Ct. 1029. 

 Because Gable had counsel in his state PCR pro-
ceeding, upon establishing that his ineffective assis-
tance of trial counsel claim is “substantial,” Gable al-
so must show “that there is ‘a reasonable probability 
that the trial-level IAC claim would have succeeded 
had it been raised’ by post-conviction counsel.” Filson, 
916 F.3d at 1260 (citing Runningeagle, 825 F.3d at 
982). Upon a “look through to what happened at the 
trial stage,” this court concludes that Gable has 
demonstrated a reasonable probability exists that, 
absent the deficient performance of his PCR trial 
counsel, the result of the post-conviction proceedings 
would have been different. Clabourne, 745 F.3d at 
377-78. Accordingly, Gable has established both cause 
and prejudice under Martinez to excuse the procedur-
al default of claim that trial counsel was ineffective in 
failing to present appropriate legal support, including 
citation to federal law, in support of the admission of 
evidence of third party guilt. Because Gable has met 
the Martinez standard, he is entitled to relief on the 
merits of this claim, notwithstanding his procedural 
default. 
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IV. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel – Ex Post 
Facto 

 Petitioner also alleges a violation of his right to 
effective assistance of trial counsel based upon coun-
sel's failure to “object on ex post facto grounds to the 
trial court submitting to the jury in the penalty phase 
of the trial the possibility of Mr. Gable being sen-
tenced to life without the possibility of parole.” Am. 
Pet., p. 12 (ECF No. 61). As noted, petitioner ex-
hausted this claim in his state PCR proceeding. 

A. Legal Standards 

 An application for writ of habeas corpus shall not 
be granted unless adjudication of the claim in state 
court resulted in a decision that was: (1) “contrary to, 
or involved an unreasonable application of, clearly 
established Federal law, as determined by the Su-
preme Court of the United States,” or (2) “based on an 
unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the 
evidence presented in the State Court proceeding.” 28 
U.S.C. § 2254(d). A state court's findings of fact are 
presumed correct and a habeas petitioner bears the 
burden of rebutting the presumption of correctness by 
clear and convincing evidence. 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1). 
see also Sophanthavong v. Palmateer, 378 F.3d 859, 
867 (9th Cir. 2004) (“Under Section 2254(e)(1), [peti-
tioner] has the burden of rebutting the presumption 
that a state court's determination of the factual is-
sues is correct by clear and convincing evidence.”). 

  A state court decision is “contrary to ... clearly es-
tablished precedent if the state court applies a rule 
that contradicts the governing law set forth in [the 
Supreme Court's] cases” or “if the state court con-
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fronts a set of facts that are materially distinguisha-
ble from a decision of [the Supreme] Court and never-
theless arrives at a result different from [that] prece-
dent.” Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 405-06, 120 
S.Ct. 1495, 146 L.Ed.2d 389 (2000). Under the “un-
reasonable application” clause, a federal habeas court 
may grant relief only “if the state court identifies the 
correct legal principle from [the Supreme Court's] de-
cisions, but unreasonably applies that principle to the 
facts of the prisoner's case.” Id. at 413, 120 S.Ct. 
1495. The “unreasonable application” clause requires 
the state court decision to be more than incorrect or 
erroneous. Id. at 410, 120 S.Ct. 1495. The state 
court's application of clearly established law must be 
objectively unreasonable. Id. at 409, 120 S.Ct. 1495. 

 The clearly established United States Supreme 
Court law governing ineffective assistance of counsel 
claims is set forth in Strickland. See Baylor v. Estelle, 
94 F.3d 1321, 1323 (9th Cir. 1996) (stating that 
Strickland “has long been clearly established federal 
law determined by the Supreme Court of the United 
States”). A habeas petitioner must show that coun-
sel's performance was deficient, which “requires 
showing that counsel made errors so serious that 
counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaran-
teed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Strick-
land, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052. A petitioner 
must also show counsel's deficient performance prej-
udiced his defense, which requires showing that 
“counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive [Peti-
tioner] of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.” 
Id. To show prejudice, a petitioner must demonstrate 
a reasonable probability that the result of the pro-
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ceeding would have been different absent the error. 
Id. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. A reasonable probability is 
“a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in 
the outcome.” Id. In making the prejudice determina-
tion, the court “must consider the totality of the evi-
dence before the judge or jury.” Id. at 695, 104 S.Ct. 
2052. 

 “Surmounting Strickland's high bar is never an 
easy task.” Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 371, 
130 S.Ct. 1473, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (2010). “The stand-
ards created by Strickland and section 2254(d) are 
both highly deferential and when the two apply in 
tandem, review is ‘doubly’ so.” Harrington v. Richter, 
562 U.S. 86, 105, 131 S.Ct. 770, 178 L.Ed.2d 624 
(2011) (citations omitted). These standards are “diffi-
cult to meet” and “demands that state court decisions 
be given the benefit of the doubt.” Cullen v. Pinhol-
ster, 563 U.S. 170, 181, 131 S.Ct. 1388, 179 L.Ed.2d 
557 (2011). “Representation is constitutionally inef-
fective only if it ‘so undermined the proper function-
ing of the adversarial process' that the defendant was 
denied a fair trial.” Richter, 562 U.S. at 110, 131 S.Ct. 
770 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686, 104 S.Ct. 
2052). 

B. Background 

 At the time of the offense on January 17, 1989, 
Oregon law provided two sentencing options for ag-
gravated murder: death or life with the possibility of 
parole (known as “ordinary life”). Gable, 353 Or. at 
752, 305 P.3d 85. “Specifically, under the law in effect 
at the time of the offense, a jury could make findings 
requiring a defendant to be put to death; if it did not, 
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the trial court was required to impose a sentence of 
life imprisonment with the possibility of parole after 
a minimum of 30 years of imprisonment.” Id. (citing 
Or. Rev. Stat. § 163.105(1)(e) (1987) ). 

 Later that year, however, the Oregon legislature 
amended the law “to provide a third, middle option of 
life without the possibility of parole, known as ‘true 
life.’ ” Id. (citing Or. Rev. Stat. § 163.105(a) (1989) ) 
(emphasis in original). The new law provided that 
“true life is the presumptive sentence if the jury does 
not return findings requiring the death penalty and 
allows the imposition of a sentence of ordinary life on-
ly when 10 members of the jury agree that there are 
sufficient mitigating circumstances.” Id. (citing Or. 
Rev. Stat. § 163.150(2)(a); additional citation omit-
ted). 

 In the penalty phase of Gable's case, the trial 
judge, at the request of defense counsel, instructed 
the jury on the basis of the new sentencing law in ex-
istence at the time of the trial. Id. at 753, 305 P.3d 
85. “[T]hat is to say, the trial court instructed the jury 
that it had three sentencing options: death, true life, 
or ordinary life.” Id. The jury determined that Gable 
should not be sentenced to death, but also should not 
be eligible for parole. Id. Accordingly, the trial court 
sentenced Gable to a term of life imprisonment with-
out the possibility of parole. Id. 

  In his state PCR proceeding, Gable alleged trial 
counsel performed ineffectively in failing to “[o]bject 
on the grounds of Ex Post Facto the Court's submit-
ting to the jury in the penalty phase of the trial the 
possibility of the petitioner being sentenced to life 
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without the possibility of parole.” Resp. Exh. 155, p. 
2. The PCR trial court rejected this claim, finding 
that Gable had waived his ex post facto constitutional 
rights concerning the true life sentencing option. Ga-
ble, 203 Or. App. at 723-24, 126 P.3d 739. 

 The Oregon Court of Appeals reversed, concluding 
that the PCR trial court erred in finding Gable had 
waived any objection, based on ex post facto protec-
tions, to the submission of the true life sentencing op-
tion to the jury. The court of appeals reached this re-
sult because “[i]n particular, there [was] no evidence 
that criminal defense counsel actually conferred with 
petitioner regarding that matter, much less that peti-
tioner agreed to waive the ex post facto objection.” Id. 
at 726, 126 P.3d 739. The Oregon Court of Appeals 
found, however, that this conclusion did not compel 
the allowance of post-conviction relief. Instead, it re-
manded the case back to the PCR trial court, because 
“the post-conviction court never determined whether 
petitioner was prejudiced by his attorney's default.” 
Id. The court of appeals framed the question on re-
mand as follows: “Specifically, if counsel had engaged 
in a constitutionally adequate discussion with peti-
tioner, would petitioner then have elected to waive 
his objection to the submission of the “true life” option 
to the jury?” Id. 

 On remand, the PCR trial court stated this ques-
tion and summarized Gable's testimony on the issue 
from the original PCR proceeding: 

THE COURT: I would be interested though, I 
guess, in the bottom line. And that is if we can 
get to that, I wonder if his position has 
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changed. And, of course, in reviewing the case 
law, generally those defendants who have faced 
the death penalty have been prone to view that 
three options being presented to the jury as 
better than the two, and I wonder if his posi-
tion is the same. Because the reason we're here 
is is [sic] because his testimony at the trial lev-
el when we had the [first PCR] trial in 2000 
basically ran something like this. 

“If I had my choice, I would have said to the 
court, to the attorneys, that I want either death 
or life with the possibility of parole, and not 
this middle option of true life.” And I am won-
dering whether his position remains the same 
today. If it's like as has happened in the past – 
particularly in one case – where this very issue 
was the same – went back, and then the de-
fendant changed his mind and said, “Well, I re-
ally do want true life after all.” And then that 
went up on appeal, and then they determined 
well, he really does have the right to – even 
though he argued something differently at the 
appellate level and won on that – prevailed – 
he still has the right to change his mind later 
and then say, “Well, I really do want that op-
tion.” 

You said “I'm not guilty; therefore, I want 
death or life with the possibility of getting out 
– parole in essence.” Is that still – well, I'll 
leave it to you Mr. Hadley. I am interested in 
whether his position changed though. 
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PCR Tr., Nov. 27, 2006, Vol. I, p. 15-16. The PCR 
court then permitted Gable to supplement the record 
with additional testimony on this issue, and the 
court, counsel, and Gable engaged in the following 
colloquy: 

COUNSEL: Do you understand what the Judge 
was just about to ask you? 

GABLE: Yes. 

* * * 

COUNSEL: Are you still wanting to go forward 
today and ask that your sentence be modified 
and that you either be given life with parole – 
even if you're risking a chance of facing the 
death penalty down the line? 

GABLE: Yes. 

COUNSEL: You clearly understand? 

GABLE: Yes. 

THE COURT: You realize the jury found 
against you – the original jury that heard this 
case in the penalty phase – found against you 
on three of the four questions that were pre-
sented. And you were pretty close. There was 
even a split verdict with regard to whether you 
should have, in fact, received the death penal-
ty. At least two jurors felt that you should. 

I wonder if it is – is there any reason why you 
would take that sort of risk – realizing that 
that was the result the last time around? 
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GABLE: Well, Your Honor, I've claimed inno-
cence since this started – the nightmare. And I 
figure I'd rather just – if the State chooses to 
give me the death penalty, I'd rather have that 
instead of life without parole for a crime I did-
n't commit. 

Id. at pp. 16-17. 

 The PCR trial court issued a detailed Judgment on 
Remand which incorporated the findings from the 
prior PCR proceeding and set forth additional find-
ings and conclusions. Resp. Exh. 371. The court found 
Gable did not meet the burden of establishing preju-
dice. The PCR trial court noted that Gable testified at 
the earlier trial, as well as in an earlier deposition, 
and re-affirmed on remand that if counsel had in-
formed Gable of the ex post facto issue, Gable would 
not have waived the right to exclude the true life op-
tion and would have opted to force the jury to choose 
between a sentence of death or life with the possibil-
ity of parole. Resp. Exh. 371, pp. 2-3. However, the 
trial court found Gable “was not a credible witness 
during trial of this matter and is not a credible wit-
ness with respect to this issue.” Resp. Exh. 371, p. 4 
(emphasis in original). 

 The PCR trial court explained Gable's failure to 
meet the burden of establishing prejudice as follows: 

Petitioner's stated reason for not giving the ju-
ry the “true-life” option is because Petitioner 
feels that since he is innocent, if the jury only 
had the options of death or life with parole, 
everyone (including the jury, the trial court, 
the trial counsel, and the appellate courts) 
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would have paid closer attention to his case 
and would therefore somehow reach the con-
clusion that he is innocent. Petitioner con-
cludes that a potential death penalty would 
have resulted in greater scrutiny, and yet, the 
death penalty was always a possibility in the 
case. In addition, that option obviously could 
not have been reached, in any event, unless the 
jury first concluded that Petitioner was guilty 
of the murder of Michael Francke. Petitioner's 
hypothetical reason for wanting to reject the 
“true-life” option doesn't make much sense un-
der rationale [sic] analysis. 

Upon conviction of the petitioner, petitioner's 
trial counsel purposely elected a strategy which 
would give the jury a viable choice of “true-life” 
rather than limit the choice to only the death 
penalty or life with the possibility of parole. Pe-
titioner's trial counsel were concerned that the 
jury would vote to impose the death penalty if 
the jury only had the choices of death or life 
with the possibility of parole. 

Resp. Exh. 371, p. 3. 

 In finding Gable not a credible witness on this is-
sue, the trial court noted that Gable's “position on the 
‘true-life’ issue appears to simply be one more exam-
ple of a false bravado which is a part of the character 
of the Petitioner and which led Petitioner to create a 
part of the evidence which led to his original convic-
tion in the first instance.” Resp. Exh. 371, p. 4. The 
court declined to speculate that some amount of prej-
udice resulted from the true-life option being sent to 
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the jury, and without resorting to that speculation, 
found “no evidence (Petitioner's testimony is not cred-
ible) of prejudice resulting from the ‘true-life’ option 
being presented to the jury.... There is no evidence 
other than the Petitioner's testimony, and the testi-
mony is simply not credible.” Resp. Exh. 371, p. 4 
(emphasis in original). 

 Although, the Oregon Court of Appeals affirmed 
the PCR trial court's decision on remand without 
opinion, the Oregon Supreme Court granted Gable's 
petition for review and upheld the PCR trial court's 
decision denying relief in a published opinion. Gable, 
353 Or. 750, 305 P.3d 85. Gable argued to the Oregon 
Supreme Court that his sentence violated the Ex Post 
Facto Clause and that, but for the lack of proper ad-
vice from counsel, he would have received a lawful 
sentence. Id. at 762, 305 P.3d 85. The Oregon Su-
preme Court rejected this argument: 

Petitioner's argument that he was obviously 
prejudiced because of the unlawful sentence 
that resulted amounts to question-begging; it 
assumes the very issue in contention, namely, 
whether the receipt of correct advice would 
have made a difference to petitioner – that is to 
say, whether he would have waived his ex post 
facto objection anyway. 

That question cannot be assumed away. It is a 
critical issue in any post-conviction case when 
the claim of inadequate assistance turns on the 
propriety of trial counsel's advice; the court al-
ways must determine whether the receipt of 
correct advice would have made a difference. 
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Id. The Oregon Supreme Court concluded that Gable 
did not establish that the receipt of advice from trial 
counsel about a possible ex post facto objection would 
have made a difference in this case: 

The only evidence on that point is petitioner's 
assertion that he would have insisted on exer-
cising his ex post facto rights and have the jury 
instructed on only two sentencing options. As 
we have noted, the post-conviction court did 
not believe petitioner. There is no suggestion 
that the post-conviction court lacked a basis in 
the record for making that finding as to peti-
tioner's credibility. To the contrary, throughout 
the course of the post-conviction proceeding, 
the court detailed inconsistencies in petition-
er's testimony that led it to conclude – repeat-
edly – that petitioner simply was not credible. 

Id. at 763-64. 

C. Analysis 

 The Oregon Supreme Court's decision that Gable 
did not establish the outcome of the proceeding would 
have been different had counsel advised Gable of his 
ex post facto rights was not objectively unreasonable. 
Based on the PCR trial court's determination that 
Gable's testimony on the point lacked credibility, the 
Oregon Supreme Court reasonably concluded that, if 
trial counsel had advised Gable of his ex post facto 
rights, trial counsel would not have requested the ju-
ry instruction including only the “true life” option at 
sentencing. 
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 Gable contends that the Oregon Supreme Court 
applied the incorrect prejudice test in assessing his 
claim that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to 
object to the true life sentence option on ex post facto 
grounds. Gable notes he had a fundamental right to 
not be sentenced under an ex post facto law, and ar-
gues he has established prejudice because trial coun-
sel failed to challenge the imposition of a sentence in 
violation of his ex post facto rights. For support, Gable 
cites Justice Walters's dissenting opinion in the case, 
in which she makes the same argument and provides 
legal analysis that bolsters his position. Gable further 
cites several federal courts of appeal cases holding 
that imposing on a criminal defendant a sentence 
that the law did not authorize at the time of the crime 
is plain error. These decisions found such an incorrect 
sentence prejudicial under Strickland if it was caused 
by counsel's failure to object to the unlawful sentence, 
and ordered remand for re-sentencing under the law 
in effect at the time of the crime. This argument, 
however, ignores Strickland's requirement that, in 
making the prejudice determination, the court must 
consider the totality of the evidence before the judge 
or jury to determine whether there is a reasonable 
probability that the outcome of the proceeding would 
have been different. 

 As the Oregon Supreme Court correctly noted, 
Gable's argument that he obviously suffered prejudice 
because he received an unlawful sentence, amounts to 
“question-begging.” Gable, 353 Or. at 762, 305 P.3d 
85. It does not apply Strickland's totality of the evi-
dence criterion. Under the circumstances of Gable's 
case, many reasons exist why a defendant might have 
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wanted to waive ex post facto rights. “As petitioner's 
own criminal counsel explained, presenting the jury 
with three sentencing options instead of two could be 
viewed as advantageous by a criminal defendant fac-
ing the death penalty.” Id. at 764, 305 P.3d 85. In-
deed, in State v. McDonnell, 329 Or. 375, 987 P.2d 
486 (1999), the Oregon Supreme Court held that the 
trial court erred in refusing to accept a capital de-
fendant's waiver of an ex post facto objection and in-
struct the jury on the “true life” sentencing option. see 
also State v. Rogers, 330 Or. 282, 4 P.3d 1261 (2000) 
(same). 

 The Oregon Court of Appeals aptly described Ga-
ble's circumstances in its decision remanding the PCR 
case for a determination whether Gable could estab-
lish prejudice, i.e., the probability that the outcome 
would have been different: 

Here, in the most literal sense, availability of 
the “true life” sentence had more than a “ten-
dency” to affect the ultimate outcome of the 
prosecution – that is the sentence that peti-
tioner actually received. However, the appro-
priate inquiry regarding actionable prejudice is 
considerably more sophisticated than such 
sophism. If petitioner would, in fact, have 
waived his ex post facto right in these circum-
stances (as have many similarly situated crim-
inal defendants...), then petitioner was not 
prejudiced by his counsel's default. That is, pe-
titioner might have waived those protections in 
all events because it was to his practical, tacti-
cal benefit to do so. 
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Gable, 203 Or. App. at 735, 126 P.3d 739 (emphasis 
added) (internal citation omitted). As the PCR trial 
court found, Gable's testimony that he would not have 
waived his ex post facto protections was not credible. 
Resp. Exh. 371, p. 4. Moreover, the Oregon Supreme 
Court “found no suggestion that the PCR trial court 
lacked a basis in the record for making that finding” 
as to Gable's credibility. Gable, 353 Or. at 763, 305 
P.3d 85. 

 This court must defer to the state court’s credibil-
ity finding. Sophanthavong, 378 F.3d at 867-68 (“be-
cause the state court conducted an evidentiary hear-
ing in which Mr. Sophanthavong testified, we are re-
quired to defer to the state court’s credibility find-
ings”), citing inter alia Marshall v. Lonberger, 459 
U.S. 422, 434, 103 S.Ct. 843, 74 L.Ed.2d 646 (1983) 
(holding that “Title 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d) gives federal 
habeas corpus courts no license to redetermine credi-
bility of witnesses whose demeanor has been observed 
by the state court, but not by them.”). Accordingly, 
the Oregon Supreme Court’s decision that Gable 
failed to establish prejudice was objectively reasona-
ble, and this court must defer to that decision under § 
2254(d). Gable is not entitled to habeas corpus relief 
on his claim that trial counsel was ineffective in fail-
ing to object on ex post facto grounds to the trial court 
submitting to the jury in the penalty phase of the tri-
al the option of Gable being sentenced to life without 
the possibility of parole. 

V. Freestanding Actual Innocence 

 Gable also alleges a freestanding claim that he is 
“actually innocent.” The United States Supreme 
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Court has yet to hold that a freestanding claim of ac-
tual innocence is cognizable as an Eighth or Four-
teenth Amendment claim subject to federal habeas 
corpus review. McQuiggen v. Perkins, 569 U.S. 383, 
133 S.Ct. 1924, 1931, 185 L.Ed.2d 1019 (2013); House, 
547 U.S. at 554-55, 126 S.Ct. 2064. On several occa-
sions, however, the Supreme Court has assumed, 
without deciding, that such a claim may exist in capi-
tal cases. House, 547 U.S. at 554-55, 126 S.Ct. 2064; 
Herrera, 506 U.S. at 417-19, 113 S.Ct. 853. 

 The Ninth Circuit has extended the “assumption” 
of the existence of a freestanding actual innocence 
claim to non-capital cases, but has consistently found 
that the petitioner failed to satisfy the extraordinarily 
high threshold necessary to support such a claim. See, 
e.g., Henry v. Marshall, 224 Fed. Appx. 635, 637 (9th 
Cir. 2007); Renteria v. Curry, 506 Fed. Appx. 644, 646 
(9th Cir. 2013); Hageman v. Hill, 314 Fed. Appx. 996, 
998 (9th Cir. 2009). In doing so, the Ninth Circuit has 
opined that Justice Blackman articulated the appli-
cable threshold showing for such a claim in his Herre-
ra dissent, that a petitioner must “go beyond demon-
strating doubt about his guilt, and must affirmatively 
prove that he is probably innocent.” Carriger, 132 
F.3d at 476; Boyde v Brown, 404 F.3d 1159, 1168 (9th 
Cir. 2005); see also House, 547 U.S. at 555, 126 S.Ct. 
2064 (sequence of the Court's decisions in Herrera 
and Schlup “implies at the least that Herrera re-
quires more convincing proof of innocence than 
Schlup”). A petitioner's burden under this standard is 
“extraordinarily high” and requires a showing that is 
“truly persuasive.” Carriger, 132 F.3d at 476 (quoting 
Herrera, 506 U.S. 417). 
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 As discussed above, Gable has cast serious doubt 
on the state's case that he killed Michael Francke in 
the course of burgling Francke's car for “snitch pa-
pers.” But although Gable has presented sufficient 
evidence of a constitutional violation that probably 
resulted in the conviction of someone who is actually 
innocent, Gable has not made the “truly persuasive” 
and “extraordinarily high” showing necessary to sup-
port a finding that he is actually innocent. According-
ly, habeas corpus relief should not be granted on Ga-
ble's freestanding claim of actual innocence. 

VI. Remaining Claims Not Addressed in Gable's 
Brief in Support 

 As previously noted, Gable does not address the 
remaining grounds for relief alleged in his Petition for 
Writ of Habeas Corpus. Consequently, Gable has not 
sustained his burden to demonstrate why he is enti-
tled to relief on these claims. See Lambert v. Blodgett, 
393 F.3d 943, 970 n. 16 (9th Cir. 2004). Nevertheless, 
the court has reviewed Gable's remaining claims and 
is satisfied that Gable is not entitled to habeas corpus 
relief on those claims. 

CONCLUSION 

 For these reasons, Gable's Amended Petition for 
Writ of Habeas Corpus (ECF No. 61) is GRANTED IN 
PART and DENIED IN PART. The Amended Petition 
is GRANTED on the bases that the trial court erred 
in excluding evidence of third-party guilt and that 
trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in failing 
to assert Gable's federal due process rights in the face 
of the trial court's error. The Amended Petition is 
DENIED on the remaining claims for relief, including 
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Gable's claim that trial counsel was ineffective in fail-
ing to advise Gable of his ex post facto rights and in 
failing to raise an ex post facto objection to the sen-
tencing options at the penalty phase, as well as Ga-
ble's free-standing claim of actual innocence. 

 Gable shall be released from custody unless the 
State of Oregon elects to retry him within 90 days of 
the date of this order. A certificate of appealability is 
GRANTED as to all grounds for relief discussed here-
in on the basis that Gable has made a substantial 
showing of the denial of a constitutional right. See 28 
U.S.C. § 2253(c)(2). 
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